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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
5 R EE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

2024 marks a critical year to achieve the goals and tasks of the “14th Five-
Year"” Plan. The Group implemented the new development concept, firmly
grasped the theme of high-quality development, unswervingly deepened
reforms comprehensively, fully exerted the “three roles” of technological
innovation, industrial control and security support, and operating conditions
continued to improve. While ensuring the stable growth of main businesses
and further increasing the market share, the Group continued to accelerate
the transformation from a traditional environmental protection engineering
enterprise to a first-class comprehensive energy and environmental
treatment service provider.

Looking back on 2024, facing various risks and challenges, we adhered
to the principle of do’s and don’ts, continued to promote the reform
of system and mechanism, further focused on the main businesses of
environmental protection, and deployed in strategic emerging industries,
which promoted the transformation and upgrading of engineering
business. We continuously pushed ahead the cost reduction and efficiency
improvement of traditional environmental protection business, and was in
the leading position in cost in the industry. The honeycomb catalyst product
library was initially built, and the independently developed and produced
70-hole honeycomb catalysts achieved a breakthrough in “bottleneck”
technologies. The Group was selected as one of “Little Giants'' enterprises
featured by “specialization, refinement, specialization and novelty”, and
obtained the “zero-carbon factory” certification. We have implemented
the requirements for the development of new quality productive forces,
made significant progress in carbon monitoring, resource recycling, solid
waste disposal and other industries, and went all out to build an industrial
layout that supports sustainable and high-quality development.

Looking forward to 2025, as the final year of the “14th Five-Year” Plan, the
Group will concentrate on the development of four major industrial sectors
of "in-depth environmental treatment, environmental protection product
manufacturing, new energy technology services and resource recycling”,
and devote itself to building three platforms of ” innovative research
of environmental protection industry, investment and development of
strategic emerging industries, and consulting services of engineering
construction”. By virtue of deepening reform, the Group will practically
conduct quality and efficiency improvement, consolidate the competitive
advantage of traditional industries, deeply advance technological innovation,
cultivate new quality productive forces and new driving forces, accelerate
the industry transition and upgrading, so as to further consolidate and
stabilize the basis of high-quality development, continuously and steadily
improve the major operating indicators, laying the foundation for a good
start of the “15th Five-Year” Plan. The Group will, with practical actions
and spirit of hard struggle, make new contributions to the modernization
where mankind and nature coexist harmoniously.

Chairman of the Board
Zhu Liming

28 March 2025
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The predecessor of the Company (stock code: 1272) was China Datang
Corporation Group Environment Technology Co., Ltd. (FEI KB EBEIRER
fiTABR A 7)), which was established in July 2011. Since the establishment
of the Company and after several years of rapid development and a series
of business restructuring, the Company has been successfully listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 15 November 2016. As at
31 December 2024, the Company had a total of 2,967,542,000 issued
Shares, among which the Controlling Shareholder, China Datang, holds,
directly and indirectly, an aggregate of approximately 78.96%.

The Group is the sole platform for the development of environmental
protection and energy conservation business under China Datang
Corporation, one of the major state wholly-owned power generation
groups in the PRC. The principal business of the Group includes
environmental protection facility concession operation, denitrification
catalysts, environmental protection facilities engineering, water treatment
business, energy conservation business, resource recycling business,
integrated intelligent energy business and engineering consulting services
business.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's major corporate structure was
as follows:

COMPANY PROFILE
NGV

AAB(RRMDRER : 1272) A1 & A2011F7 AKAL
WHPBEAEEERRERMERAF o NARIKIL
LA - EBZFEMRRERE —RINERKE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the
Group amounted to RMB5,770.9 million, representing an
increase of 0.9% as compared with last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross profit of
the Group amounted to RMB1,229.4 million, representing an
increase of 7.4% as compared with last year; the gross profit
margin was 21.3%, representing an increase of 1.3 percentage
points as compared with last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total comprehensive
income attributable to owners of the parent amounted to
RMB548.4 million, representing an increase of 4.9% as
compared with last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group continued
to be the largest desulfurization and denitrification concession
operator and the largest manufacturer of denitrification catalysts
in the PRC.

On 28 March 2025, the Board proposed to distribute the final
dividend of RMBO0.051 per ordinary Share (before tax) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BT 1% 2

The following table sets forth the Company’s consolidated statements of TR FIAQA T REPENE BRI R EMEGE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the periods indicated: Uik :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024% 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 000
ARMFT AREFT AREFIT AREFT Fr
Revenue LN 5,770,906 5,720,131 5,322,722 5,288,416 6,821,071
Cost of sales HERA (4,541,458) (4,575,113) (4,533,301) (4,946,985) (5,652,769)
Gross profit £ 1,229,448 1,145,018 789,421 341,431 1,168,302
Selling and distribution expenses  $HE R A X (25,977) (27,825) (18,718) (18,151) (23,041)
Administrative expenses TBAX (461,191) (422,800) (387,802) (478,694) (483,796)
Other income and losses Hib A K& 100,226 157,823 111,465 80,436 82,240
Other expenses, net HibHY - 38 - 4 (8,561) (42,145) (106,603)
Finance costs S (144,618) (176,319) (199,335) (221,959) (270,291)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of SREENARAEE(RE
impairment on financial and BX)/RERE 3
contract assets, net (42,776) (58,271) 10,325 (39,130) (44,153)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREAIAE (B8) 655,112 617,626 296,795 (378,212) 322,658
Income tax expenses MR (102,667) (114,056) (58,672) (65,058) (111,298)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ERFE /(&) 552,445 503,570 238,123 (443,270) 211,360
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EREMRE (BE)
(LOSSES)/INCOME FOR THE (HNpBrBiE)
YEAR, NET OF TAX (323) 377 1,518 (1,080) (40)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE ERaWE/(BE)
INCOME/(LOSSES) FOR THE %
YEAR 552,122 503,947 239,641 (444,350) 211,320
Profit/(loss) attributable to: B/ (BR)BER :
Owners of the parent BRABAA 549,061 522,375 272,425 (208,332) 302,872
Non-controlling interests FEER R 3,384 (18,805) (34,302) (234,938) (91,512)
552,445 503,570 238,123 (443,270) 211,360
Total comprehensive income/ &K/ (B58)AES
(losses) attributable to: EE@;
Owners of the parent BRAREA 548,352 522,586 273,367 (209,881) 303,319
Non-controlling interests R ER 3,770 (18,639) (33,726) (234,469) (91,999)
552,122 503,947 239,641 (444,350) 211,320
2024 FER 5
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)
B E ()

The following table sets forth selected items from our consolidated TR (FIATR BRI A I SAR LR BB H
statements of financial position as at the dates indicated: EIRIEE -

31 December

12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 MB'000
ANRETT ARETT ARBF T ARBFT AEEFT
ASSETS &5
Total current assets MEEELTE 8,551,695 10,752,980 10,937,596 10,570,721 11,778,902
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 6,796,378 7,292,142 7,410,661 7,857,665 8,401,956
TOTAL ASSETS BEAE 15,348,073 18,045,122 18,348,257 18,428,386 20,180,858
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY SERES
Total current liabilities MEAELEE 6,334,145 8,739,021 10,533,347 9,478,199 9,927,604
Total non-current liabilities EEIYrk 1,504,334 2,024,477 918,161 2,194,611 2,913,976
Total equity mEs 7,509,594 7,281,624 6,896,749 6,755,576 7,339,278
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY BERER 4 15,348,073 18,045,122 18,348,257 18,428,386 20,180,858

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated statements ~ N&REFIFARPRERMNEHIRSRERN
of cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12R31BLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

20245 2023 20224 2021 2020F

RMB’000 RMB 00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARE T ARETT AEETT AEETT
Net cash flows generated from /@& E R4 %S 54

operating activities 1,716,204 1,811,106 531,346 987,035 1,838,799
Net cash flows used in investing REEEERBEREFE

activities (340,970) (560,210) (315,406) (396,588) (608,905)
Net cash flows used in financing ElEEZENERBRERE TR

activities (2,139,909) (364,157) (589,504) (876,728) (1,276,650)

2024 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB R a2 AT

As a provider of environmental protection and energy conservation solution
for coal-fired power generation enterprises, the principal business of the
Group includes environmental pollution treatment, environmentally-friendly
product manufacturing, new energy technology service and resources
recycling, etc. Customers of the Group spread over 30 provinces,
autonomous regions and municipal cities in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC") as well as eight overseas countries and districts.

l. INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Summarizing the overall performance of the environmental
protection industry in 2024, there are several major highlights
and industry trends as follows:

1.

Creating new industrial space by green
transformation of economy and society

In July 2024, the central government made a systematic
deployment for the first time to accelerate the comprehensive
green transformation of economic and social development,
and issued the Opinions of Accelerating the Comprehensive
Green Transformation of Economic and Social Development
(CEARMREEHSERZ2AZEEILANER) ) which
proposes to accelerate the comprehensive green
transformation of economic and social development, aiming
to form a spatial pattern, industrial structure, production
mode, and lifestyle that saves resources and protects the
environment. This initiative prioritizes achieving carbon
peak and carbon neutrality guiding efforts to coordinate
the promotion of carbon reduction, pollution reduction,
green expansion and growth, deepen the reform of the
ecological civilization system, and improve the green and
low-carbon development mechanism. By 2030, the scale
of the energy conservation and environmental protection
industry will reach about RMB15 trillion. The environmental
protection industry, as a green and low-carbon industry, will
vigorously promote modes such as third-party treatment
of environmental pollution and environmental trusteeship
services oriented to the effect of environmental treatment.
With the development of related businesses, the Company
will enjoy a significant growth opportunity.

RNEBIEASREBREDEIRREEMRR T RIRH
B EBEEBRERESELE  BRRERY
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

- EREHRESN(E)

Opening up a new development track for
resources recycling

In February 2024, the State Council issued documents
including the Opinions on Accelerating the Construction of a
Waste Recycling System ( R IR IEEEEZE M EIRFIFHEE
ZmER) ), requiring the establishment of a waste recycling
system, promoting the recycling of waste wind turbine
blades, photovoltaic modules, power batteries and other
wastes, and cultivating and expanding the resource recycling
industry. In March, the State Council issued the Action
Program for Promoting Large-scale Equipment Renewal
and Consumer Goods Trade-in ( (HEEHA AR HE 3% 5 5 A15H
EMUAEHITITEIHZE) ), requiring the implementation of
four major actions, namely, equipment renewal, consumer
goods replacement, recovery and recycling, and standard
enhancement, to vigorously promote the production and
application of advanced equipment, and the continuous
increase in the proportion of advanced production capacity,
streamline the resource recycling chain, and significantly
improve the quality and level of recycling in the national
economy. These policies point out the development
direction for the Company to expand the industries of
green recycling of retired wind turbine blades, recycling of
waste photovoltaic panels and recycling of energy storage
batteries.

The low-carbon transformation of coal-
fired power generation brings new market
opportunities

In July 2024, the National Development and Reform
Commission and the National Energy Administration issued
the “Action Plan for the Low-carbon Transformation and
Construction of Coal-fired Power Generation (2024-2027)
(CREBEMRABERRITEGE(2024-20275F)) )",
requiring the coordinated promotion of low-carbon
transformation of the existing coal-fired power units and the
low-carbon construction of new coal-fired power units, and
the acceleration of the construction of a clean, low-carbon,
safe and efficient new energy system to help achieve the
goals of carbon peak and carbon neutrality, proposing three
coal-fired low-carbon power generation technology routes:
biomass co-combustion, green ammonia co-combustion,
and carbon capture, utilization and storage. After the
capacity pricing mechanism was officially introduced
which clarified the cornerstone status of coal-fired power,
relying on more than 20 years of technical accumulation
and engineering experience in coal-fired power flue gas
and exhaust treatment business, the Company will usher
in new market opportunities for expansion of coal-fired
power low-carbon transformation business.

2024 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In 2024, the Group recorded steady development in each business
segment and maintained the leading position in business segments
of environmental protection facility concession operation and
denitrification catalysts. Based on the cumulative operating unit
capacity as of the end of 2024, the Group continued to maintain its
position as the largest flue gas desulfurization and denitrification
concession operator in the PRC. Based on the total output of
denitrification catalysts in 2024, the Group remained as the PRC's
largest producer of denitrification catalysts.

1. Environmental Pollution Treatment Business

1.1 Environmental protection facility concession
operation business

The Group's environmental protection facility
concession operation business covers desulfurization
and denitrification concession operations and its
major assets are located along east coast and in the
areas with relatively robust economic development
and strong demands for electricity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEESmEDI(E)

TEF#ERR2024F 12 8
31 A AE B E RN
BohkEFRE ¢

The following chart shows the geographical layout
and cumulative capacity of the Group's concession
operation as at 31 December 2024:

Desulfurization Concession Operation
BERRRHEE

[ Denitification Concession Operation
BERRHEE

ﬁ: In operation: 1,200MW.

2024 Annual Report

#IE:1,200MW In operation: 1,400MW
ﬁ: In operation: 1,920MW B8 In operation: 1,200MW 18: 1,400MW
E:1,920MW $258: 1,200MW [P In operation: 1,400MW
#3: 1,400MW
In operation: 2,640MW.
123%: 2,640MW
- In operation: 7,440MW ﬁ: In operation: 6,410MW
1RIE: 7,440MW 138 6,410MW
ﬁ: In operation: 1,000MW. = ;;ge;ag;’gjw'%ww
1£3%: 1,000MW Y
[ In operation: 1,000MW In operation: 4,040MW
123%: 1,000MW 1838: 4,040MW

In operation: 10,120MW
138:10,120MW
In operation: 2,370MW.
12E: 2,370MW

In operation: 1,920MW

1548: 1,920MW

In operation: 1,920MW
= 1948: 1,920MW

In operation: 1,320MW.
138 1,320MW
In operation: 1,320MW/
BB 1035 1,320MW

As at 31 December 2024, the cumulative
installed capacity in operation for desulfurization
concession operations of the Group reached
50,210MW. The cumulative installed capacity in
operation for denitrification concession operations
reached 41,240MW and the installed capacity of
the desulfurization entrusted operation projects
reached 1,960MW. Among them, there are four
projects other than China Datang Group, with the
desulfurization installed capacity of 5,740MW and
denitrification installed capacity of 3,820MW.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*

[Fmm In operation: 4,040MW
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENwmEDSI(E)

The table below sets forth the status of the Group's TRIRR2024F 12 A
desulfurization and denitrification concession 3N BAEEBR R EE
operation projects as at 31 December 2024: FSEIREB BN -
Category of Installed
Project location Project name concession operation capacity
15 B et HE &R R E R KERE
(MW)
(JKR)
Guangdong Chaozhou Desulfurization and denitrification 3,200
BER i Wia - AR A
Leizhou Desulfurization and denitrification 2,000
&M Wiar - AR A
Jiangsu Lvsigang Desulfurization and denitrification 2,640
L Ek = PO Wiak - AR A
Nanjing Desulfurization and denitrification 1,320
Bz BiER  RTH
Xutang Desulfurization 1,300
YR B AR
Shandong Huangdao Desulfurization and denitrification 1,340
TS =S BReR ~ R TE
Binzhou Desulfurization and denitrification 700
EM BEaR ~ A
Dongying Desulfurization and denitrification 2,000
R BeeR ~ BT
Zhejiang Wushashan Denitrification 2,400
/ipan 52U e
Ningxia Pingluo* Desulfurization and denitrification 1,320
BB 7 Biaw - B A
Henan Xuchang Desulfurization 2,020
o Eil= X
Sanmenxia Desulfurization and denitrification  2,950/1,050
=PI BiaR ~ BifE
Anyang Desulfurization 1,270
7[5 B AR
Shouyangshan Desulfurization 600
L i
Xinyang (entrusted) Desulfurization 1,960
55 (&5E) i
Gongyi Desulfurization and denitrification 1,320
- Bian - B A
Hebei Wangtan Desulfurization and denitrification 1,200
b T Bian ~ B A
Zhangjiakou Thermal Power Desulfurization and denitrification 630
KRR AZE e ~ HihH
Zhangjiakou Desulfurization 2,560
KRR A ik
Yuxian Desulfurization and denitrification 1,320
Ry 8% BiER - BiAH
Tangshan Beijiao Desulfurization and denitrification 700
& LERD Bian ~ B A

2024 FER 1
AERREXEERHERAF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BE

Category of Installed
Project location Project name concession operation capacity
15 B et BB &R YRS E R KRB
(MW)
(JKR)
Tianjin Jixian Desulfurization and denitrification 1,200
P= P bt - B AH
Anhui Luohe* Desulfurization and denitrification 2,500
ZH Y& * BEaR - B A
Ma'anshan Desulfurization and denitrification 1,320
ot qil] BEaT - B A
Hushan Desulfurization and denitrification 1,320
pEL Biat - B A
Tianjia'an Desulfurization 640
B 5t &%
Shaanxi Binchang Desulfurization and denitrification 1,260
pR7E Wk BiaR - B A
Baoji Desulfurization and denitrification 660
=% Bees B
Inner Mongolia Tuoketuo Desulfurization and denitrification  1,320/6,120
AEE Eia ke Bia ~ RiAH
Xilinhot Desulfurization and denitrification 1,320
EY Viek sy Biaw - B A
Jiangxi Fuzhou Desulfurization 2,000
i} R A%
Shanxi Shentou Desulfurization and denitrification 1,000
i) 15 Bia - B A
Xinjiang Hutubi* Desulfurization 600
#os W [ B * B AR
Wu Cai Wan* Desulfurization 1,320
R B A%
Liaoning Shendong Desulfurization and denitrification 700
Huludao Desulfurization and denitrification 700
HES WiER - BiAH

Note: The projects marked with * are projects other

than China Datang Group.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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1.3

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENwmEDSI(E)

Environmental protection facility engineering
business

In 2024, the Group continued to carry out its
environmental protection facility engineering
business, including desulfurization, denitrification,
dust removal, ultra-low emission and industrial site
dust management.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of
the environmental protection facility engineering
business in the power industry of the Group as at
31 December 2024:

Projects awarded and newly

signed in 2024

12

BRREBLIERY

20244 - N5 B E
BREERR - R - B
B IR R T ERE
0 EEATRTE N A IRIR R
TiRHR

TRANRR2024F 12 B
INBEAREBENITERR
RETRRESHEBLA
48

Projects under construction
as of the end of 2024

2024 FHERFHEHIEHE 2024 F RERIEE
Project type Number Amount Number Amount
(RMB million) (RMB million)
15 B Al BE X BE T8
(AR EET) (AR¥EZET)
Desulfurization 2 200.09 6 705.52
ik
Denitrification 8 41.39 0 0
fizkis
Dust removal 8 343.34 4 519.45
REE
Others 4 216.56 13 253.25
Hh
Water treatment business 1.3 IKFERFE

In 2024, the Group entered into 6 contracts for water
treatment projects, with a total contract amount of
RMB101 million. The Group won the bidding for
projects including the condensate polishing system
project of Chuzhou Power Plant of China Coal Xinji
Energy Co., Ltd. (FEFSERRMDBRAF]) and
Shaanxi Shangluo phase Il condensate project, and its
market competitiveness was significantly enhanced.
The Group signed contracts for the Zhuzhou and
Huaibei circulating water projects, applying new
technologies of crystallization and granulation and
solid-liquid separation to the conventional water
treatment business, thereby effectively reducing
project construction costs and providing new
technical routes for market expansion.

2024%F - AEEFREIK
BIREHGHE @ 54
AeBEARKI0IET -
FiER R EERIRND A
PR A BB N R RE A 7K AR
BRIERFIAR - PREAES
ZHPRAKEIEE - G
BMEEENBERA - FF]
HRONFEILfEIRKIAR
B 45 SR 3R R [ R 2 BE 3T
R lo e A 2 F 3K BR R 5
% - BRKIE B B
K - BmisHRARETRN
R AR ©

2024 FER
AERREXEERHERAF
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2. Environmental Products Manufacturing
Business
2.1 Denitrification catalysts business

2024 Annual Report

In 2024, the Group's catalyst business achieved
a significant increase in production volume, sales
volume and delivery volume as compared with 2023.
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the
key figures of the Group’s plate-type and cellular-
type denitrification catalysts business in 2024:

Production volume Sales volume

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BE

2. BEEMABRERY

2.1

Delivery volume

RIEELF R

2024%F - ANE B {E/ A
EBEE  HE=E M
ER2023FEEH KB
BRI o T&RFIFR2024%5F
REBERTN - BEAPHHE
(LB K8 = 2 EUIRA
4

(Unit: m3)
(Ef7 - TIK)
Delivery volume to
customers other than
China Datang Group

TREAESEE
ER HE RYE BONEFR &
44,722.68 57,365.11 57,920.32 17,487.08

In 2024, the Group sold 20,282.47m? of catalyst
to customers other than China Datang Group,
representing a year-on-year increase of 56.68%.
The Group entered into 126 contracts, representing
an increase of 53 contracts year-on-year, among
which, 13 contracts were entered into with overseas
customers with the aggregate sales volume of
5,492.92m?®, while 52 contracts were entered into
with customers from non-electric industry such as
glass and alumina sectors with the aggregate sales
volume of 1,766.64m*. The Group made steady
progress in the disposal of waste catalysts with
a total amount of 18,013.46m?® of waste catalysts
disposed in 2024.

In 2024, the Group made new breakthroughs
in catalyst product research and development,
successfully self-developed and produced 70-hole
honeycomb catalysts, with performance matching
that of similar imported products, and achieved
a significant technological breakthrough of high-
porosity gas turbine catalysts.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*

2024 » ANEE R FEH
REEBUINEPHEE
{t%20,282.47 32 J5 3K
[l L3R F+56.68% ° 2 5]
& R12618 - [FLLEM53
8 - HpEINmHERI13
& - R&Fr8HE5,492.9257
FK o EIHEM - |kia
EIBITESRI2ME - B
sTE5%E1,766.643L 5 K ©
AEBEREERILERE
FEBSHE 20245 5%
f%18,013.46 3 7 K EE&E
L BIEE TIE -

20244 » REBEEL
T = S BT 25 5 TR EIRAS 37 28
B KT B EMELEETO
lgEEm - EpeEE
EORBEMRKTFE  BR
=LA L BT R BT
RAiTzetyg o
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MANAGEMENT[NSCUSSK»JAND/WU&YSB(CONﬂNUED)

Carbon emission online monitoring business

In 2024, the Group iteratively upgraded its carbon
emission online monitoring products based on
the operation of pilot projects, improved product
performance, completed localization substitution,
successfully obtained the CPA certification and CCEP
product certification, completed pilot application of
5 units, and newly signed pilot projects of 6 units.

Rapid monitoring business of coal quality

In 2024, the Group accelerated the research and
development of rapid monitoring products of coal
quality with independent intellectual property rights,
took near-infrared spectroscopy online analysis as
the technical entry point, continued to break through
core algorithms such as real-time sampling, calorific
value modeling and ash early warning, and provided
dynamic data support for coal-fired power plants
in combustion optimization and intelligent coal
blending.

3. Renewable Energy Business

3.1

3.2

Engineering design and technology service

In 2024, the Group entered into three renewable
energy engineering projects, which were photovoltaic
engineering projects with a total installed capacity
of 246.19MW.

In 2024, the Group undertook 200 renewable energy
design entrustment tasks in aggregate, and entered
into 15 design and technology service contracts,
amounting to RMB11.6830 million.

Distributed photovoltaic business

In 2024, the Group entered into 3 distributed
photovoltaic power investment projects with total
installed capacity of 4.36MW. As of the end of
2024, the Group was operating 15 distributed
photovoltaic projects with a total installed capacity of
19.27MW and an annual power generation capacity
of 16,753,400kWh.

B B 5 o
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TR TE SR B R HE T

2024%F - AEBREH
2018 B BTSN E Ak R K
TE 4R ESRIE MRE1T IR AT
o ETEERMER T
PREIEER - KBS
CPARZEFMCCEPE @R

& ERbR AR
R EeaAERIR
B o

REREERE

20244 - ANE B R
EEEAEEREEERR
BORIE IR - LULAT AN
KEEZED T BRMIA
2 BERWEREE
HERE  ROBLEX
DEE o B E R
BLEB R AR
IR IE -

3. TIRHEREERE

3.1

3.2

TEmet REMIRE

2024 © NEEFF A
BAERRIIZEE 3@ -
ANRIBRER  HEERA
B246.19JKF °

20244 - A& B HEE
Al B ARERB AT TRE T
20078 ' FRE] R AT M T
RIEER15ME - @BAR
#1,168.308 7T °

by v e £

2024%F - AEBFHED
A NRBEREEERS
8 BEREE436K
F - B E2024F K &

SEEAI5EEZRH DM
AKRIEE  BEERE

H1927KE » FHES
1,675.348 TR B o

2024 FER
RERREXEERNDERAR
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Resource Recycling Business

In 2024, the Group accelerated the implementation of the
green recycling industry of retired wind turbines, explored
the realization of green recycling, disposal and high-value
utilization of blades, independently developed mobile
environmentally-friendly intelligent cutting robots, and
tackled problems in the technology of in-situ reconstruction
of wind power foundations by replacing existing run-down
units with small capacity with new units with large capacity
in wind farms, so as to strive to build a systematic and
comprehensive service provider for run-down wind farms.

Research and Development

In 2024, the Group was awarded 45 patent authorizations
in aggregate, including 36 invention patent authorizations.
As of the end of 2024, the Group was preparing one
international standard as a leading role, two domestic
standards as leading role, and has completed the leading
preparation and publication of five international standards.

In 2024, the national key research and development
plan project of "“Key Technologies and Engineering
Demonstration of Chemical Chain Combustion Power
Generation” led by the Group and participated by more
than 10 top universities and leading enterprises including
Tsinghua University and Dongfang Boiler was successfully
established. The project aims to break through the high
carbon emission bottleneck of traditional combustion power
generation technology and build an efficient, clean and low-
cost chemical chain combustion power generation system.
The project focuses on core processes such as chemical
chain combustion reactor design, oxygen carrier material
development, system integration and optimization as well
as engineering demonstration. It plans to build the world's
first set of 20MW thermochemical chain combustion power
generation demonstration device and form a technical
system with completely independent intellectual property
rights.

In 2024, the Group's “complete set of technology and
equipment for the harmless treatment and resource
utilization of high-salt wastewater” was awarded the
Vocational Group Specialized Competition Prize of “Zhenxing
Cup” National Youth Vocational Skills Competition; the
“Labor Model Innovation Workshop” was awarded
the "“Excellent Innovation Workshop” by the Electricity
Specialized Committee of the Chinese Worker's Technical
Association, and the high value innovation platform for
incubation of scientific and technological achievements by
the China Energy Research Society.

2024 Annual Report
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ON FINANCIAL POSITION AND OPERATING
RESULTS

There are inter-segment sales among the Group’s segments and
sub-segments, and accordingly the Group records intra-segment
elimination and inter-segment elimination among these segments/
sub-segments for the relevant revenue and cost of sales. In this
annual report, unless otherwise specified herein, (i) all discussion
about total revenue, total gross profit and overall gross profit
margin are based on the amounts after all intra- and inter-segment
elimination among the segments and sub-segments (being the
figures reflected in our consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income), and (ii) all discussion about the
revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin of business segments
and sub-segments are based on the amounts before any intra- or
inter-segment elimination of such segment or sub-segment.

1. Overview

The Group’s revenue increased by 0.9% from RMB5,720.1
million in 2023 to RMB5,770.9 million in 2024. The Group's
profit for 2024 amounted to RMB552.4 million, representing
an increase of RMB48.8 million, or 9.7%, as compared
with RMB503.6 million in 2023. Profit attributable to
owners of the parent amounted to RMB549.1 million. The
Group's cash and cash equivalents decreased by 43.5% to
RMB994.7 million as at 31 December 2024 as compared
with RMB1,759.4 million as at 31 December 2023. The
Group's total assets decreased by 14.9% to RMB15,348.1
million as at 31 December 2024 as compared with
RMB18,045.1 million as at 31 December 2023. The Group's
total liabilities decreased by 27.2% to RMB7,838.5 million
as at 31 December 2024 as compared with RMB10,763.5
million as at 31 December 2023. The Group's return on total
assets for 2024 was 3.6%, as compared with 2.8% in 2023.

BEEE W EDN(E)

- FHEHMEIKARES

RHFT R B 5

REEN DM F oA ERHFED
BRI E - FEUb B ARRURAME R
AH D/ FHEBEDHAIEEFN D 5
R - EAFRT  BRIFESEARES
B (W ARBIRA - BEF kA8

M8 7 w29 E R ARk 25 B A F 0 B8
DESAM D B R E R N 28R (B R AE
WA EEREMGEERERTH
TR)ET - RUVPABEBD MR F A H
BIRA ~ EFREMNERTHREERZD
BBk F o BBV (E AT 3 B A =k o5 BB T 4K 85
RIS FRETT ©

1. #E

AEBMHKRABE2023FHNARE
5,720.1 B &8 T 110.9% £2024
FOARKEII09EE T ° K
EBER2024F W F BB AR
552.4F BT * B 20234 H FIH
ARHBEB03.6 8 B o mARE
488 BB L(59.7%) - &R A
A AEMGAEAEARK549.1
BB c AREMNESRESSE
BYH2023E12A31HEMAR
#1,759.4 B B LM L 43.5% &
202412 A31HM AR 994.7
BB - ASBEMREER2023
F12A31HMHARY18,045.18
BB 149% £2024F 12 B
3MTHMARE153481EHBETT °
REEBEREBEHR2023F12A
3IMEHMARK10,76365H & T
WA 27.2% F= 2024512 318
MARY78385BBTT ° A%
BR2024F B EERBEAR
3.6% * 2023FH|52.8% °

2024 FER
AERREXEERHERAF
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2. Results of Operations

2.1

22

2.3

24

25

2.6

2024 Annual Report

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by 0.9% to
RMB5,770.9 million in 2024 as compared with
RMB5,720.1 million in 2023, primarily due to the
increase in revenue from environmental protection
and energy conservation business.

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales decreased by 0.7% to
RMB4,541.5 million in 2024 as compared with
RMB4,575.1 million in 2023, mainly due to the
decrease in costs of engineering business.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses
decreased by 6.5% to RMB26.0 million in 2024 as
compared with RMB27.8 million in 2023. This was
primarily due to the decrease in the expenses such
as agency expenses, travel expenses and business
entertainment expenses.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by
9.1% to RMB461.2 million in 2024 as compared with
RMB422.8 million in 2023. This was mainly due to
the increase in the number of the Company's labor
dispatch personnel.

Other income and losses

The Group's other income decreased to RMB100.2
million in 2024 as compared with RMB157.8 million
in 2023. This was mainly due to the increase in
loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
for the year.

Other expenses, net

In 2024, the Group's other expenses amounted to
RMBO, unchanged from RMBO in 2023.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENwmEDSI(E)

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs decreased by 18.0%
to RMB144.6 million in 2024 as compared with
RMB176.3 million in 2023, mainly due to the
decrease in bank loan interest.

Profit before tax

As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group's
profit before tax increased by 6.1% to RMB655.1
million in 2024 as compared with RMB617.6 million
in 2023.

Income tax expense

The Group's income tax expense was RMB102.7
million in 2024, representing a decrease of 10.0%
from RMB114.1 million in 2023.

Profit for the year

The Group's profit for the year increased by RMB48.8
million from RMB503.6 million in 2023 to RMB552.4
million in 2024. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group's profit for the year as a percentage
of its total revenue increased to 9.6% as compared
with 8.8% in 2023.

Profit attributable to owners of the parent

The profit attributable to owners of the parent
increased by RMB26.7 million to RMB549.1 million
in 2024 as compared with RMB522.4 million in 2023.

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests

Profit or loss attributable to non-controlling interests
of the Group increased by 118.1% from a loss of
RMB18.8 million in 2023 to a profit of RMB3.4
million in 2024.

2.7

2.8

29
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2.11

2.12
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Results on Business Segments

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group's
revenue by each business segment or sub-segment
and their respective percentage of total revenue for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, as well as the

percentage of change:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

REHWBERR

KEBEFZE2024F 20234
12A31BIEFER B Ebsk
FHHWARE - & B HBKRA
MBS RBCE DL TRA
N

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024F 2023
Percentage Percentage
of total of total
revenue revenue
before before
Revenue elimination! Revenue  elimination'” Change
RIS g ezl
WA ARAE WA BRALLHY -4l
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % %
ARETFT AL T
Environmental Protection and Energy BRREEMATR
Conservation Solutions:
Total revenue of environmental protection RO ARE
and energy conservation solutions before IR ON
elimination 5,699,614 94.7 5,567,188 934 24
Intra-segment elimination® AEREEY (202,146) (201,102) 05
Total revenue of environmental protection and ~ REEEERNZ
energy conservation solutions after intra- D EHRE R
segment elimination L UN 5,497,468 5,366,086 24
Inter-segment elimination HEEEE - = =
External revenue of environmental protection BRREEHEANT
and energy conservation solution HMPUA 5,497,468 5,366,086 24
Renewable Energy Engineering: BERRIR:
Total revenue of renewable energy engineering ~ RJBARERTIER
WA 252,259 4.2 331,379 5.6 -23.9
Inter-segment elimination DEREIESE - - =
External revenue of renewable energy BEHRIRY
engineering MHEBA 252,259 331,379 -23.9

2024 Annual Report
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENwmEDSI(E)

Year ended 31 December

HENANALERE
2024 2023
2024F 20235
Percentage Percentage
of total of total
revenue revenue
before before
Revenue elimination" Revenue  elimination'” Change
{HHESHA (G 8HRT
WA ARALA ONL N 2t
RMB'000 % RMB000 % %
ARETFT \EETT
Thermal power engineering: KEIR:
Total revenue of thermal power engineering AETREHA - 0.0 - 0.0 -
Inter-segment elimination DE - - -
External revenue of thermal power engineering X E TR SMFMA - = =
Other businesses: HibgeR -
Total revenue of other businesses HipEBapA 68,756 11 60,090 1.0 14.4
Inter-segment elimination® DEREIEEY (47,577) (37,424) 27.1
External revenue of other businesses Rt EREMNBRA 21,179 22,666 6.6
Total revenue before elimination EHEAIRABEY 6,020,629 100.0 5,958,657 100.0 1.0
Total intra- and inter-segment elimination® 43R5 SR
fame 249,723 238,526 4.7
Total revenue LON L 5,770,906 5,720,131 09

2024 FER 1
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I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BI2 i 30

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

2024 Annual Report

DT (&)

Represents the revenue of each segment or sub-
segment (before any intra- or inter-segment elimination)
as a percentage of the total revenue before any intra- or
inter-segment elimination.

Intra-segment elimination of revenue from sub-
segments under environmental protection and energy
conservation solutions segment mainly arises from the
intra-segment sales between denitrification catalysts
sub-segment to energy conservation sub-segment and
environmental protection facility concession operation,
respectively.

Inter-segment elimination of revenue from other
business segments mainly arises from the inter-segment
sales between other businesses and environmental
protection and energy conservation solutions.

Represents the aggregate amount of the revenue of
all segments/sub-segments before any intra- or inter-
segment elimination.

Represents the aggregate amount of all intra- and inter-
segment elimination.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group's
gross profit and gross profit margin of each segment or
sub-segment for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, as well as the percentage of change in gross profit:

B B 5 o

DT (&)

TREFANEEEEHE2024F K

2023%F

T RBEER -
AMEtRE

ERE

Year ended 31 December

12A31B EFE DIk
ES PSRN

BZ1231ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
Gross  Gross profit Gross  Gross profit Change of
profit'" margin® prom“‘ margin?  gross profit
£ TUNNE 3 - I EAlEe EABL
RMB’000 (%) HMB 000 (%) (%)
AREF ARET
Total gross profit of environmental RROEBADREET
protection and energy conservation
solutions 1,276,229 23.2 1,180,926 22.0 8.1
Total gross profit of renewable energy EERRTRAET
engineering 81,734 324 43,940 13.3 86.0
Total gross profit of thermal power NETREER
engineering - - = = =
Total gross profit of other businesses HtEBEER (128,515) (606.8) (79,848) (352.3) 60.9
Total gross profit and overall gross BERN RBERNE
profit margin® 1,229,448 213 1,145,018 20.0 14
Notes: Hiat :
(1) Calculated based on the revenue of each segment (1 ZHRE 5 T 77 B A
or sub-segment (before any intra- or inter-segment (5 JBW} 7 BB A 4 5
yaN /\AL
elimination) minus the cost of sales of such segment IR B&j ARy
or sub-segment (before any intra- or inter-segment f%ﬁkﬁ(g_ﬁ”/ %)
elimination). RERE AT ) S -
(2) Calculated based on the gross profit of each segment or (2) Tﬁﬂ”%ﬁ%ﬁyjfiﬁﬁﬁt
sub-segment calculated according to note (1) divided by AL ECT )‘#:ﬁﬂj E}]fﬂ
AN yaN
the revenue of such segment or sub-segment (before SERIAK) ijZ?— jBE’U
yaN yaN
any intra- or inter-segment elimination). HEA (A 53 BB Py sk 7 56
AT ESH ©
(3) Total gross profit equals total revenue (being the (3) Z@%ﬂ%/ﬁf%@ B (BN B
revenue reflected on our consolidated statement of Eﬁzﬂjﬁ’ﬂa@ﬁ 5 J AR
profit or loss and other comprehensive income) minus éj”ﬁl@%iﬁ’\]%)\)ﬁzﬁ%@
total cost of sales (being the cost of sales reflected on %%ﬁff(ﬂﬂ&ﬂﬁlﬁ&@m
our consolidated statement of profit or loss and other & OHRE kA fhkx mﬂﬂlm%z
comprehensive income). Overall gross profit margin FHEERA) - BEFE
equals total gross profit divided by total revenue. Blﬁ?”;m%ﬂ LMEWA
2024 FFH
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Cash Flows

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents decreased by 43.5% to RMB994.7 million as
compared with RMB1,759.4 million as at 31 December
2023, mainly attributable to the decrease in the cash flow
generated from operating activities of the Group.

Working Capital

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current assets
increased by 10.1% to RMB2,217.6 million as compared
with RMB2,013.9 million as at 31 December 2023, primarily
due to the decrease in liabilities such as trade and bills
payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings and other loans.

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings
decreased by 29.8% to RMB3,922.3 million as compared
with RMB5,590.7 million as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has bank borrowings
of approximately RMB3,207.3 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB3,370.5 million), which were
denominated in RMB.

The gearing ratio, which was calculated based on net debt
divided by the capital plus net debt, was approximately 47 %
(31 December 2023: approximately 55%).
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11.

12.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEE W EDN(E)

Capital Expenditure 7. BFRAX
The Group's capital expenditure decreased by 41.4% to REBMWEARMT H2023FA
RMB228.6 million in 2024 as compared with RMB389.8 R¥3898BEILAEL41.4%E
million in 2023. Capital expenditure mainly comprises costs 2024F M) AR¥E2286BHE T °
of long-term assets including acquisition or construction of BEAXARZTERBEEDE  KE
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. MEEREREESRIEAEN
A o
Financial Ratios 8. HM¥hk=:
The following table sets forth certain of our financial ratios TREFIRFTR B HA & 27 R B A
as at the dates and for the periods indicated: METHBLEER :
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2024 2023

20244 20234
Current ratio MENEL = 135.0% 123.0%
Quick ratio P Ju e 131.0% 121.2%
Liabilities to assets ratio BEEELE 51.1% 59.6%
Leverage ratio (Y n 2 70.8% 52.6%
Return on total assets BEERRE 3.6% 2.8%
Return on equity & 7R [B] 37 = 7.4% 6.9%
Significant Investment 9. HEX¥HE
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group made HZE2024F12A31BILFE -
no significant investment. AEEWESANILE -
Material Acquisition and Disposal 10. EXKBRHEFR
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group had no HZE2024F12A31BHILEFEE -
material acquisition and disposal. AEBUTEERKBEREES

Ig o

Future Plan for Material Investments or 11. EAREJELREERNR
Capital Assets RerEl
The Company has no future plans for significant investments HBEAFHREH  AQRWESE
or capital assets as at the date of this annual report. AIEEREARBERNRREE -
Charged and Pledged Assets 12. BEEHREH

As at 31 December 2024, no assets were pledged to secure
interest-bearing bank borrowings and other loans for the
Group.

M2024F12 A31H @ WEEM
EETNERAERAEENT
BIRITIER R EMER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEESmEDI(E)

13.

14.

Contingent Liabilities
India NLC Project

On 6 March 2020, Technologies & Engineering Company
signed a construction contract with NLC India limited (“NLC
India”). Due to the impact of COVID-19, the construction
progress was delayed, and NLC India issued a formal
notice to request to terminate the contract and redeem the
performance guarantee letter amounting to RMB47,303,000.
In addition, the claims brought by NLC India also include the
costs incurred in re-tendering and the arbitration progress.
The Group fully accrued a provision of RMB47,303,000
for the request of redeeming the performance guarantee
letter, and incurred other expenses of RMB47,303,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 accordingly. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the performance guarantee
letter of RMB47,303,000 has been fully redeemed. The
likelihood of occurrence of other compensations about
these contract disputes cannot be estimated reliably.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rate

Foreign currency risk primarily arises from certain significant
foreign currency deposits, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in United States Dollars (“USD"),
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD"), and Indian Rupee (“INR").

The treasury management department of the Group closely
monitors the international foreign currency market on the
change of exchange rates and takes this into consideration
when depositing foreign currency deposits and borrowing
loans. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had significant
exposures to INR.

The Group has transactional currency exposures which arise
from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. The exposure
was insignificant for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023.
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V.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Risks on environmental protection and energy
conservation policies

The Group provides substantially all of its products and services
in the PRC, and the development of Group's business is greatly
dependent on the environmental protection policies of the PRC.

Environmental protection industry is one of the major industries
that benefit from the constant support of the PRC government.
The market demand for the Group’s environmental protection
and energy conservation products and services and the revenue
generated therefrom are directly affected by the environmental
protection policies of the PRC. However, there is no assurance that
such policies will continue to be available to the Group or there
will be no adverse change. If there is any adverse change, it may
result in a material and adverse effect on the business prospects,
results of operations and financial condition of the Group. The
management of the Group is of the view that, given the severity
of pollution in the PRC, it is unlikely for the PRC government to
revise such environmental protection policies regarding the adverse
effect or to withdraw any resources invested in the environmental
protection industry. Moreover, the Group, as a trendsetter and
leader of the environmental protection and energy conservation
for the PRC's electric power industry, has participated in the
formulation of various industrial policies and standards, which
allows it to catch the latest industry trends and respond in a
timely fashion.

Risks on connected transactions with China
Datang Group and its connected persons

The Group has been conducting various transactions with China
Datang Group and its connected persons, and will continue to
enter into such transactions in the future. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the total value of goods sold and services
provided by the Group to China Datang Group and its connected
persons was approximately RMB4,575.7 million, representing
approximately 79.3% of the total revenue of the Group. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the total value of goods purchased
and services received by the Group from China Datang Group and
its connected persons was approximately RMB1,662.6 million,
representing approximately 36.6% of the total cost of the Group.
The Group has been actively expanding its client base. For example,
during 2024, the Group entered into contracts in the amount of
RMB331 million with clients other than China Datang Group and
its connected persons, representing approximately 17.4% of the
total contract amount of the Group.
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Liquidity risks

The Group had operating cash flows of RMB1,702.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group cannot assure that
its operating cash flow for any future period will be positive. The
Group's ability to generate adequate cash inflows from operating
activities in the future will depend largely on project schedule
and billing arrangement, its ability to collect receivables from
customers in a timely manner and the credit terms available to
the Group. If the Group is not able to generate sufficient cash
flows from operations or obtain sufficient financing to support
its business operation, the Group's growth prospects may be
materially and adversely affected. The Group plans to implement
diversified measures to collect receivables in order to improve
operating cash flow. In addition, the Group has been proactively
seeking financing to support the development and expansion of
its business. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had available
bank facilities of RMB23.8 billion.

Industry risks

The Group’s business primarily focuses on the environmental
protection and energy conservation for coal-fired power plants,
and therefore the market demand for the Group's environmental
protection and energy conservation business relies heavily on the
growth rate of the coal-fired power generation output in the PRC.
In particular, the revenue generated from concession operations
will be directly affected by the power generation output of coal-
fired power plants. As pollution has become an increasingly severe
environmental issue in the PRC, the PRC government has shown
considerable concern for the adjustment to the national energy
structure and development. Therefore, there can be no assurance
that coal-fired power generation output in the PRC will continue
to grow at the current pace. If the increase in coal-fired power
generation output in the PRC slows down, it may result in a
decrease in utilization hours of coal-fired power generation units,
or a lower demand for the Group’s products and services, which
in turn will materially and adversely affect our business prospects,
results of operations and financial position. The management of the
Group is of the view that, in terms of the power generation portfolio
in the PRC, coal-fired power generation still dominates the market.
In addition, the vast majority of the Group’s concession operations
locate in coastal areas and economically developed areas, where
the utilization hours of coal-fired power generation are higher than
the average level nationwide. The Group plans to actively explore
clients in the iron and steel, cement and petrochemical industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENwmEDSI(E)

OUTLOOK ON THE GROUP'S FUTURE F - Zx&EEXRFkBZEREHNRE
DEVELOPMENT

REAEE 1461 | BEREE - LG5 2
HEMNERTS  ARERN2026FE
RO = (E 0 E A TAE -

According to the Group's “1461" development strategies and
the current development situation, the Group will focus on three

aspects in 2025:

1.

Effectively improve quality and efficiency,
and consolidate the competitive advantages
of traditional industries

The Group will continue to strengthen lean management,
steadily enhance value creation capabilities, and further
consolidate the traditional business profitability of the
Company. The Group will give full play to the professional
advantages of franchise business, continue to carry out the
indicator classification energy consumption diagnosis of
“one diagnosis for one enterprise, and one policy for one
plant”, and maintain the best indicators in the industry.
The Group will adjust the procurement strategy of bulk
materials such as limestone and urea, promote the resource
utilization and quality improvement of gypsum, and further
achieve cost reduction and efficiency improvement. The
Group will actively strive for incremental franchise projects
such as Chaozhou, Lvsi and Sanmenxia, and expand
the scale of franchise business. The Group will further
optimize the design of denitration catalyst products, break
through technical barriers, and realize the transformation
of honeycomb catalyst into high added value and high
profitability. Through rational scheduling of production
plans, the Group will fully release production capacity,
and realize the coordinated development of honeycomb
and plate catalysts. The Group will deeply tap the potential
of traditional environmental protection business, increase
market development efforts, expand the business scale
of liquid ammonia to urea, zero wastewater discharge,
etc., improve the whole process management ability and
procurement quality of projects, and achieve steady growth
in the scale and efficiency of environmental protection
engineering business.
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Deeply promote technological innovation,
and cultivate new quality productive forces
and new impetus

The Group will strengthen the guidance of the “dual carbon”
strategy, focus on fully exerting the role of technological
innovation and striving to be the vanguard of technological
self-reliance and self-improvement, intensify the
transformation of technological achievements, and promote
the integrated development of technological innovation and
industrial innovation. The Group will expand the promotion
and application of carbon monitoring products, complete
the implementation of 6 pilot units with high quality,
further expand the pilot scope, and gradually extend to
key industries such as steel and cement. The Group will
coordinate the research and development of the chemical
pyrolysis technology for retired wind turbine blades, form
technological achievements, and simultaneously research
advanced technologies and industrial directions such as
recycling of scrapped photovoltaic modules and recycling of
waste energy storage batteries. The Group will accelerate
the integrated development of coal quality online inspection
system, complete prototype testing, establish an automatic
coal quality inspection and test platform, build a coal quality
data management platform, and create standardized
products with independent intellectual property rights.
The Group will promote the research and development of
national key chemical chain combustion projects as planned,
and gradually form a complete technical standard system
covering materials, device and system to provide key
support for the low-carbon transformation of the energy
industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Accelerate industry transformation and
upgrading, and create the high-quality
development growth pole

The Group will accelerate the implementation of the
resource recycling industry, actively respond to the
business needs of wind farms for replacing existing run-
down units with small capacity with new units with large
capacity, reconstruction and upgrading, and blade recycling,
and accelerate the implementation of the demonstration
projects of retired wind turbine recycling in Guizhou,
Shanxi and Chongging. The Group will accelerate the
promotion of implementation of the solid waste disposal
project of Shunxing Mine, conduct in-depth analysis and
research on the relevant industries, take the opportunity to
participate in ecological restoration and the comprehensive
utilization of bulk industrial solid waste, and explore new
modes for solid waste development. The Group will
accelerate the layout in new catalyst industry, integrate
the existing R&D strength and overseas talent to build
a high-level R&D team, accelerate the development of
catalysts for ocean-going marine diesel engines, obtain
SCR certification from classification society, and create
a high value-added catalyst product cluster. The Group
will create a new mode of engineering consulting service
business, strengthen the talent echelon construction,
strengthen the new energy professional design force with
high standards and stringent requirements to enhance its
design capability, and accelerate the acquisition of wind
power design qualifications, geotechnical investigation and
design qualifications to improve its qualification level.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

ERSHE

The Board hereby presents this report of Directors and the annual report
as well as the Group's audited consolidated financial statements for the
year of 2024 prepared in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards
("IFRS").

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as a joint stock Company in the
PRC with limited liability on 25 July 2011. Basic information about
the Company is set out in the sections headed “Company Profile”
and “Corporate Information” on page 3 and pages 284 to 288 of
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group is the sole platform for the development of environmental
protection and energy conservation business under China Datang
Group, one of the 4 major state wholly-owned power generation
groups in the PRC. The principal business of the Group includes
environmental protection facility concession operation, denitrification
catalysts, environmental protection facilities engineering, water
treatment business, energy conservation business and renewable
energy engineering business.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The audited financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 143 to 144 of
this annual report. The financial position of the Group and of the
Company as at 31 December 2024 is set out in the consolidated
statement of financial position on pages 145 to 146 of and in Note
39 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
The cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of cash flows on
pages 148 to 149 of this annual report.
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V.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

A discussion and analysis of the Group's business review, results
and performance during the year ended 31 December 2024,
the discussion and analysis of the key factors of its results and
financial performance, risk factors and risk management and the
prospect for future development are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 31 of this
annual report, and the “Report of Directors” on pages 32 to 74
of this annual report. The description of relationship between the
Group and employees is set out in the section headed “Human
Resources” on pages 133 to 134 of this annual report. The
indemnity provisions of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ liability insurance and the permitted indemnity
provisions” under the corporate governance report on page 90 of
this annual report. The aforementioned sections form part of the
report of Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY

AND

As an environmental protection technology company, the Group
strictly abides by the environment and social-related laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in relation
to its businesses, including provision of environmental protection
and energy conservation services, monitoring of the pollutants
generated by coal-fired power plants, and provision of renewable
energy services, etc. Meanwhile, as a responsible company, the
Group proactively performed its social responsibility in 2024,
and conducted business by taking fulfillment of the concept of
sustainable development as its duty. It also adheres to mutually
beneficial cooperation with key stakeholders, including customers,
employees and suppliers, to seek for common development,
and strives to maintain a balance of harmony with ecological
environment and social environment. The Group will keep on
undertaking social responsibilities and exerting advantages as an
environmental protection enterprise and making consistent efforts
to forage an environment with blue sky and white clouds.

Details of the environmental, social and governance (“ESG") of
the Company will be set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the "ESG Report”) to be issued by the
Company separately pursuant to Rule 13.91 and Appendix C2 to
the Listing Rules.
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VL.

COMPLIANCEWITHLAWS AND REGULATIONS

As an H share company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liabilities and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
the Company is governed by various applicable domestic laws and
regulations including the Company Law of the People’'s Republic
of China (“Company Law"”), the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Standards for Corporate Governance
of Listed Companies ( { LA RAIE%RI) ) promulgated by the
CSRC, the Guideline on Comprehensive Risk Management of
Central Enterprises ( (FRMPEZEEREILIES]) ) promulgated
by the SASAC, as well as the Listing Rules and the SFO. The
Group has implemented risk management and internal control
measures to ensure its compliance with such laws and regulations.
Having reviewed the business performance of the Group, the
Board is of the view that the Group has been in compliance with
the requirements of relevant laws and regulations in all material
respects.

The discussion and analysis of legal risks exposed to the
Company are set out in the section headed “Risk Factors and
Risk Management” on pages 27 to 28 of this annual report.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since 15 November 2016. The net proceeds from the
initial public offering and partial exercise of the over-allotment
option, after deducting the underwriting fees and relevant
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$2,032.3 million, which
will be used in the ways stated in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds"” of the Prospectus and the announcement
of the Company dated 30 December 2021 (the “Announcement”)
in relation to the change in use of net proceeds.
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The following table sets forth the use of net proceeds from the TREINEZE2024F12A831HIEERA
initial public offering as at 31 December 2024: RBEMGFIRFHENFERBR
Revised use of  Actual use of Expected
Intended use of  net proceeds  net proceeds Unused net time of full
net proceeds as at the up to proceeds up to utilization of
disclosed in date of the 31 December 31 December remaining
the Prospectus Announcement 2024 2024 balance
kS
20245124318 BZ

RREREEN RILERER MEIEREN 2024F12A31H
FEREREN  SRETEN ERERBR ARARSRE ZOERKEN
RERE B RE B8 B BENE

(HKS$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HKS$ million)  (HKS$ million)

(FE#7) (BEET) (FE#T1) (FE#T)

To finance the capital BAMR R R E S HAR 1,219.50 1,219.50 1,219.50 0.00 -
expenditures for expanding FIENEARRY
the desulfurization and
denitrification concession

operations
To develop new sources of BEWANFBNTERY - 24 304.80 304.80 304.80 0.00 -
growth in the revenue and BARRAREEERA DR
profit, including but not EEER  KBEBKRNAZP
limited to EMC business REBEHNERRATR

for coal-fired power plants,
water treatment business,
and providing customers with
overall solution plans of ultra-

low emissions
To repay some of the existing ~ BEFARBRITER « LREH 203.20 203.20 203.20 0.00 -
bank loans in order to BRARMEN KRR E

lower the finance costs and
improve the financial leverage

ratio
For working capital and other 2B REM-—RARMAS 203.20 203.20 203.20 0.00 -
general corporate purposes
For research and development  HEHL 101.60 93.60 75.11 18.49 December 2025
expenditures 2025412
For investment in renewable AL REERE - 8.00 0.00 8.00 December 2025
energy projects 2025412
Total s 2,032.30 2,032.30 2,005.81 26.49
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VII.

VIIL.

IX.

XI.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had no investment
properties or properties held for development and/or sale with one
or more of the percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 14.04(9)
of the Listing Rules) exceeding 5%.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2024, the total registered share capital of the
Company was RMB2,967,542,000, divided into 624,296,200 H
Shares and 2,343,245,800 Domestic Shares. Details of the changes
in issued share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

As at 31 December 2024, there were no provisions for pre-emptive
rights under the Articles of Association or the relevant PRC laws,
which require the Company to offer new Shares to existing
Shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings.

RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

RETAINED PROFITS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, where there are differences
between Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises of the
PRC (“PRC GAAP") and the IFRS, the retained profits shall be
the lower of the amounts shown in the two different financial
statements. There is no discrepancy between the net assets at
the end of 2024 as calculated in accordance with PRC GAAP and
the IFRS. The retained profits of the Group as of 31 December
2024 is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The Board proposes to set aside 10% of the profit after tax as the
statutory surplus reserve in accordance with the Company Law
and the Articles of Association, and not to set aside discretionary
reserve. This proposal will be submitted to the 2024 AGM for
consideration and approval.
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XIl. 2024 FINAL DIVIDEND +Z 2024 KRR 2
On 28 March 2025, the Board passed the resolution for the MR2025F3A28H EE BB RE
proposed distribution of the 2024 final dividend of RMB0.051 per R BRIREHZE2024F12A318LLF
ordinary Share (before tax) for the year ended 31 December 2024 ER2024F ERAKREFRE BN A
(the “Proposed 2024 Final Dividend") (for the year ended 31 R#¥0.0517T(TiAT) ([ 22024 FERH
December 2023: RMB0.076 per Share). BE]) (BiE2023F12A31HIEFE :

A R0.0767T) °

The Proposed 2024 Final Dividend is subject to the approval by EE2024F E AR B BAFARARFRE
the shareholders of the Company at the 2024 annual general RARNR B HA2024FEREHEFE KR
meeting (the “2024 AGM") to be convened by the Company. The Z([2024FERRBAFARE ) LHER
date of the 2024 AGM, the record date, the book closure period FAEE 2024 FEREBEFAEH
for the Shares for payment of the Proposed 2024 Final Dividend B - SRSk AE  IRFTEE2024F E AR H
and further details of the Proposed 2024 Final Dividend will be RERRNE BB EL A RE
announced separately by the Company. 2024 F BRI EME —FFIBFHE A

RRARBITRM

Xlll. TAX = IRIR

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC ( (A RIB(PEARLFMBIGEMEFREIR
RAMBMERSHEIE) ) and its implementation regulations (the HEEmEON([DERBEE])  EBER
“EIT Law"), the tax rate of the enterprise income tax applicable 1 35 3k B AROR P FR B35 A B9 BT 5 S A0 1B
to the income of a non-resident enterprise deriving from the PRC EMBROERTER10% - At - T
is 10%. For this purpose, any H Shares registered in the name of AIASERALERE  BIEUARBEFRAR
non-individual enterprises, including HKSCC Nominees Limited, HE(REA)ARAR ~ EMRE A
other agents or trustees, or other organizations or groups, shall X FE ASE (4B A K B B R & B R I HAR
be deemed as shares held by nonresident enterprise Shareholders BHOEWRLERIEERCERR(EER
(as defined under the EIT Law). When the Company distributes REFSRUE) TS BHRG - KD TR
dividends to non-resident enterprise Shareholders, it is liable to ZHRHR R A EWIEE REERE
withhold enterprise income tax on their behalf at an interest rate RERSR - AEBRNKRBEEMS
of 10%. If H Shareholders need to change their Shareholder’s o BIEABI0% - MHRBREFTEF K
status, they shall consult with the agents or trustees on the BREF M - BRRIEASZTEAEAIE
procedures. In strict compliance with laws and requirements of FFE o AD A EASFESRIBBA
relevant government authorities, the Company will withhold the HEBPIMER - WKREIEE A 8
enterprise income tax according to the register of members of the KA A BIHRR IR A R IR B S
H Shares of the Company as at the record date. 7K

Any resident enterprise (as defined under the EIT Law) which has R ORI P NG i R i = R 7
been legally incorporated in the PRC or which was established EREBE A FEMASL - SEKERINE (3
pursuant to the laws of foreign countries (regions) but has @) AR EEREEEELTEEA
established effective administrative entities in the PRC, and whose WERGE(ERREEMEHE) - M
name appears on the Company's register of members of H Share PHELEAARRARIAKE10% B EMF
should deliver a legal opinion ascertaining its status as a resident o ARHRESFELEB ST REFLE
enterprise furnished by a qualified PRC lawyer (with the official AR A R 2R EHEEME AR
chop of the law firm issuing the opinion affixed thereon) and EEAERMENEZZERE(NEEAM
relevant documents to the H Share Registrar, Computershare BB AE) KBRS -

Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, if they do not wish to have
the 10% enterprise income tax withheld and paid on their behalf
by the Company.
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Pursuant to the Notice on the Issues on Levy and Administration
of Individual Income Tax after the Abolishment of Guo Shui Fa
(1993) No. 045 Document ( (B8 EI%1 3% (1993)0455% I E IE12H
RAEAFTSREE BEREAD) ) issued by the State Administration
of Tax on 28 June 2011, the dividend to be distributed by the PRC
non-foreign invested enterprises which have issued shares in Hong
Kong to the overseas resident individual shareholders, is subject
to the individual income tax with a tax rate of 10% in general.

If the individual H Shareholders are residents of Hong Kong or
Macau or those countries which have entered into a tax treaty with
the PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of 10%, the Company will
finally withhold and pay individual income tax at the rate of 10%
on behalf of these Shareholders. If the individual H Shareholders
are residents of those countries which have entered into a tax
treaty with the PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of less than
10%, the Company will make applications on their behalf to seek
entitlement of the relevant agreed preferential treatment pursuant
to the relevant tax treaty. Under the above circumstances, if the
relevant individual H Shareholders want a refund of the extra
amount withheld (the “Extra Amount”) due to the application
of 10% tax rate, the Company can apply for the relevant agreed
preferential tax treatment provided that the relevant Shareholders
submit the evidence required by the notice of the tax treaty to the
H Share Registrar. The Company will assist with the tax refund
after receiving approval of the competent tax authority. Should
the individual H Shareholders be residents of the countries which
have an agreed tax rate of over 10% but less than 20% with the
PRC under the tax treaty, the Company will withhold and pay
the individual income tax at the agreed actual rate in accordance
with the relevant tax treaty. In the case that the individual H
Shareholders are residents of the countries which have an agreed
tax rate of 20% with the PRC, or which have not entered into any
tax treaty with the PRC, or otherwise, the Company will withhold
and pay the individual income tax at a rate of 20%.
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The Company will strictly comply with the laws and requirements
of the relevant government authorities and withhold and pay
enterprise and individual income tax on behalf of the Shareholders
based on the Company’s register of members of the H Shares on
the record date. The Company assumes no liability whatsoever in
respect of and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay
in, or inaccurate determination of, the status of the Shareholders
or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding of enterprise
income tax. The Company assumes no liability whatsoever in
respect of any claims arising from any delay in, or inaccurate
determination of the status of the Shareholders or any disputes
over the mechanism of withholding.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has repurchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company'’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares).
As at 31 December 2024, no treasury shares were held by the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, total sales to the Group's
five largest customers represented approximately 21.63% of total
revenue of the Group for the year of 2024, among which total sales
to the largest customer accounted for approximately 6.41% of total
revenue of the Group for the year of 2024. The super-majority of our
top five customers during the Reporting Period were subsidiaries
of China Datang, and the Group was heavily reliant on sales to
China Datang Group as its principal source of revenue. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the total value of products and services
provided by the Group to China Datang Group and its connected
persons represented approximately 79.30% of the total revenue
of the Group for the corresponding period.

sEEgmE(E)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, total purchase from the
Group's five largest suppliers represented approximately 20.90%
of total cost of sales of the Group for the year of 2024, among
which total purchase from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 5.16% of total cost of sales of the Group for the
year of 2024. During the Reporting Period, the Group procured
certain products and services from China Datang Group. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the total value of products and
services procured by the Group from China Datang Group and
its connected persons represented approximately 36.61% of the
total costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, except for certain
subsidiaries of China Datang that were among our top five
customers or suppliers, none of the Directors, Supervisors, Senior
Management, their close associates or any Shareholders (to the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, who holds more than 5% of the
issued Shares) have any interest in the five largest customers or
suppliers of the Company during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained good relations
with its customers and suppliers. The Company kept contact with
its customers and suppliers, and maintained communication with
them via various channels, such as telephone, email and physical
meetings, to receive feedback and suggestions.

BANK BORROWINGS AND OTHER LOANS

The details of bank borrowings and other loans of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.
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XVII.STAFF +t KT

Staff is the key for the Group's sustainable development. Details of BIAREEAFESRERNER - 54
the staff of the Group are set out in the sections headed “Profile REEBE TERFBED EHRANF R
of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” and “Human F121BEF132BRF133EEFE 1348
Resources” on pages 121 to 132 and pages 133 to 134 respectively [EF  EEkafBBEENIRIAAN
in this annual report. BRIZEEA o

XVIIl. ENTRUSTED DEPOSITS AND OVERDUETERM +/\ ‘EIEEZRANTEHESR

DEPOSITS

B E2024F12A3MBIEFE - A&EE
MEEPBIE AN & BEETRELR
o MNETHFERE R Him X REEERE
HIIER o

EX EEREREERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had no entrusted
deposits with financial institutions in the PRC, or term deposits
which were overdue but unrecovered.

’

XIX. DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR +#h
MANAGEMENT

TREFIE2024F1 A1 BERFERE
DAY EE  EENRAEEEN
#R D EHY -

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management from 1 January
2024 to the date of publishing of this annual report:

Date of appointment/resignation as a

Name Position in the Company Director/Supervisor/Senior Management

HE EARQ BEENBE it/ BIRAES BEE SRAEEENAH

Directors

=

ZHU Liming Chairman of the Board December 2022

RHBA Bk 2022412 A
Executive Director December 2022
HITES 20224124
Authorised representative December 2022
RERR 20224124
Acting general manager September 2023
RIBAERIR 20239 A

XU Chun Non-executive Director August 2024

& FHITES 202448 A

PANG Xiaojin Non-executive Director August 2024

REREE FHITES 202448 A

XIA Huaixiang Non-executive Director August 2024

BlE FHITES 202448 A

CHU Hongbo Non-executive Director August 2024

AR FHITES 202448 A

MAO Zhuanjian Independent non-executive June 2015

Director
EEE BUIEHTES 20156 A
HU Yunging Independent non-executive August 2024
Director
HREE BIUIFMITES 20248 A
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Date of appointment/resignation as a

Name Position in the Company Director/Supervisor/Senior Management
®A EARQ A EENBS 2/ BEAHRES BEE SHEEENBEH
SUEN Chun Hung, Independent non-executive August 2024
Benjamin Director
HIRS BUIFHITES 20248 A
WANG Mi Non-executive Director (employee January 2025
representative Director)
ED FEMITEF(BINRKRES) 2025%F1 A
SHEN Zhen Former non-executive Director Appointed in October 2023, resigned in August
2024
ERiH AIFEITE S 202310 AT » 20248 A BT
WANG Jungi Former non-executive Director Appointed in September 2021, retired in
August 2024
FERRR AIIFITE S 2021469 AEZRAT - 202498 AR(T
WU Daging Former non-executive Director Appointed in September 2021, retired in
August 2024
RRE AIIEITES 2021F9 AER(T - 2024F8 AR
CHEN Kan Former non-executive Director Appointed in September 2021, retired in
August 2024
RERAT AIFEITES 2021F9 AER(T - 2024F8 AR
SONG Yunpeng Former non-executive Director Appointed in September 2021,
(employee representative resigned in January 2025
Director)
REMS AIFEMITESE(BIRKRES) 202159 AER(T » 202551 AEHT
YE Xiang Former independent non-executive June 2015, resigned in August 2024
Director
5] RSB IEMITES 2015%F6 8 ' 202448 A BT
GAO Jiaxiang Former independent non-executive April 2016, retired in August 2024
Director
SEX AIE N IEMITES 2016%F4 8 ' 202448 AR

Supervisors

E=x
HUANG Yuan Former chairman of the Appointed in September 2021, resigned in
Supervisory Committee and August 2024
Supervisor
i AEEEEFERES 202159 AEZE(E - 20248 AFHE
LIU Liming Chairman of the Supervisory August 2024
Committee and Supervisor
#DSZER EEerRKkES 202448 A
ZHANG Xuefeng™ Supervisor Appointed in September 2021,
resigned in January 2025
REIED EE 202159 AR (T » 202651 AFHE
LUO Li Employee representative January 2021
Supervisor
R BIRKRES 202141 A8
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Date of appointment/resignation as a

Name Position in the Company Director/Supervisor/Senior Management
HE EARDBRENES . BEIRES BEE BREEENAH

Senior Management®?

SREEE?

CHEN Song Chief accountant July 2019
BRAR BEETED 2019%F7 A
LIU Chundong Deputy general manager July 2020
2IFR Blipseig 202047 A

WANG Jie Secretary of the Discipline November 2024
Inspection Committee
T wEREEEgER 202411 A
LI Lijian Deputy general manager September 2024
FER Bl 20244 9A
Secretary of the Board, Joint October 2024
Company Secretary and
authorized representative
EZNE  BEARWEREE 20245108
K&
ZHOU Ce Secretary of the Discipline Appointed in March 2020, resigned July 2024
Inspection Committee
A% HERSRESER 2020FF3 AR - 2024F 7 A BT
REN Haitao Deputy general manager November 2024
FigE k] 2024511 A
LIANG Xiuguang Former deputy general manager  Appointed in March 2018, resigned in October
2024
25 Al 8l 48453 201853 AT  2024F 10 AFHT
Former secretary of the Board, Appointed in November 2020, resigned in October
Joint Company Secretary and 2024
authorized representative
AIEESWE - BERARMERE 2020511 ABEFE - 2024510 AFHE
RERE
Notes: Bt
(1) Mr. ZHANG Xuefeng resigned in January 2025, and his (1) REEREAENE R2025%F 1 A &
resignation will become effective upon the appointment of a 1 HEFERAATRE AR
new Supervisor to be elected at the general meeting of the BESNNTESEZTRERR -
Company.
(2) The list of Senior Management excludes those who are also 2) SREEELETEEREEREE

serving as Directors or Supervisors. ENEFEMAES o
The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence,
and considers that each of the independent non-executive Directors
is independent of the Company under the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

ARRERBNEEBLIENTEERHE
SEEMBIMEHANFERRE - AR
B EMARAEIBGAEBILIES - R
REBREILIFNTESBIINARF]

2024 FER 43
AERREXEERHERAF



44

REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFETHE(E)

XX. CHANGES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

From 1 January 2024 to the date of this report of Directors,
according to the requirement of Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
the changes in information of Directors are set out as follows:

o Mr. SHEN Zhen resigned as non-executive Director on
October 2023 with effect from August 2024.

° Mr. WANG Jungi, Mr. WU Daging and Mr. CHEN Kan
ceased to be non-executive Directors with effect from
August 2024 as their terms of office have expired.

o Mr. XU Chun, Mr. PANG Xiaojin, Mr. XIA Huaixiang and
Mr. CHU Hongbo have been appointed as non-executive
Directors of the fourth session of the Board since August
2024.

o Mr. SONG Yunpeng has ceased to be a non-executive
Director (employee representative Director) since January
2025 as his term of office has expired.

o Ms. WANG Mi has been appointed as a non-executive
Director (employee representative Director) since January
2025.

o Mr. YE Xiang and Mr. GAO Jiaxiang ceased to be independent

non-executive Directors with effect from August 2024 as
their terms of office have expired.

o Ms. HU Yunging and Mr. SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin have
been appointed as independent non-executive Directors of
the fourth session of the Board of Directors of the Company
since August 2024.

The Directors appointed during the Reporting Period have each
confirmed that he/she understood his/her obligations as a Director
and have each obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on the dates set out below:

. Mr. PANG Xiaojin confirmed on 30 July 2024.
o Mr. XU Chun, Mr. XIA Huaixiang, Mr. CHU Hongbo, Ms. HU
Yunging, and Mr. SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin confirmed

on 2 August 2024.

° Ms. WANG Mi confirmed on 8 January 2025.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

From 1 January 2024 to the date of this report of Directors,
according to the requirement of Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
the changes in information of Supervisors are set out as follows:

° Mr. WONG Yuen resigned as Supervisor and chairman of
the Supervisory Committee on January 2024 with effect
from August 2024.

o Mr. LIU Liming has been appointed as a Supervisor and
the chairman of the Supervisory Committee since August
2024.

o Mr. ZHANG Xuefeng has resigned as a Supervisor with

effect from January 2025, and his resignation will become
effective upon the appointment of a new Supervisor to be
elected at the general meeting of the Company.

From 1 January 2024 to the date of this report of Directors,
according to the requirement of Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules, the changes in information of Senior Management are set
out as follows:

o Mr. LIANG Xiuguang has resigned as the deputy general
manager, Secretary of the Board, Joint Comapny Secretary
and authorized representative since October 2024.

° Mr. LI Lijian has served as the deputy general manager
of the Company since September 2024 and has been
appointed as the secretary of the Board, Joint Company
Secretary and authorized representative since October
2024.

o Ms. WANG Jie has been appointed as the secretary of
the discipline inspection committee of the Company since
November 2024.

° Mr. ZHOU Ce has resigned as the Secretary of the discipline
inspection committee of the Company sine November
2024.

o Mr. REN Haitao has been appointed as the deputy general

manager of the Company since November 2024.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 18 October 2023, 26 January 2024, 28 June 2024, 2 August
2024, 4 October 2024, 21 November 2024, 7 January 2025 and 13
January 2025 with respect to the changes in Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management respectively.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management are set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” on pages 121 to 132 of this
annual report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has entered into service contracts with each of the
Directors. According to the Articles of Association, the term of office
is three years. The principal particulars of these service contracts
comprise (a) the term of office commencing from the effective
date of their appointments to the date of the next general meeting
for the re-election of Directors; and (b) termination provisions in
accordance with their respective terms. Service contracts can
be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and
applicable regulations.

Each of the Supervisors has entered into a contract with the
Company in respect of, among other things, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, observations of the Articles of
Association and provisions on arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has
entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management during the Reporting Period are set out in
Notes 9 and 35(d) to the consolidated financial statements and in
the section headed “Remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” under the Corporate Governance Report on
page 109 of this annual report.
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XXIV.INTERESTS OF

XXV.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2024, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance in relation to the Group's business in which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year.

INTEREST OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Directors confirm that, as of 31 December 2024, none of
them had any interest in any business which competes or might
compete, either directly or indirectly, with our principal business.

XXVL.INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

THE DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THECOMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors, Supervisors or
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

E=gHRE(E)

St EEREERRS  RER

SniER

MW2024F12A318 » ARQ7) ~ HER
A E) sk H AT A BB A R 2 BT ) £
REBEBBEHENEARS « THHA
B MARREZEENEFEESBEEE
EEAERS -

O EERREREHER

EEWR  BE2024%F12A8318 K%
MEFERMEEESFEENRES
Fek AT RE B F AT SR A R -

St EE CBEEREFETH

ABRE LT R HAEB
BB - RS
RESHERRRE

M2024%12A31H » RFF  BEEHA
ARIEBITHABBMELEARRRET
fAEEE A B (F & B &S REBEEAIEXV
)RR - ABERDRESTRER TN
IRIEEH R E GG EXVEE T ES D
BEME AN R RERATAERRAR
(BIEREFE S R HAE GO /ZFGEH
EERRAEENERIAR) « HBE
BE N B 5:45) 5 362 16 A B RU AL KT
BECMAESSAE SR BZES
RIS A QR KRR ATRER AR o

2024 FER
AEBRREXEEENERAF

47



REPORT OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

- BRERE)

XXVI. INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF -+t =R FI4ERE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES i mRe
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, M2024F12A318 - BEHEL—U&
having made all reasonable enquiries, the following persons (other BEREREN  TIAL(ZES - &
than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the Company) ERARRAEZTHABRIN BRI M K
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares RGO PR EREES KRB KD
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to EXVEBE2REIDHBRAARRRFEEILLE
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and, which were entered BN AR RREE S KB KA ZE336
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to BREFENZLMAMNERSORE

Section 336 of the SFO:

As at 31 December 2024

12024512831R
Number of Shares/
underlying Shares Percentage in the
directly or indirectly relevant class of Percentage in the
Name of Substantial Shareholder Class of Shares  Capacity held share capital”  total share capital®
ERSBEREN
TERRER Ry &t B/ RERGHE CHBEIRAGEALY  ARAAHEEAL
(Share) (%) (%)
(&)
China Datang Domestic Shares  Beneficial owner 2,343,245,800 100 78.96
HEAE RER EnfERA (Long position)
(f)
Anbang Investment Holdings Co., Limited® H Shares Beneficial owner 120,540,000 19.31 4.06
ZHREERER AR Hi& ExBEEA (Long position)
(i)
Anbang Group Holdings Co. Limited® H Shares Interest in controlled 120,540,000 19.31 4.06
corporation
ZAEEERERAFN Hi& REHEEER (Long position)
(f)
Dajia Life Insurance Co., Ltd.®! H Shares Interest in controlled 120,540,000 19.31 4.06
corporation
ARASRERHEBR AR Hi& REHEEER (Long position)
(i)
Dajia Insurance Group Co., Ltd.® H Shares Interest in controlled 120,540,000 19.31 4.06
corporation
AXRBEEERELARY Hi& REHEEER (Long position)
(fr)
China Chengtong Hong Kong Company H Shares Beneficial owner 61,557,000 9.86 2.07
Limited*
FEFAEAERARY Hi& ExBEEA (Long position)
(i)
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As at 31 December 2024

1820245124318
Number of Shares/
underlying Shares Percentage in the
directly or indirectly relevant class of Percentage in the
Name of Substantial Shareholder Class of Shares  Capacity held share capital”  total share capital®
ERSEEREN
TERRER Ry ER 4 Kt/ EERAHE EEBEAIRAEANY  ARAEHEHHL
(Share) (%) (%)
China Chengtong Holdings Group Ltd. “ H Shares Interest in controlled 61,557,000 9.86 2.07
corporation
HEHAEERERERAAY Hil REHEEER (Long position)
(78)
China Energy Engineering Corporation H Shares Beneficial owner 61,557,000 9.86 2.07
Limited
PR EEREEERAR HE& ExEAA (Long position)
(f72)
State Grid Yingda International Holdings H Shares Beneficial owner 61,467,000 9.85 2.07
Group Ltd.®
BREAEREREEERARS HE& EnEAA (Long position)
(72)
State Grid Corporation of China®! H Shares Interest in controlled 61,467,000 9.85 2.07
corporation
EEEF NS HE& R RS (Long position)
(78)
Three Gorges Capital Holdings Co., Ltd. ©  H Shares Beneficial owner 59,461,000 9.52 2.00
ZREAEREREEARD HE& ExEAA (Long position)
(#8)
China Three Gorges Corporation © H Shares Interest in controlled 59,461,000 9.52 2.00
corporation
FRRI=KEEAR HE& XEsEBER (Long position)
(#8)
China Huaneng Group Hong Kong Limited " H Shares Beneficial owner 49,002,000 7.85 1.65
FREEEEEEERARD Hi& ERBEA (Long position)
(#8)
China Huaneng Group " H Shares Interest in controlled 49,002,000 7.85 1.65
corporation
EEE A UNG U Hi& R A EER (Long position)
(#8)
China Huadian Hong Kong Company Limited® H Shares Beneficial owner 48,628,000 7.79 1.64
PEEEEEERAAY HEk EnERA (Long position)
(#8)
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As at 31 December 2024

12024512F31H

Number of Shares/
underlying Shares
directly or indirectly

Percentage in the
relevant class of

Percentage in the

Name of Substantial Shareholder Class of Shares  Capacity held share capital”’  total share capital®
ERSMEREN
TERRER Ry R L) Kt/ HERAHE EEBERIRAEANY  ARAEHEAHL
(Share) (%) (%)
(&)
China Huadian Corporation® H Shares Interest in controlled 48,628,000 7.79 1.64
corporation
FREFEENA HE& XEEEER (Long position)
(78)
Taiping General Insurance Co., Ltd.” H Shares Beneficial owner 41,038,000 6.57 1.38
ATHERBRERATY HE& ExEAA (Long position)
(72)
China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company H Shares Interest in controlled 41,038,000 6.57 1.38
Limited® corporation
HEALRRERERAA Hil TG EE RS (Long position)
(78)
China Taiping Insurance (HK) Company H Shares Interest in controlled 41,038,000 6.57 1.38
Limited® corporation
FEATREEE(BE)ERARF Hil R AEES (Long position)
(72)
China Taiping Insurance Group Ltd. H Shares Interest in controlled 41,038,000 6.57 1.38
corporation
FEATRREEEREEAR Hil R EEES (Long position)
(78)
China Life Franklin Asset Management Co., H Shares Investment manager 99,827,000 15.99 3.36
Limited
FEASERRMEEERERAT Hi RELE (Long position)
(f72)
China Life Insurance (Overseas) Company ~ H Shares Interest in controlled 41,018,000 6.57 1.38
Limited" corporation
HEASRROSNBRAERAF Hil R AR (Long position)
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As at 31 December 2024

1820245124318
Number of Shares/
underlying Shares Percentage in the
directly or indirectly relevant class of Percentage in the
Name of Substantial Shareholder Class of Shares  Capacity held share capital”  total share capital®
EEDEEREN
IERRER gl &t R/ EERAYE HHEBEEANRAE AL ERAAEF AL
(Share) (%) (%)
(&)
China Life Insurance Company Limited"®  H Shares Beneficial owner 20,407,000 327 0.69
PEASRRROARART Hi& BEBAA (Long position)
(f#)
China Life Insurance (Group) Company™®  H Shares Beneficial owner 38,402,000 6.15 1.29
FEASRR(EE) QA Hi& ERBEA (Long position)
(f#)
Interest in controlled 20,407,000 3.27 0.69
corporation
ZEHEEER (Long position)
(f#)
Interest in controlled 41,018,000 6.57 1.38
corporation
ZEHEEER (Long position)
(i)

Notes: Wit -

(1) The calculation is based on the percentage of shareholding (1) LA 2024F 12 A31H A A&
in a total of 2,343,245,800 Domestic Shares and a total of 3£ 2,343,245,800 it W & B &
624,296,200 H Shares respectively as at 31 December 2024. 624,296,200k HAR I AR 1B 5t &

HEEHHE o

(2) The calculation is based on the percentage of shareholding in (2) LA R 2024 F12 A 31 H A H

a total of 2,967,542,000 Shares as at 31 December 2024. 2,967,542,000/% & B HEE 2
REEGEHE -

(3) Anbang Investment Holdings Co., Limited is a wholly-owned (3) ZHREERBRATALZHEE
subsidiary of Anbang Group Holdings Co. Limited. Anbang ERBRARNEEMBARF © &
Group Holdings Co. Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HEBIERER AR AARAFTR
Dajia Life Insurance Co., Ltd., which is wholly-owned by Daijia BIRNDAERARNEEMB AR -
Insurance Group Co., Ltd. MARASRERDBRAA AKX

RRBREEEGREER AN A
BAT -
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XXVII.

(4) China Chengtong Hong Kong Company Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Chengtong Holdings Group Ltd.

(5) State Grid Yingda International Holdings Group Ltd. is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of State Grid Corporation of China.

(6) Three Gorges Capital Holdings Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Three Gorges Corporation.

(7) China Huaneng Group Hong Kong Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Huaneng Group.

(8) China Huadian Hong Kong Company Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Huadian Corporation.

(9) Taiping General Insurance Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of China
Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited. China Taiping
Insurance Holdings Company Limited is a subsidiary of China
Taiping Insurance (HK) Company Limited, which is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Taiping Insurance Group Ltd.

(10) China Life Insurance (Overseas) Company Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Life Insurance (Group) Company.
China Life Insurance Company Limited is controlled by China
Life Insurance (Group) Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors were not aware of any
persons who had interests and/or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO and which were entered in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

None of the Directors or Supervisors or any of their respective
associates was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire the Shares or debentures of the Company or any
other corporate body, or had exercised any such right.
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XXIX. FINANCIAL, BUSINESS AND FAMILY -+h B -EERSREHEE
RELATIONSHIPS AMONG DIRECTORS, R EBERERERE
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

As at 31 December 2024, there was no financial, business or M2024F12A318 B  EENEH
family relationship among the Directors, Supervisors and Senior BEEMMENK  FHREBR -
Management.

XXX. DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE =t EFERE
As at 31 December 2024, the Company maintained effective M2024%128318 AR A AEEHRR
Directors’ insurance for the Directors. ERMESRR -

XXX. MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS - EEHEW
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not enter HZE2024F12A31BLEFE - AAaFY
into any contract in respect of the management or administration REREBE IR EMERILD EBH
of the entire or any significant part of the business of the Company BEERITRIEERFSIBFEEMELH ©

nor any such contract subsisted.

XXXI. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 212 RER S
During the Reporting Period, the Group has conducted the following WMEBAN - AEBEETTUATEERS:
connected transactions:
1. Non-Exempt Connected Transactions 1. FHREREXH
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company HE2024F12831BLEFE -
did not have any non-exempt connected transactions. RNA B I AR IEER R R ER
% o
2. Exempt Continuing Connected Transaction 2. BERENEERERS
Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the continuing TXHINAEERFEEERS
connected transaction of the Group as set out below is BIE EMARREI4AEER R E
exempt from the requirements of reporting, annual review, ST EMRAFBI14AZETE N FH R
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval W FEES  AERBURRE
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. BOERHRTE ©
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Trademark Licensing Agreement

The Company and China Datang renewed a trademark
licensing agreement on 27 July 2018 (the “Trademark
Licensing Agreement”), with effect from 1 January 2019.
Accordingly, China Datang agreed to grant the Group a
non-exclusive license to use any of certain registered
trademarks owned by China Datang for purposes of
the Group’s production equipment, products, services
and profile documents, as well as using such licensed
trademarks in the Company's business names, trade names
or domain names. The term of the Trademark Licensing
Agreement is three years, which can be renewed upon
agreement by the parties. The trademark license is granted
by China Datang at nil consideration.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not pay any
royalty fees to China Datang for the use of the licensed
trademarks.

In December 2021, the Company and China Datang renewed
the Trademark Licensing Agreement for a term of three
years with effect from 1 January 2022 on substantially
the same terms.

China Datang will remain as a Controlling Shareholder, and
therefore a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. The transaction above is
entered into on normal commercial terms. The Directors
currently expect that the applicable percentage ratios (as
defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) of the above
transaction for the respective years are nil. By virtue of Rule
14A.76(1)(a) of the Listing Rules, the continuing connected
transaction under the Trademark Licensing Agreement is
exempt from the requirements of reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions Exempt from Circular
and Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

Framework agreement under which China Datang Group
leases properties to the Group

The Company and China Datang entered into a property
leasing framework agreement on 1 December 2015 (the
"Property Leasing Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which China Datang Group will lease certain properties
to the Group. The Property Leasing Framework Agreement
is for a term of 20 years and takes effect upon the Listing
and is subject to renewal.

The rental of any leased property shall be ascertained
through negotiation between the Group and China Datang
Group primarily based on the actual costs of the property
and taking into consideration the market price of similar
properties in the same region where applicable and the
relevant depreciation cost. The rental shall be provided as a
fixed amount in the separate lease agreement to be executed
in writing and between the Group and China Datang Group
under the Property Leasing Framework Agreement. If, due
to any change of national policies or market fluctuation that
affects the fairness and reasonableness of the rental of a
leased property under any lease agreement, the Group and
China Datang Group may adjust the rental based on arm'’s
length negotiations with reference to the new market price,
and ensure the compliance with relevant requirements of
the Listing Rules (if necessary).

The transactions under the Property Leasing Framework
Agreement were negotiated on normal commercial terms.
China Datang remained as a Controlling Shareholder, and
therefore a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Property
Leasing Framework Agreement and the transactions
thereunder constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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As the Company and China Datang will continue to conduct
transactions under the Property Leasing Framework
Agreement, on 3 December 2021, the Company discussed
with China Datang and determined on the proposed annual
caps of the transactions under such agreement for 2022 to
2024. Given that one or more of the applicable percentage
ratios (as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) of
the transactions calculated with reference to the relevant
annual caps are more than 0.1% but are all less than 5%,
the transactions contemplated under the Property Leasing
Framework Agreement and the relevant annual caps are
subject to reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements but exempted from independent Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For further details, please refer to the disclosure as set out
in the section headed "“Connected Transactions” of the
Prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated
3 December 2021.

The exempt cap for the year of 2024 for the aforementioned
property rent paid by the Group to China Datang Group and
its associate(s) as approved by the Board was RMB100
million.

The actual total amount of property rent paid by the Group to
China Datang Group and its associate(s) under the aforesaid
agreement in 2024 was RMB18.9 million.

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions subject
to Reporting, Annual Review, Announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

The following transactions are conducted on normal
commercial terms in the daily operations of the Group.
Save as otherwise provided, the Directors currently
expect that each of the applicable percentage ratios (as
defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) of relevant
transactions calculated for the purpose of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules will exceed 5% on an annual basis, and
the annual transaction amount will exceed HK$10 million.
Accordingly, each of such transactions constitutes a non-
exempt continuing connected transaction of the Company
subject to reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Renewed Integrated Product and Service Framework
Agreement between the Group and China Datang Group

On 3 December 2021, the Company and China Datang
entered into a renewed integrated product and service
framework agreement (the “Renewed Integrated Product
and Service Framework Agreement”) which was
approved at the general meeting of the Company and took
effect on 1 January 2022 with a term of three years and
can be extended or renewed for three years as agreed by
both parties. According to the Renewed Integrated Product
and Service Framework Agreement, (i) the Group provides
China Datang Group with products and services including
service provision business such as environmental protection
facility concession operation, water treatment operation
and energy management contracting business, product
business such as the denitrification catalyst business, and
engineering business such as environmental protection
facilities engineering business, renewable energy
engineering and other services; and (ii) the products and
services procured by the Group from China Datang Group
include service procurement business such as operational
ancillary business, technology and information service, and
other services and equipment and raw material procurement
business such as supply of water, electricity and steam,
procurement of equipment and raw materials and other
products and services. For further details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 3 December 2021
and the circular of the Company dated 8 December 2021.

The pricing policies of various products and services are
as follows:

(a) Products and services to be provided by the Group
to China Datang Group

In most circumstances where China Datang Group
purchases products and/or services from the
Group, bidding procedures shall be applied for
the determination of prices. Only in exceptional
circumstances, bidding procedures can be skipped
by China Datang Group. These circumstances
primarily include (a) reoccurrence of lack of sufficient
number of bidders attending the bidding procedure;
and (b) urgent purchase by China Datang Group
that does not allow the bidding procedure to be
completed.
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The pricing policy for service provision business
under the concession operations (desulfurization
and denitrification) services:

The tariff for desulfurized and denitrified electricity
under the concession operation services shall be
determined based on government-prescribed price,
which shall be formulated and adjusted by the
National Development and Reform Commission of
the PRC (the “NDRC"). Provincial environmental
protection administrative department shall send
written document to the provincial pricing department
to implement environmental electricity tariffs
on the coal-fired generating companies installed
with environmental protection facilities from the
approval date of acceptance check on the facilities.
Benchmarking prices including environmental
electricity process issued by the NDRC are
implemented for the entities with synchronized
constructions of new coal-fired generating units
and environmental protection facilities. The price
of byproducts shall be determined based on market
price (which is obtained through quotations from
public market and three independent service
providers through bidding process and other
negotiated prices through market mechanism in
relation to provision of similar types of services
in similar industries, having taken into account
comparable conditions including but not limited to
the technology and quality of the services).

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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The pricing policy for other service provision
business:

The price of the services other than the concession
operation (desulfurization and denitrification) to be
provided by the Group to China Datang Group in
accordance with the Renewed Integrated Product
and Service Framework Agreement shall be
determined based on the bidding results, or if, in
exceptional circumstances, no bidding procedure
is conducted, China Datang Group will search in its
database for projects of similar nature and make
reference to recent bidding prices for comparable
services. Usually, the price is ascertained as the
averaged amount of these recent bidding prices
with reasonable fluctuations. However, if no recent
bidding prices for comparable services can be found
in its database, China Datang Group will make
reference to prices of services of the similar nature
published on official bidding websites operated
by the PRC's government to ascertain the price.
Meanwhile, if no bidding process is conducted, apart
from making reference to prices on official bidding
websites, the Group will also make reference to
the price quotes offered by, or available from,
three third party customers so as to make relevant
comparison with the price quotes offered by China
Datang Group.
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The pricing policy for product business:

In accordance with the Renewed Integrated Product
and Service Framework Agreement, the price for the
products, primarily denitrification catalysts, to be
provided by the Group to China Datang Group will
be determined based on the bidding results, or if,
in exceptional circumstances, no bidding procedure
is conducted, China Datang Group will search in its
database for projects of similar nature and make
reference to recent bidding prices for comparable
products. Usually, the price is ascertained as the
averaged amount of these recent bidding prices
with reasonable fluctuations. However, if no recent
bidding prices for comparable products can be found
in its database, China Datang Group will make
reference to prices of products of the similar nature
published on official bidding websites operated
by the PRC's government to ascertain the price.
Meanwhile, if no bidding process is conducted, apart
from making reference to prices on official bidding
websites, the Group will also make reference to
the price quotes offered by, or available from,
three third party customers so as to make relevant
comparison with the price quotes offered by China
Datang Group.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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The pricing policy for engineering business:

The price for the engineering business will be
determined based on the bidding results, or if, in
exceptional circumstances, no bidding procedure
is conducted, China Datang Group will search in its
database for projects of similar nature and make
reference to recent bidding prices for comparable
products. Usually, the price is ascertained as the
averaged amount of these recent bidding prices
with reasonable fluctuations. However, if no recent
bidding prices for comparable products can be found
in its database, China Datang Group will make
reference to prices of products of the similar nature
published on official bidding websites operated
by the PRC's government to ascertain the price.
Meanwhile, if no bidding process is conducted, apart
from making reference to prices on official bidding
websites, the Group will also make reference to
the price quotes offered by, or available from,
three third party customers so as to make relevant
comparison with the price quotes offered by China
Datang Group.

Products and services to be procured by the Group
from China Datang Group

In most circumstances where the Group purchases
products and/or services from China Datang
Group, bidding procedures shall be applied for
determination of the price. Only in exceptional
circumstances, bidding procedures can be skipped
by the Group. These circumstances primarily include
(a) reoccurrence of lack of sufficient number of
bidders attending the bidding procedure; and (b)
urgent purchase by the Group that does not allow
the bidding procedure to be completed.
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The pricing policy for service procurement business:

In respect of the ancillary services under the
concession operations of desulfurization and
denitrification, the price shall be determined based
on cost of human resources involved, the relevant
management expenses and the maintenance fees of
the equipment of relevant power plants after taking
into account the average level of the industry. If no
bidding process is conducted, apart from making
reference to prices on official bidding websites, the
Group will also make reference to the price quotes
offered by, or available from, third party customers
so as to make relevant comparison with the price
quotes offered by China Datang Group.

The pricing policy for other service businesses:

In most circumstances where the Group purchases
services from China Datang Group, bidding
procedures shall be applied for the determination
of prices. Only in exceptional circumstances, bidding
procedures can be skipped by the Group where the
purchasing price shall be determined by experts of
the Group based on fair market value and historical
records of procurement price.

The pricing policy for supply of water, electricity
and steam:

The price for the products, primarily, water,
electricity and steam, supplied by power plants
under China Datang Group to the Group, will be
determined based on the actual costs which reflect
the market price of water and power for the supply
of water and power by power plants to third-party
desulfurization and denitrification concession
operation service providers per the government's
prescribed requirements.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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The pricing policy for procurement of equipment
and raw materials:

In respect of the procurement of equipment and
raw materials, in most circumstances, bidding
procedures shall be applied for determination of
the price. Such price is the bidding price provided
by the bid-winner. China Datang Group will charge
a fee (the “Service Fee”) not exceeding 6% of
the purchasing price, which shall be determined on
the basis of the actual scope of services provided
by an independent third party service provider and
the pricing standard of the relevant services and
materials. The Service Fee shall be fairly agreed
between the parties and shall not exceed the fee
charged for similar services provided by China
Datang Group to an independent third party or its
affiliated entities. Only in exceptional circumstances,
such as in case of urgent procurement demand
of the Group, bidding procedures can be skipped
by the Group where the purchasing price shall be
determined by experts of the Group based on fair
market value and historical records of procurement
price.

The transactions under the Renewed Integrated Product
and Service Framework Agreement were negotiated on
normal commercial terms. China Datang remained as a
Controlling Shareholder, and therefore a connected person
of the Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.
Therefore, the Renewed Integrated Product and Service
Framework Agreement and the transactions thereunder
constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for the year of 2024 for products and
services provided by the Group to China Datang Group as
approved by the independent Shareholders was RMB8,647
million.

The actual total amount of products and services provided
by the Group to China Datang Group under the aforesaid
agreement in 2024 was RMB4,882 million.

The annual cap for the year of 2024 products and services
procured by the Group from China Datang Group as approved
by the independent Shareholders was RMB2,678 million.

The actual total amount of products and services procured
by the Group from China Datang Group under the aforesaid
agreement in 2024 was RMB1,769 million.
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Renewed Financial Services Agreement between the
Group and Datang Finance

On 3 December 2021, the Company and Datang Finance
entered into a renewed financial services agreement (the
“"Renewed Financial Services Agreement") for a term from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which
Datang Finance has agreed to provide the Group with loan
services, the deposit services (the “Deposit Services"”) and
financial and financing consultation and training services,
transfer and settlement services, insurance agency
services, entrustment loan and entrustment investment
services, note financing services, guarantee services and
underwriting services for the issuance of corporate bonds
to the Group (except for the loan services and the Deposit
Services, together the “Other Financial Services”) subject
to the terms and conditions provided therein. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 3 December 2021 and the circular of the Company
dated 8 December 2021.

Datang Finance has undertaken to provide the
aforementioned financial services to the Group based on
the following pricing principles:

(1) Loan services — Datang Finance, based on the
interest rate quotation of the loan market and taking
into comprehensive considerations of the factors
such as the terms, classifications and industrial
policies, determines the pricing. Under the same
condition, the loan interest rate shall not be higher
than the applicable interest rate for the same type
of loan service provided by state-owned banks to
the Group;

(2) Deposit Services — Under the same condition, the
deposit interest rate provided by Datang Finance to
the Group shall not be lower than the interest rate
for the same type of deposit placed in state-owned
banks by the Group; and

(3) Other Financial Services — Datang Finance provides
other financial services to the Group at the rates
which shall not be higher than those charged by
other financial institutions in the PRC for the same
or similar financial services.

2024 Annual Report
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China Datang is the Controlling Shareholder while Datang
Finance is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of China Datang.
Datang Finance is therefore a connected person of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Renewed Financial Services Agreement
and the transactions thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The loan services to be provided by Datang Finance to
the Group constitutes financial assistance provided by a
connected person for the benefit of the Group. As such
services are on normal commercial terms which are similar
to or more favourable than those offered by independent
third parties for comparable services in the PRC, and no
security over the assets of the Group will be granted
in respect of the loan services, the loan services are
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.90
of the Listing Rules.

As each of the percentage ratio(s) (as defined in Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules) applicable to the Deposit Services is
more than 5%, the Deposit Services are subject to the
reporting, annual review, announcement, and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Further, given that one or more of the
relevant percentage ratio(s) (as defined in Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules) of the Deposit Services is more than 100%,
the Deposit Services constitute a major transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap of the deposit services for the Group's
maximum daily deposit balance (including any interest
accrued therefrom) in Datang Finance for the year of 2024
was RMB4,000 million as approved by the independent
Shareholders. For the year of 2024, the Group’s actual
maximum daily deposit balance (including any interest
accrued therefrom) in Datang Finance according to the
aforesaid agreement was RMB1,740 million.

In respect of the Other Financial Services to be provided
by Datang Finance to the Group, each of the percentage
ratio(s) is below the de minimis threshold set out in Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules, and therefore the provision of
Other Financial Services by Datang Finance to the Group is
exempt from the reporting, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Financial Services Framework Agreement between the
Group and Datang Capital

On 3 December 2021, the Company and Datang Capital
entered into a financial services framework agreement (the
“Financial Services Framework Agreement”). According
to the Financial Services Framework Agreement, Datang
Capital agreed to provide the Company with commercial
factoring service, financial leasing service, entrusted loan
service, asset securitization service, sales and leaseback
service, operating lease, brokerage and consultation service
in relation to transfer of property rights and assets and
bespoke financial service solution. Such agreement shall be
effective from 1 January 2022 and expiring on 31 December
2024. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 3 December 2021 and the circular of
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company dated
8 December 2021.

Datang Capital has undertaken to provide the commercial
factoring service, financial leasing service, and entrusted
loan service to the Group based on the following pricing
principles:

(1) Commercial factoring service under the Financial
Services Framework Agreement

The comprehensive interest rate relating to the
commercial factoring service provided by Datang
Capital to the Group shall be based on fair and
reasonable market pricing and normal commercial
terms. In particular, the rate shall not be higher
than the interest rate level provided via email by
independent third parties to the Group for the same
type of service during the same period or the interest
rate of the same type of service provided by Datang
Capital to third parties with same credit rating.

The annual cap of the commercial factoring service
under the Financial Services Framework Agreement
for the year of 2024 was RMB2,000 million as
approved by the independent Shareholders.

The actual transaction amount of the commercial
factoring service under the aforesaid agreement in
2024 was RMBO.
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Financial leasing service under the Financial
Services Framework Agreement

The rent paid by the Group to Datang Capital includes
(i) procurement costs; and (ii) interests. The relevant
interests are determined based on the benchmark
interest rates for loan as implemented by the PBOC.

The annual caps of the financial leasing service
under the Financial Services Framework Agreement
for the year of 2024 were as follows as approved
by the independent Shareholders:

(i) Maximum daily balances of leasing principal:
RMB1,000 million; and

(ii) Annual interests and other payments -
outstanding interest fee and handling fee:
RMB60 million.

The actual transaction amounts of the financial
leasing service under the aforesaid agreement in
2024 were as follows:

(i) Maximum daily balances of leasing principal:
RMB263.7 million; and

(ii) Annual interests and other payments -
outstanding interest fee and handling fee:
RMB5.4 million.

Entrusted loan service under the Financial Services
Framework Agreement

The entrusted loan interest paid by the Group to
Datang Capital includes (i) procurement costs; and
(i) interests. The relevant interests are determined
based on the benchmark interest rates for loan as
implemented by the PBOC.

The annual cap of the entrusted loan service under
the Financial Services Framework Agreement for
the year of 2024 was RMBO as approved by the
independent Shareholders.
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2024 Annual Report

The actual transaction amount of the entrusted loan
service under the aforesaid agreement in 2024 was
RMBO.

China Datang is the Controlling Shareholder while
Datang Capital is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Datang. Datang Capital is therefore a
connected person of the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the Financial Services Framework Agreement and
the transactions thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Given that one or more of the relevant percentage
ratio(s) (as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing
Rules) of the transactions (including financial leasing
service and commercial factoring service) calculated
with reference to the relevant annual caps under
the Financial Services Framework Agreement are
more than 5%, the Financial Services Framework
Agreement, the transactions thereunder and the
annual caps thereunder are subject to the reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Further, given that one or more of the
relevant percentage ratio(s) (as defined in Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules) of the transactions (including
commercial factoring service, financial leasing
service and entrusted loan service) calculated with
reference to the relevant annual caps under the
Financial Services Framework Agreement exceed
25% but less than 100%, the Financial Services
Framework Agreement and the transactions
thereunder constitute a major transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

In respect of the asset securitization service, sales
and leaseback service, operating lease, brokerage
and consultation service in relation to transfer of
property rights and assets and financial service
solution (the “Other FSFA Financial Services”),
each of the percentage ratio(s) (as defined in Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules) is below the de minimis
threshold set out in Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules, and therefore the provision of the Other FSFA
Financial Services by Datang Capital to the Group
is exempt from the reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
of the Listing Rules.
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Confirmation by Independent Non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
each of the abovementioned continuing connected
transactions conducted in the year of 2024 and confirmed
that:

(1) the transactions stated in the section headed
“Exempt Continuing Connected Transaction” in
this annual report have been generated during the
Group’s ordinary and usual course of business on
normal commercial terms (or more favorable than
normal commercial terms available for the Group),
and the terms governing the transactions under
the agreement are fair and reasonable, and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as
a whole; and

(2) the transactions and annual caps stated in the
section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report have been
generated during the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business on normal commercial terms
(or more favorable than normal commercial terms
available for the Group), and the terms governing
the transactions under the agreement are fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole.

Auditor’s Letter

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditors of the Company, Moore CPA Limited,
to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Based on
its work, Moore CPA Limited has provided the Board with
a letter confirming that, with respect to the continuing
connected transactions conducted in the year of 2024 stated
in the sections headed “Exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” and “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report:
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(1) nothing has come to the auditor’'s attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board;

(2) for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to
the auditor’'s attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group;

(3) nothing has come to the auditor's attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

(4) with respect to the aggregate transaction amounts
of each of the continuing connected transactions,
nothing has come to the auditor's attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual
cap of each of the continuing connected transactions
set by the Company.

Related Party Transactions

Please refer to Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report for details of the significant
related party transactions prepared in accordance with
the IFRS. For the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions pursuant to the requirements of
the Listing Rules, please refer to the disclosure as set out
in the above section headed “Connected Transactions” in
this report of Directors. Except for those disclosed in the
section headed “Connected Transactions” in this report of
Directors, the other related party transactions as disclosed
in Note 35 are not considered as connected transactions, or
are exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.
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XXXll. COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION

AGREEMENT

The Company entered into the non-competition agreement with
China Datang on 1 December 2015 (the “Non-Competition
Agreement”). Under the Non-Competition Agreement, China
Datang irrevocably undertook in the Non-Competition Agreement
that, other than the Retained Business (as defined in the Prospectus),
China Datang and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group and listed
entities under China Datang and their respective subsidiaries)
did not, during the term of the Non-Competition Agreement, and
would procure their close associates not to, directly or indirectly,
engage in, individually or jointly, with other entities, or assist to
engage in or participate in any business which competes with Our
Principal Business (as defined in the Prospectus). Furthermore,
China Datang undertook to grant an option to the Company to
acquire new business opportunities that may compete, directly
or indirectly, with Our Principal Business, an option to acquire
and a right of first refusal with regard to the Retained Business
and/or the New Competing Business in the future (as defined in
the Prospectus).

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
reviewing and determining whether to accept such new business
opportunity provided by China Datang or its associates by taking
into consideration factors such as geography and compatibility of
business nature of such new business opportunity to the Group's
strategy and prospect.

During the Reporting Period, there was no new business opportunity
provided by China Datang or its associate(s) in accordance with
the Non-Competition Agreement.

The Company has received the confirmation letter from China
Datang, which confirmed that, in 2024, China Datang was in
compliance with all undertakings and provisions under the Non-
Competition Agreement.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
implementation of the Non-Competition Agreement and confirmed
that China Datang has been in full compliance with the Non-
Competition Agreement and there was no breach by China Datang.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEES BENEFIT
SCHEME

Details of the Company's retirement and employees benefit scheme
are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

As a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
the Company strives to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Save as disclosed in this annual report, for
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
"Code"”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Please
refer to the Corporate Governance Report as set out on pages 75
to 114 of this annual report for details.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and so far
as the Directors are aware, 21.04% of the issued share capital of
the Company was held by the public as at the Latest Practicable
Date, which was in compliance with the requirements and public
float waiver approved by the Stock Exchange under the Listing
Rules. For details of the public float waiver, please refer to the
section headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing
Rules” in the Prospectus.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

Save as disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, as at 31 December 2024, the
Group was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration. So
far as the Directors are aware, no such material litigation or claims
are pending or threatened against the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group’s 2024 annual results and the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 prepared
in accordance with the IFRS have been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”).
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XXXIX. AUDITORS =+ R EED
On 29 May 2024, Moore CPA Limited and Da Hua CPAs (Special 2024658298 « REFHEZZETAD
General Partnership) were re-appointed as the international and EBFBRARIEREGHASEK(E
domestic auditors of the Company, respectively, at the general BREBRAEIRARBBRRERESHHIEE
meeting of the Company, with a term of one year. Moore CPA B AR R B RIBAZEA - (£
Limited and Da Hua CPAs (Special General Partnership) have HAE—F  ARESKEESHMEBKAE
audited the consolidated financial statements set out in this annual RARIRRESHMEFMSEKRERE
report, which have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS and BEEHNAFHRAEF S BHRE - &
PRC GAAP, respectively. 53 Il 2 AR B % B 765 e o5 R R R o (B 1 2

SRIEARE -

Pursuant to the relevant requirements of the Ministry of Finance of RIFPEAREIMBEGRITFIEE R
the People’s Republic of China and the SASAC, the service terms BRAEX  RKGETMEBHARLKE
of Ernst & Young and Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP expired at the BHEdMmEFUEREBE %) MRS
conclusion of the 2021 annual general meeting of the Company BRARG2021FERRAFRESE

(30 June 2022). The appointments of Moore CPA Limited and Da F5 (202266 A30R)EM ° ARRIZE
Hua CPAs (Special General Partnership) as the international and AESHESFREHBMER A ALK
domestic auditors of the Company were approved at the 2021 ZHMEBMERERERE) BRE
annual general meeting of the Company. MIERNZEBEE EARR2021 FERER

BEREHAE -

XL. FINANCIAL SUMMARY Bt MBHE
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the REEEHZE2024F12831BIEREASFE
Group for the five years ended 31 December 2024 is set out on M¥E  BERBEREIHIRAFER
pages 5 to 6 of this annual report. KESE =568 -

XLI. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES m+- SR RIS
Except for the disclosure of newly adopted accounting policies RMEA - BRARFEHRE G5 wRM
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual F2 AN SR ECRBE RN - NAF]
report, there were no changes in accounting policies of the RESETERITEEE - SEHBURFIRE
Company during the Reporting Period. Details of the accounting RAERE FH B wEMEI R4 -

policies are set out in Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

XLIl. MATERIAL CONTRACTS m+= EXEH

Save as the above and as disclosed in the section headed MN2024%F - R EXRRAEZTSREH
“Connected Transactions” in this report of Directors, none of the ERG |t EE 2N - AARIHEMF
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into material contracts Al — R BB A B A AR AR AR BR sk H
with the Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries other A —KBRAEB 2B A RE =
than the Group, nor was there any material contract between the AER - BAREEW N FEEERKR
Group and the Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries HEER—REAEE 25N B R A
other than the Group in relation to provision of services in 2024. ZEREREHEMNERER -
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XLIl. EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

XLIV. RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

XLV. SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of significant events affecting the Group after the Reporting
Period are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

By order of the Board
ZHU Liming
Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has always been committed to improving corporate
governance since its establishment. According to the provisions
of the Code, it has established a modern corporate governance
structure comprising a number of independently operated bodies
including the general meetings, the Board, the Supervisory
Committee and the Senior Management in order to provide an
effective check and balance. The Company has also adopted the
Code as its own corporate governance practices.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company was not involved
in any material litigation liable by any Director. Each Director has
the necessary qualifications and experience required for performing
his duty. The Company has purchased liability insurance for the
Directors.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had been in
compliance with the principles and code provisions contained in
Part 2 of the Code. Corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company are outlined as follows:

BOARD

The Board carries out its duties and exercises its powers in
accordance with the Articles of Association and in the best
interest of the Company and its Shareholders. It reports and is
held accountable to the general meetings, and implements the
resolutions thereof.

1. Composition of the Board

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Board consisted of
nine Directors, including one executive Director, five non-
executive Directors (including one employee representative
Director) and three independent non-executive Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors as at the Latest
Practicable Date are set out on pages 121 to 132 of this
annual report. There are no relationships (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships)
between members of the Board. The structure of the
Board is well balanced, with each Director equipped with
profound knowledge, experience and expertise relevant
to the Company’s business operation and development.
All Directors are well aware of their joint and individual
responsibilities toward the Shareholders.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Board has always
been abiding by the requirements of the Listing Rules
regarding the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors and that independent non-executive
Directors shall represent at least one-third of the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors and Independence
Assessment Mechanism of the Board

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant
role in the Board as they bring an impartial view on the
Group's strategies, performance and control, as well as
ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are considered.
Allindependent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
academic, professional qualifications or related financial
management experience. None of the independent non-
executive Directors held any other offices in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of
the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for maintaining high standards of supervision of the
Company, balancing the powers of the Board and exercising
effective and independent judgement on company actions
and operations. The Company has developed a mechanism
to ensure that independent views and opinions are available
to the Board. All independent non-executive Directors have
devoted sufficient time to attending all the Board meetings
and/or all the Board Committee meetings which he/she is a
member and have shared their views and opinions through
the meetings. Chairman of the Board also had a private
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors to listen the independent
views on issues concerning the Group during the Reporting
Period. Upon reasonable request, independent professional
advice would be provided to the independent non-executive
Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company. The Board has conducted its annual review and
confirmed that implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanism for the independent non-executive Directors
in providing independent opinions and advice to the Board
for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
independent non-executive Directors are made available
to the Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board
are committed to assessing the Directors’ independence
annually with regards to all relevant factors related to
the independent non-executive Directors including the
following:

o required character, integrity, expertise, experience
and stability to fulfill their roles;

o time commitment and attention to the Company’s
affairs;

o firm commitment to their independent roles and to
the Board,;

o declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as

independent non-executive Directors;

o no involvement in the daily management of the
Company nor in any relationship or circumstances
which would affect the exercise of their independent
judgement; and

o the Chairman meets with the independent non-
executive Directors regularly without the presence
of the executive Directors.

The qualifications of the three independent non-executive
Directors are in full compliance with the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2), 3.10A and 19A.18(1) of the
Listing Rules. In addition, the Company has received annual
confirmations issued by each independent non-executive
Director as to their respective independence. Therefore,
the Company still considers that each independent non-
executive Director is independent from the Company under
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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Current members of the Board are listed in the following

EESBEKBIIRET ¢

table:

Name Position Date of appointment

HE B ESZMEAS

ZHU Liming Chairman of the Board December 2022

SRAIEA BEER 2022412 A
Executive Director December 2022
WMITES 2022512 R
Acting general manager September 2023
RIBgansse 20239 A

XU Chun Non-executive Director August 2024

(= FEHMITEF 20244 8A

PANG Xiaojin Non-executive Director August 2024

FEBEE FEHITEF 20244 8A

XIA Huaixiang Non-executive Director August 2024

ERE FEHITEF 20244 8A

CHU Hongbo Non-executive Director August 2024

EHOR FEHITES 2024F8 A

WANG Mi Non-executive Director (employee representative  January 2025

Director)

S FRMTEE(RIRKES) 20251 A

SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin Independent non-executive Director August 2024

FIRE BUIFHTES 202448 A

MAO Zhuanjian Independent non-executive Director June 2015

EEE BUIEHTES 20156 A

HU Yunging Independent non-executive Director August 2024

HREE BUIEHTES 20248 A

2. Board Meetings EFTES

According to the Articles of Association, the Board is
required to hold Board meetings at least four times each
year, and Board meetings shall be convened by the chairman
of the Board. Notices of regular Board meetings shall be
dispatched at least 14 days in advance. A quorum for the

Board meeting can be formed by half or more than half of
the Directors attending the meeting. Directors may attend
the Board meeting in person or appoint other Directors as
his proxy pursuant to certain requirements. Except for the
circumstances provided in the Articles of Association where
the Board considers connected transactions, resolutions
of the Board shall be passed by more than half of all the
Directors. The secretary of the Board is responsible for
preparing and keeping minutes of Board meetings and
making sure that such minutes are available for reference
by any Director.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board held 11 meetings,
details of which are set out as follows:

The twenty-second meeting of the third session of
the Board was held on 22 March 2024, at which (1)
the Work Report on the Board of the Company for
2023; (2) the Work Report on the General Manager of
the Company for 2023; (3) the Resolution regarding
the Independent Auditor’s Report, Audited Financial
Statements, Results Announcement and Annual
Report of the Company for 2023; (4) the Report
on the Final Financial Accounts of the Company
for 2023; (5) the Financial Budget Report of the
Company for 2024; (6) the Resolution regarding the
Re-appointments of the International and Domestic
Auditors of the Company for 2024, (7) the Report on
Remuneration of Directors of the Company for 2023;
(8) the Report on Remuneration of Management
Members of the Company for 2023; (9) the
Resolution regarding the Final Accounts of Total
Employee Wages and Labor Costs of the Company
for 2023 and the Budget Plan for Total Employee
Wages for 2024; (10) the Resolution regarding the
Investment Plan of the Company for 2024; (11)
the Resolution regarding the Financing Plan of the
Company for 2024; (12) the Resolution regarding
the Bank Comprehensive Credit of the Company for
2024; (13) the Report on the Use of Raised Fund of
the Company; (14) the Work Report on the Legal,
Compliance, Internal Control, Self-examination and
Comprehensive Risk Assessment of the Company
for 2023; (15) the Resolution regarding the
Connected Transactions of the Company for 2023;
(16) the Resolution regarding the Amendments to
the Investment Management Measures of Datang
Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.; and (17) the
Resolution regarding the Convening of the Annual
General Meeting of the Company for 2023 were
considered and approved.
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The twenty-third meeting of the third session of
the Board was held on 26 April 2024, at which,
among others, (1) the Resolution regarding the
Profit Distribution Plan for 2023 and the Proposed
Distribution of 2023 Final Dividend of the Company;
and (2) the Resolution regarding the Issuance of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for 2023 were considered and approved.

The twenty-fourth meeting of the third session of
the Board was held on 28 May 2024, at which
the Resolution regarding the Amendments to
the Articles of Association of the Company was
considered and approved.

The twenty-fifth meeting of the third session of
the Board was held on 13 June 2024, at which the
Resolution regarding the Application for Issuance
of Corporate Bonds in China and Application for
Relevant Authorization to the General Meeting was
considered and approved.

The twenty-sixth meeting of the third session of
the Board was held on 28 June 2024, at which
(1) the Resolution regarding the Amendments
to the Administrative Measures for Connected
Transactions of the Company; (2) the Resolution
regarding the Amendments to the Implementation
Plan for Deepening and Upgrading the Reform of
the Company (2023-2025); and (3) the Resolution
regarding the Nomination of Candidates for Directors
of the Fourth Session of the Board of the Company
were considered and approved.

The twenty-seventh meeting of the third session
of the Board was held on 5 July 2024, at which
the Resolution regarding the Convening of the First
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company for
2024 was considered and approved.

The first meeting of the fourth session of the
Board was held on 2 August 2024, at which (1) the
Resolution regarding the Election of the Chairman
of the Fourth Session of the Board of the Company;
(2) the Resolution regarding the Appointment of
Members of the Specialized Committees of
the Board; and (3) the Resolution regarding the
Appointment of Authorized Representative of the
Company were considered and approved.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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The second meeting of the fourth session of the
Board was held on 30 August 2024, at which (1)
the Resolution regarding the Interim Financial
Statements, Results Announcement and Interim
Report of the Company for 2024; (2) the Resolution
regarding the Interim Profit Distribution Plan for
2024 and the Proposed Distribution of 2024 Interim
Dividend of the Company; (3) the Resolution
regarding the Performance Appraisal Result and
Remuneration Allocation Plan for the Management
Members of the Company for 2023; and (4) the
Resolution regarding the Convening of the Second
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company for
2024 were considered and approved.

The third meeting of the fourth session of the Board
was held on 27 September 2024, at which (1) the
Resolution regarding the Reform and Adjustment
Plan of the Industrial and Organizational Structure
System of the Company; (2) the Resolution regarding
the Appointment of Deputy General Manager of
the Company; and (3) the Resolution regarding the
Appointment of the Secretary of the Board, Joint
Company Secretary and Authorized Representative
of the Company were considered and approved.

The fourth meeting of the fourth session of the
Board was held on 21 November 2024, at which
(1) the Resolution regarding the Appointment of
Deputy General Manager of the Company; and (2)
the Resolution regarding the Amendments and
Adjustments to the Tenure System and Contractual
Management of the Management of the Company
for 2022 to 2024 were considered and approved.

The fifth meeting of the fourth session of the Board
was held on 5 December 2024, at which (1) the
Resolution regarding the Renewal of the Integrated
Product and Service Framework Agreement with
Datang Group; (2) the Resolution regarding the
Renewal of the Financial Services Agreement with
Datang Finance; (3) the Resolution regarding the
Renewal of the Financial Services Agreement with
Datang Capital Holding; (4) the Resolution regarding
the Renewal of the Trademark Licensing Agreement
with Datang Group; (5) the Resolution regarding the
Determination of the Annual Caps for the Land Use
Right and Property Leasing Framework Agreement
with Datang Group; and (6) the Resolution regarding
the Convening of the Third Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Company for 2024 were considered
and approved.
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Attendance/Number of

Name Position meetings held

" Btz HE EERBIRE

ZHU Liming Chairman of the Board, executive Director and acting 11/11
general manager

RAEA EER  STESAARELAKLE

SHEN Zhen" @ Former Non-executive Director 0/6

FREAM @ RIZERITES

WANG Jungi® Former Non-executive Director 6/6

F &R RIFERITES

WU Daging® Former Non-executive Director 6/6

RREC RIFERITES

CHEN Kan® Former Non-executive Director 6/6

RO RIFERITES

SONG Yunpeng Former Non-executive Director (employee 11/11
representative Director)

REN RIFEMITESE(BINRKRES)

YE Xiang” Former Independent non-executive Director 6/6

M-3R AIB Y IEMITES

GAO Jiaxiang” Former Independent non-executive Director 6/6

[SEX= AIB Y IEMITES

XU Chun® Non-executive Director 5/5

RED HEMITES

PANG Xiaojin® Non-executive Director 5/5

REBEE® HEMITES

XIA Huaixiang® Non-executive Director 515

Bl HEMITES

CHU Hongbo® Non-executive Director 5/5

Ry G HHITES

WANG Mi Non-executive Director (employee representative 0/0
Director)

EE FEMITEF(BIRKRES)

SUEN Chun Hung, Independent non-executive Director 5/5

Benjamin®

HRiRB® B IERITES

MAO Zhuanjian Independent non-executive Director 11/11

EHE B IEITES

HU Yunging" Independent non-executive Director 5/5

HHEFY B IERMITES
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Notes:

(1) Mr. SHEN Zhen did not attend six of the meetings due
to business travel.

(2) Mr. SHEN Zhen resigned as a non-executive Director

with effect from 2 August 2024.

(3) Mr. XU Chun, Mr. PANG Xiaojin, Mr. XIA Huaixiang
and Mr. CHU Hongbo were appointed as non-executive
Directors with effect from 2 August 2024, while Mr.
WU Daging, Mr. CHEN Kan and Mr. WANG Jungi retired
from the positions on the same date.

(4) Mr. SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin and Ms. HU Yunging
were appointed as independent non-executive Directors
with effect from 2 August 2024, while Mr. YE Xiang
and Mr. GAO Jiaxiang retired from the positions on the
same date.

Powers and Responsibilities of the Board
and the Management

The powers and responsibilities of the Board and the
management of the Company are specified in the Articles of
Association, providing a sufficient balanced and restrained
mechanism for corporate governance and internal controls.

The Board shall be responsible for and shall have general
power to manage and develop the Company’s business.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the functions and
duties of the Board include, among other things, convening
general meetings and reporting the Board’s work to the
general meetings, implementing the resolutions of the
general meetings, determining business plans, investment
plans, detailed annual business objectives of the Company
and financing plans other than by ways of issue of corporate
debentures or other securities and of listing, formulating
annual budget, final accounts, profit distribution plan and
plan for recovery of losses, proposals for increase or
reductions of the Company's registered capital and the
issue of corporate debentures or other securities and listing.
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The Board is responsible for the Company's corporate
governance. The Company has formulated its corporate
governance policy pursuant to the requirements of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Board performed its duties according
to the corporate governance policy of the Company. In
2024, the Board mainly reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policy and practices, reviewed and monitored
the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and Senior Management, reviewed and monitored
the Company’s policy and practices in respect of compliance
with laws and regulatory regulations, developed, reviewed
and monitored the code of conduct and compliance manual
for employees and Directors, and reviewed the Company's
compliance with the Code and the disclosures made in the
Corporate Governance Report.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the Joint
Company Secretaries, with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense, upon making a request to the Board.

The management of the Company, led by the general
manager of the Company, is responsible for implementing
all the resolutions issued by the Board and organising
management of the Company's day-to-day operation.

2024 Annual Report
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Chairman and the General Manager

The positions of the chairman of the Board and the general
manager of the Company (i. e. chief executive officer under
the terms of the Listing Rules) of the Company are held
by different persons in order to ensure independence,
accountability of their respective functions and balanced
distribution of power and authority between them.

During the period from January 2024 to December 2024,
Mr. ZHU Liming served as the chairman of the Board.

During the period from January 2024 to December 2024,
Mr. ZHU Liming took the duties and responsibilities as the
acting general manager.

During the period when Mr. ZHU Liming, the chairman of
the Board of the Company, performed the duties of the
acting general manager, notwithstanding the deviation from
code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the supervision of the
Board (then comprising one executive Director, five non-
executive Directors (including one employee representative
Director) and three independent non-executive Directors)
was sufficient to ensure a proper structure of checks and
balances of power and to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The chairman of the Board, who led the Board, decided on
the Company's overall development strategies, ensured the
effective operation of the Board, performed his bounden
duties, and brought all important matters to discussion in
a timely manner, ensuring that the Company had in place
good corporate governance practices and procedures and
that the Board acted in the best interests of the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole. The general manager of the
Company was mainly responsible for the overall business
operation and management of the Company.
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5. Appointment, Removal and Re-election of

Directors

As provided in the Articles of Association, Directors are
elected by general meetings for a term of three years
and are eligible for re-election and re-appointment. The
Company has implemented a set of effective procedures
regarding the appointment of new Directors in the Articles
of Association. The nomination of new Directors is firstly
discussed by the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) which then submits its
recommendation to the Board, and is subject to approval
via the election in general meeting.

The Company has entered into service contracts with all
its Directors (including non-executive Directors) for a term
commencing from the date of appointment to the date of
the next general meeting for the re-election of Directors
and subject to termination in accordance with the terms
under respective service contracts.

Board Diversity
Board Perspective

The Company believes that the increasing diversity at the
Board level is one of essential elements in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. Therefore, the Company formulated board
diversity policy in October 2016 (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). While determining the composition of the Board,
the Company shall consider the diversity of the Board
from various perspectives, including, without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision of the Board will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will
report the composition of the Board at the diversity level in
the annual report each year, and monitor the implementation
of this policy. The Nomination Committee will review this
policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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The existing Directors, who are different from each
other in background, can deliver corporate governance
on a supplement basis and promise a relatively complete
corporate governance system. The Board's nomination
policy is still being refined and we will select qualified
candidates who meet those needs in line with our growing
business requirements to support our Company's future
development.

In August 2024 and January 2025, the Company subsequently
appointed two Directors of a different gender to increase
the proportion of its female members, with the ultimate goal
of achieving gender parity in the coming years. The Board
will continue to identify potential successors to the Board
to achieve gender diversity by screening and nominating
such candidates through the Nomination Committee.

Employee Perspective

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s total number of
employees (including Senior Management) is 979, of which
711 employees are male, accounting for approximately
72.6%, and 268 employees are female, accounting for
approximately 27.4%. Most of the in-service employees
were men primarily due to that most of the candidates
were men subject to the industry nature of the Company.
However, the Company aims to refrain from any form
of harassment and discrimination with respect to age,
gender, race, nationality, religion, marital status or disability
in the workplace via implementation of human resources
management policy and ensure that every employee is
treated equally and fairly. The Company also ensures that
the Company will promote gender diversity in middle and
senior employees’ recruitment and provide them with more
appropriate on-the-job training, so as to provide a pipeline
for female management and have potential successors to
the Board in the near future.

Remuneration of Directors

Remuneration of Directors is reviewed by the remuneration
and evaluation committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration and Evaluation Committee”) and the
Board in accordance with criteria such as qualification,
working experience, working performance, positions and
market conditions, and determined by the general meeting
based on criteria such as qualification, working experience,
working performance, positions and market conditions.
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8. Training for Directors and Joint Company
Secretaries

(1)

2024 Annual Report

Training for Directors

All Directors always attend to the Directors’ duties
and personal integrity, and the business activities
and developments of the Company. In 2024, the
Directors had been updated on a monthly basis
with information relating to the performance,
state of affairs and prospects of the Company.
In addition, the Company provided Directors with
the latest developments in the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory regulations from time to
time, to make sure the Directors were able to keep
making contribution to the Board with extensive
information and appropriate expertise.

Compliance training for Hong Kong listed company
was provided by Zhong Lun Law Firm LLP, the then
legal advisor of the Company as to Hong Kong laws,
to Directors and management of the Company during
the Reporting Period (the “Compliance Training").

In 2024, all Directors attended the continuous
professional development programme, developed
and refreshed their knowledge and skills to ensure
their continuing contribution to the Board with
complete information and expertise as needed.

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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BERN2024FEETHE
FIEBWT

Trainings received by all Directors during the year
2024 are as follows:

Name Position Training topics
A B v EEE

ZHU Liming Chairman of the Board, executive Director and Compliance Training

acting general manager

SRFIEA EER  WTEERREBAKE AR

SHEN Zhen" @ Former Non-executive Director Compliance Training
RO HIZEMITES SRE

WANG Jungi® Former Non-executive Director Compliance Training
FER HIZEMITES SR

WU Daging® Former Non-executive Director Compliance Training
RRE® RIZEMITES SRR

CHEN Kan® Former Non-executive Director Compliance Training
PR AIZEMITES SRR

SONG Yunpeng

Former Non-executive Director (employee
representative Director)

Compliance Training

REM AIFFITEE (B IRKRES) SRE
YE Xiang® Former Independent non-executive Director Compliance Training
-2 AN IEMITES SRR
GAO Jiaxiang* Former Independent non-executive Director Compliance Training
SES: A IEMITES A REI
XU Chun Non-executive Director Compliance Training
& FEMITES SRRE
PANG Xiaojin Non-executive Director Compliance Training
RS EWITES SR
XIA Huaixiang Non-executive Director Compliance Training
BB EWITES SRR
CHU Hongbo Non-executive Director Compliance Training
1EHOR EWITES SR
WANG Mi Non-executive Director (employee representative Compliance Training
Director)
F5 EMITEF(BITKKRES) SRRE
SUEN Chun Hung, Independent non-executive Director Compliance Training
Benjamin
HIR% BN IEHITES ARIE

MAO Zhuanjian
EHE

HU Yunging
HRES

Independent non-executive Director
BUIFHTES
Independent non-executive Director

BYIFNTES

Compliance Training
BRE
Compliance Training
S RE
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(2) Training for Joint Company Secretaries

The Company appointed Mr. LI Lijian as the Joint
Company Secretary in October 2024. In compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. LI Lijian, the
Joint Company Secretary, had undertaken relevant
professional trainings of not less than 15 hours for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company appointed Mr. LEUNG Chi Kit
(manager of the listing services department of TMF
Hong Kong Limited) as the Joint Company Secretary
in May 2022. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, Mr. LEUNG Chi Kit had undertaken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings
for the year ended 31 December 2024. His primary
internal contact in the Company is Mr. LI Lijian.

Directors’ Liability Insurance and the
Permitted Indemnity Provisions

The Company has always been in strict compliance with
the principles and requirements of the Listing Rules. As at
31 December 2024, the Company was not involved in any
material litigation liable by any Director. Each Director has
the necessary qualifications and experience required for
performing his duty. The Company has purchased liability
insurance for Directors.

The permitted indemnity provisions of the Company are
set out in article 162 of the Articles of Association. The
Directors, Supervisors, general manager of the Company
and other Senior Management may be relieved of liability for
specific breaches of his duty with the informed consent of
Shareholders given at an annual general meeting except for
certain circumstances set out under article 59 of the Articles
of Association. Such permitted indemnity provisions are
currently in force at the time of approval of this annual
report.

2024 Annual Report
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PROFESSIONAL COMMITTEES
UNDER THE BOARD

There are four professional committees under the Board, including
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee and strategy and investment committee
(the “Strategy and Investment Committee”).

1. Audit Committee

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee
consisted of three Directors, including two independent
non-executive Directors, Ms. HU Yunging and Mr. SUEN
Chun Hung, Benjamin, and one non-executive Director,
Mr. CHU Hongbo. Ms. HU Yunging currently serves as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include,
among other things, the following:

o To examine the accounting policies and practices
regarding the preparation of financial statements
of the Company;

o To monitor the preparation process of periodic
financial reports and examine the periodic financial
reports, financial results and relevant information
disclosed in other announcements;
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To evaluate the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control framework, to consult with the
management regarding the scope and quality of
the internal control system, and to ensure that
the management has performed their duties for
ensuring the internal control system being effective,
including whether the following are sufficient: the
resources required, qualifications and experiences
of such accounting and financial reporting staff,
and the training program and budget for relevant
employees;

To examine the internal investigation results and
responses from the management with respect to any
and all suspected dishonest acts, non-compliance
incidents, absence of internal control or suspected
violation of laws, regulations and rules;

To review and monitor the scope, effectiveness
and results of the functions of internal audit, to
ensure the mutual coordination between the internal
and the external auditor(s), and to ensure that the
functions of internal audit can be provided with
sufficient resources and are in the appropriate
position within the Group;

To review the financial and accounting policies and
practices of the Group;

To consult with the external auditor(s) for any
recommendations arising from audit works; to
review such management proposal submitted by
auditor(s) to the management regarding the audit
status; to check any material questions regarding
the accounting record, financial account or control
system put forward to the management by the
accounting firm, the feedback of the management
or other correspondence documents; and to ensure
effective communication between the independent
accountants and the management;

To ensure that the Board can timely respond to
the issues to be put forward in the management
proposal prepared by the external auditor(s);

To understand the internal control and related
process implemented by the management and
guarantee that such financial reports and statements
obtained from the existing financial system are
in compliance with the relevant standards and
requirements and are examined, verified and
approved by the management;

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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To check and examine the following arrangements
made by the Company: the employees of the
Company may secretly raise concerns in relation
to possible occurrence of inappropriate actions in
respect of financial reporting, internal control or other
aspects; to ensure that appropriate arrangements
will be made to conduct fair and independent
investigation and appropriate action will be adopted
regarding such matters; and

To report to the Board regarding the matters
concerning the provisions of the Code.

B REBREAREREDN
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held four WEHA - B e e XEHAM
meetings, details of which are set out as follows: RE&%  BEFBHINT

The ninth meeting of the third session of the Audit
Committee was held on 22 March 2024, at which,
among others, (1) the Resolution regarding the
Independent Auditor's Report, Audited Financial
Statements, Results Announcement and Annual
Report of the Company for 2023; (2) the Report
on the Final Financial Accounts of the Company
for 2023; (3) the Financial Budget Report of the
Company for 2024; (4) the Resolution regarding
the Re-appointments of the International and
Domestic Auditors of the Company for 2024; (5) the
Resolution regarding the Connected Transactions
of the Company for 2023; (6) the Work Report
on the Legal, Compliance, Internal Control, Self-
examination and Comprehensive Risk Assessment
of the Company for 2023; and (7) the Corporate
Governance Report of the Company for 2023 were
considered and approved; and (8) the report on the
audit of the financial statements of the Company
for 2023 was heard.

The tenth meeting of the third session of the Audit
Committee was held on 26 April 2024, at which
the Resolution regarding the Profit Distribution Plan
for 2023 and the Proposed Distribution of 2023
Final Dividend of the Company was considered and
approved.
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The first meeting of the fourth session of the Audit
Committee was held on 30 August 2024, at which,
among others, (1) the Resolution regarding the Interim
Financial Statements, Results Announcement and
Interim Report of the Company for 2024; and (2) the
Resolution regarding the Interim Profit Distribution
Plan for 2024 and the Proposed Distribution of 2024
Interim Dividend of the Company were considered
and approved.

The second meeting of the fourth session of the
Audit Committee was held on 5 December 2024, at
which, among others, (1) the Resolution regarding
the Renewal of the Integrated Product and Service
Framework Agreement with Datang Group; (2) the
Resolution regarding the Renewal of the Financial
Services Agreement with Datang Finance; (3) the
Resolution regarding the Renewal of the Financial
Services Agreement with Datang Capital Holding;
(4) the Resolution regarding the Renewal of the
Trademark Licensing Agreement with Datang Group;
and (5) the Resolution regarding the Determination
of the Annual Caps for the Land Use Right and
Property Leasing Framework Agreement with
Datang Group were considered and approved.

The record of attendance is set out as follows:

20248 A30H £175H M
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o BRkMbEEG B

1E) (MR A RE2024F
ERHRBERE  EZHER
HERFPEREREE) (2
(B A F]2024 4 FF H3FI
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2024 FF EARR B HIRE R )°

2024F 12 ASHBRITHMN
EEBHZESEFEF_-_ARE
#o BakMbE(EeE
) (AR EXEEBE
FRAE R REGIESR
Tﬁ% ZIMEE),(2) KR
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BIRRZR)

FEOECHEAT

Number of
attendance/required

Member number of attendance
RE HERE FEHERE
GAO Jiaxiang 2/2
SEX

YE Xiang 2/2
M

CHEN Kan 2/2
BRAT

HU Yunging (Chairman of the Audit Committee)

HHES(BHEEGERE) 2/2
SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin

FIR% 2/2
CHU Hongbo

HEHOR 2/2
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Nomination Committee

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Nomination Committee
consisted of three Directors, including two independent
non-executive Directors, Ms. HU Yunging and Mr. MAO
Zhuanjian, and one executive Director, Mr. ZHU Liming.
Mr. ZHU Liming currently serves as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

(1) The main duties of the Nomination Committee
include, among other things, the following:

° To put forward a proposal regarding the
structure of the Board, its scale and
composition (including expertise, knowledge
and experience) to the Board based on the
Company's operational activities, asset scale
and equity structure;

° To study the standards and procedures
for the election of Directors and Senior
Management, and to put forward relevant
proposals to the Board;

° To extensively identify candidates qualified
for Directors and Senior Management;

° To investigate the candidates for Directors
and the candidates for Senior Management
and submit relevant proposals;

o To review and make recommendations on the
appointment of other Senior Management
that needs to be brought to the attention of
the Board,

° To evaluate the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and

° To submit proposals regarding the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors,
and the succession plan of Directors (and
in particular the chairman and the chief
executives) to the Board.
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(2) The process of the Nomination Committee to elect (2) RAZESEEERSAE
Directors and Senior Management is as follows: BEMNRERFA

96
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The Nomination Committee shall
communicate with relevant departments of
the Company and understand the demand
for new Directors and Senior Management
and present such information in writing;

REZBEHAR
AIERBRFIETR
w o R A R A
HHEZ &
EEEMFELRE
R WK ER
M

The Nomination Committee may extensively RBEZLZEgAHT

seek for candidates for Directors and Senior KAA - ER(Z

Management within the Company, its %) 1 3= R ER LA K

controlling companies (associates) and the A THEEZE

human resources market; EEENANER
BAE

The Nomination Committee shall gather
information as to the occupation, academic
qualifications, title of the position, detailed
work experience and all the concurrent
positions of the candidates and present such
information in writing;

The nominee shall not be deemed as the

REZBSHEY)
BEAMBE . 2
[ 4 = 1
BWIERRE - 2
HRBEBR
R EmmME

RAZBSERK

candidate for Director or Senior Management R AEREEHR

unless his/her consent for nomination is B BATEES

obtained by the Nomination Committee; HEREERER
BEEAE

The Nomination Committee shall convene
a meeting to review the qualifications of

BHRERREEE

# REBEEFER

the candidates in accordance with the AR E )
requirements for Directors and Senior B - HEA
Management; BETERES
The Nomination Committee shall make EEBHNES
suggestions to the Board regarding the e =R E R
candidates for the Director and Senior BRi+X ME
Management position and submit relevant EEREEERERE
information to the Board ten days prior to the A= REEE &
election of new Directors and appointment B ARREZETEA
of new Senior Management; and ME &

The Nomination Committee shall carry RIRE £ & REM
out other follow-up work according to the REEE REITHAM

decision of and feedback from the Board.
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Nomination policy:

The terms of paragraphs (1) and (2) above are the
main standards and principles to be considered
in the nomination of Directors and constitute the
nomination policy of the Company. During the
Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held
four meetings, details of which are set out as
follows:

o The fifth meeting of the third session of
the Nomination Committee was held on 22
March 2024, at which (1) the Resolution

RABBR -

B (1) R (2) B e R R
RRABIRZEERMEE
MEERERRA - XHE
AR BIEBER o
SR RERESAR
MREH - BREFSET
LU

. 2024F3H22H 4
TEZmRRESR

& 55 Sy
EREhXE:

regarding Composition of the Board and Bk EBR
the Implementation of the Board Diversity (1) CFEM2023F =
Policy of the Company for 2023; and (2) the NGIE =3 - I
Resolution regarding Independence of the BEEGKEZ T
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the BERBMITIE AR
Company were considered and approved. ) RKERA
AIEVIEHITES
B ERERER) ©

° The sixth meeting of the third session of
the Nomination Committee was held on
22 March 2024, at which the Resolution

. 20245322 H 4
AE=ZERRESR

A S A N AN
SENNDFE

regarding the Nomination of Candidates Haa Lt ERBER
for Directors of the Fourth Session of the (ARREBARE
Board of the Company was considered and MNEESEEEk
approved. AR -

° The first meeting of the fourth session of ° 2024F9H27H &
the Nomination Committee was held on 27 TENEREEE
September 2024, at which the Resolution EE—RE:E
regarding the Nomination of Candidate for Ham R ER R
Deputy General Manager of the Company (EARIEE R A
was considered and approved. RIS NRENE

EJX

o The second meeting of the fourth session
of the Nomination Committee was held on
21 November 2024, at which the Resolution
regarding the Nomination of Candidate for

. 202411 /218
RITENERS
E R

& EaRiE

Deputy General Manager of the Company AR REER

was considered and approved. BB 4E TR AERY
EER
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The record of attendance is set out as SHEFEDEOT
follows:
Number of

attendance/required
Member number of attendance
j74=] HEREEHERE
ZHU Liming (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) 4/4
KAAREEEEERF)
GAO Jiaxiang 2/2
SEX:
MAQO Zhuanjian 4/4
EEZ
HU Yunging
HAEB 2/2
The Board Diversity Policy is set out in the EFEREEZTILBERE

section headed “Board Diversity” under the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 86
to 87 of this annual report.

3. Remuneration and Evaluation Committee 3.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Remuneration
and Evaluation Committee consisted of three Directors,
including two independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin and Mr. MAO Zhuanjian, and
one non-executive Director, Mr. CHU Hongbo. Mr. SUEN
Chun Hung, Benjamin currently serves as the chairman of
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

The main duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee include, among other things, the following:

° With respect to the policy and structure of
remuneration regarding the Directors and Senior
Management and the establishment of such official
and transparent procedures for formulating such
remuneration policies, to make recommendations
to the Board;
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To review and approve the proposal on the
remuneration of the Senior Management based on
the corporate principles and goals set by the Board;

REES=SMRI ¥
X B ZEmias Rt ES &
EIE R Hr B

To determine the specific remuneration packages EreBiTEERaR
of all executive Directors and Senior Management, BEEENRSEEHMNFE -

including but not limited to basic salary, share
options and non-monetary interests, pension
and bonus, and indemnified amount (including
the indemnification for the loss or termination of
position or appointment);

To advise the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

To take consideration of the remuneration paid by
comparable companies, such time commitment
required by the Directors, scope of duties of the
Directors, employment conditions for other positions
within the Group, and whether the remuneration
shall be determined based on the performance
thereof;

To review and approve such compensation required
to be paid to executive Directors and Senior
Management due to the loss or termination of
their positions or appointment, in order to ensure
that such compensation shall be determined
pursuant to the relevant contractual terms. Should
such determination fail to be made pursuant to
the relevant contractual terms, such compensation
should be fair and reasonable and not excessive;

To review and approve such compensation
arrangements involving the termination of
employment or dismissal of the relevant Directors
due to the inappropriate act of such Directors, in
order to ensure that such arrangements shall be
determined pursuant to the relevant contractual
terms. Should such determination fail to be made
pursuant to the relevant contractual terms, such
relevant compensation should also be reasonable
and appropriate;

To ensure that no Directors nor any associates would
determine their own remuneration by themselves;
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o To examine the performance of duties by Directors
(non-independent Directors) and Senior Management
and conduct annual performance appraisal regarding
such Directors and Senior Management; and

o To study share incentive schemes.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee held three meetings, details of which
are set out as follows:

o The seventh meeting of the third session of the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee was held
on 22 March 2024, at which (1) the Resolution
regarding the Report on Remuneration of Directors
of the Company for 2023; and (2) the Resolution
regarding the Report on the Remuneration of
Management Members of the Company for 2023
were considered and approved.

° The first meeting of the fourth session of the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee was
held on 30 August 2024, at which the Resolution
regarding the Performance Appraisal Results and
Remuneration Distribution Plan for Management
Members of the Company for 2023 was considered
and approved.

o The second meeting of the fourth session of the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee was held
on 21 November 2024, at which the Resolution
regarding the Revision and Adjustment to Tenure
System and Contractual Management Context for
Management Members of the Company from 2022
to 2024 was considered and approved.
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The record of attendance is set out as follows:

ﬁé hk;E#&CJ<w\>

SRHFELRENT

Number of
attendance/required

Member number of attendance

ME HERE R

YE Xiang Al

33

MAOQO Zhuanjian 3/3

EER

WU Daging 11

RRE

SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin (Chairman of the Remuneration and

Evaluation Committee)

BRI (FMEEREZE S EfE) 2/2

CHU Hongbo

HEHOR 2/2
Strategy and Investment Committee 4. HREARSER®

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Strategy and Investment
Committee consisted of one executive Director, one non-
executive Director and one independent non-executive
Director including Mr. ZHU Liming, Mr. XIA Huaixiang and
Mr. MAO Zhuanjian. Mr. ZHU Liming currently acts as the
chairman of the Strategy and Investment Committee.

The main duties of the Strategy and Investment Committee
include, among other things, the following:

° To study and advise on the strategic plans for the
long-term development of the Company;

o To study and advise on the material investment and
financing proposals required to be approved by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association;

o To study and advise on the material capital operation
and asset operational projects that are required to
be approved by the Board pursuant to the Articles
of Association;
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Aam BRTEE - —HEH
TEER—R2BIUFATESH
W'@%%ﬂ%%i B
REREHERZSLE - BARFBSL
ARIBRERKEZSSTIFR
BREKREZEENTIERER
(ERBE) AT HIA :

C HARBRPERBER
BEITHI IR R

. HRRERAERARES
EHENERRERES
RETHRAIR B ES

c HRRERAERARES

SHENEREREE
BEKLEIER ETHRL
REERZ

2024 FFH

AEBRREXEEENERAF

/ “
P 4 7

101



102

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EERRE(E)

o To consider the investment and acquisition
development strategies and the annual investment
plans of the Company;

o To consider the Company's project evaluation
system, which includes effective evaluation
institutions and professionals, complete evaluation
procedures, reasonable evaluation criteria and other
factors;

o To consider and determine the acquisition and
disposal of projects within the scope as authorized
by the Board;

o To study and advise on the material issues that may
impact the Company’s development;

o To carry out examination and checking over the
above-mentioned matters; and

o To carry out other matters authorized by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Strategy and Investment
Committee held two meetings, details of which are set
out as follows:

o The eleventh meeting of the third session of the
Strategy and Investment Committee was held
on 22 March 2024, at which (1) the Resolution
regarding the 2024 Investment Plan of the
Company; (2) the Resolution regarding the 2024
Financing Plan Proposal of the Company; (3) the
Resolution regarding the 2024 Financial Institutions’
Comprehensive Credit of Company; and (4) the
Resolution regarding the Investment Management
Measures of Datang Environment Industry Group
Co., Ltd. were considered and approved.

° The twelfth meeting of the third session of the
Strategy and Investment Committee was held on
13 June 2024, at which the Resolution regarding
the Application for Issuance of Corporate Bonds
Domestically and the Application for Relevant
Authorization to the General Meeting by the
Company was considered and approved.
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The record of attendance is set out as follows:

rEERRE(E)

SRHFELRENT

Number of
attendance/required

Member number of attendance
2 4= HEREEHERE
ZHU Liming (Chairman of the Strategy and Investment Committee) 2/2
RAA(EERELZESEE)

MAOQO Zhuanjian 2/2
EHZ2

XIA Huaixiang

Blgr 0/0
WANG Junqi 2/2
F &R

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Supervisory Committee
consisted of three Supervisors, one of whom is an employee
representative Supervisor, including Mr. LIU Liming, Mr. ZHANG
Xuefeng and Ms. LUO Li. Mr. ZHANG Xuefeng resigned as a
Supervisor in January 2025. His resignation will become effective
upon the appointment of the new Supervisor to be elected at the
general meeting of the Company.

The functions and duties of the Supervisory Committee include
but not limited to reviewing the Company's financial reports,
supervising the performance of the Company's duties of the
Directors and Senior Management and proposing the dismissal
of the Directors and Senior Management who are in breach of laws
and regulations, the Articles of Association or the resolutions of
the general meeting, requiring Directors, the general manager of
the Company and other Senior Management to rectify any actions
which impair the interests of the Company, proposing to convene
the extraordinary general meetings, convening and presiding over
the general meeting in the event that the Board fails to perform
its duties to convene and preside over the general meetings in
accordance with the laws, putting forward proposals to the general
meetings and reviewing the periodic report prepared by the Board
and putting forward written opinions on audit.

Each term of office of a Supervisor is three years and he/she
may serve consecutive terms if re-elected. A Supervisor shall
continue to perform his/her duties in accordance with the laws,
administrative regulations and the Articles of Association until
a duly re-elected Supervisor takes office, if re-election is not
conducted in a timely manner upon the expiry of his/her term of
office or if the resignation of Supervisors results in the number
of Supervisors being less than the quorum.

EEg

REBATEHY  EEgm=-RESA
BR(EdR—Z B TRRES)BEIN
BAAAE - REBIBLAEMEF L - RE
I 55 A 7R 2025F 1 ABHEE S - HEHT
BRARRREASERELANTAEE
EREZTBER -

EEenBEkBERREATRR &
MARBFHBRE  HESRSRE
BEHNITARABBNTAETERL
HWERARZEE  RARERIBRRD
RENEERSREEEBREERNE
FOBEEE - ARRAKEMEMSH
EEEMITRABEARR AWM F =R EK
HFPLAUIE  REAFABRRERRERE -
EEEETRITARRENBEMER
RREAEBEFEEMEFRERE -
MBERERASIRLIER  HEE2RED
RAREHREETENVIREEESE

AAERE -

EETRENA=F  ARBEEE -
i B2 S EHIE M 1R R B S 1T R -
FEFRTEREFTAHIRIAEA
2 AIESEARERE  TBUARMAR
ERMNAEEERTHRE  HEEERX
EEENEE FERIE -

2024 FER
AERREXEERHERAF

103



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
TRE/RRE (E)

i3
b=1113

%0 A

During the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee held five WMEHRR EEEHBITARE
meetings, details of which are set out as follows: N

104

The sixth meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 22 March 2024, at which, among
others, (1) work report of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company for 2023; (2) resolution regarding the independent
auditor’s report, audited financial statements, results
announcement and the annual report of the Company
for 2023; (3) report on the final financial accounts of the
Company for 2023; (4) final budget report of the Company
for 2024; (5) resolution regarding the reappointment of the
domestic and international auditors of the Company for 2024;
(6) resolution regarding the connected transactions of the
Company for 2023; (7) work report on the legal, compliance,
internal control, self-examination and comprehensive risk
assessment of the Company for 2023; (8) report on the
use of raised fund of the Company; and (9) report on the
remuneration of Supervisors of the Company for 2023 were
considered and approved.

The seventh meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 26 April 2024, at which the resolution
regarding the profit distribution plan of the Company for
2023 and the proposed distribution of 2023 final dividend
was considered and approved.

The eighth meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 28 June 2024, at which the
resolution regarding the nomination of candidates for
supervisors of the fourth session of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company was considered and approved.

The first meeting of the fourth session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 2 August 2024, at which the
resolution regarding the election of the chairman of the
fourth session of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company was considered and approved.

The second meeting of the fourth session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 30 August 2024, at which the
resolution regarding the interim financial statements,
results announcement and interim report of the Company
for 2024 was considered and approved.
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The record of attendance is set out as follows:

rEERRE(E)

SR EREmT

Number of
attendance/required

Member number of attendance
5= HEREEHERE
LIU Liming (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee) 2/2
MR (BEE g /%)

LUO Li 5/5
R

ZHANG Xuefeng 5/5
REIE

HUANG Yuan (Former chairman of the Supervisory Committee) 3/3

BR(AEESEF)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board has acknowledged its responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024. The Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources
to continue its business for the foreseeable future, and are not
aware of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is
responsible for presenting a clear and understandable assessment
of the annual and interim reports, inside information, price sensitive
information and other disclosures as required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The management of the
Company has provided such explanation and information to the
Board as necessary to enable the Board to make an assessment
of the financial information and status of the Group before giving
its approval. The Group is not exposed to any material uncertainty
that may exert significant impact on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

FOR DEALING IN THE SECURITIES OF

THE COMPANY BY ITS DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Group has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
for dealing in the securities of the Company by all Directors,
Supervisors and relevant employees of the Company (as defined in
the Model Code). According to the specific enquiries to all Directors
and Supervisors, the Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they
had strictly complied with the standards set out in the Model Code
for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Board will examine
the corporate governance and operation of the Group from time
to time to ensure that the Group is in compliance with relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules and that the Shareholders’
interests are safeguarded.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company has established complete and stable risk management
and internal control systems, and has formulated a series of rules
to ensure that the Company’s risk management and internal
control work are institutionalized and systematic. The Company
has 11 functional departments responsible for works including
financial operation and monitoring, risk management, internal audit
and antifraud, in which the work related to risk management
and internal control shall be carried out by the legal risk control
department. The Company has set up the comprehensive risk
management leading group and office, which are responsible for
risk management and internal control related work. The Company
also establishes full-time risk management positions. The general
manager of the Company holds the post of the group leader.
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The Group will carry out risk assessment at the beginning of
each year, set objectives of risk prevention and control, revise
risk assessment standards, collect risk management information,
identify key risk sources, assess risk levels, develop risk prevention
strategies and improvement measures for major risks (including
ESG risks), ensuring which are to be carried out by the functional
departments. The work report of risk control of the Company shall
be submitted to the Audit Committee of the Board for consideration
in March annually. The Company focuses on the prior control of
major risks, actively carries out comprehensive risk management,
establishes and improves the normalization mechanism of risk
assessment, and establishes special risk assessment system
for important matters such as significant domestic and foreign
investment, major capital operation and management of large
amounts of capital use in order to strengthen internal control. The
Company has formulated the “Information Disclosure Management
System”, which stipulates the duties and obligations of various
departments in the process of internal information processing, the
procedures for the disclosure of periodic reports and interim reports,
and the confidential measures and corresponding responsibilities.

In case of inside information, all business management departments
of the Company shall fill in the Inside Information Registration Form
immediately and file it with the Company's inside information
management department. The registration and filing materials
of insiders should be kept for at least 10 years. The Company
should also make the memorandum on the progress of material
matters such as acquisition, major asset restructuring, issuance of
securities, merger, spin-off and share repurchase, including but not
limited to the time of various key nodes in the course of planning
and decision-making, list of personnel participating in planning and
decision-making, and the means of planning and decision-making.
The relevant personnel involved in the memorandum should sign
on the memorandum for confirmation. If any insider violates
the system and discloses the Company’s inside information, or
uses the Company's inside information for insider dealing, or
suggests others to use the inside information for trading which
cause serious impact and losses to the Company, the Company
may, according to the seriousness of the circumstances, impose
disciplinary sanctions to such person and may investigate his/her
corresponding legal liabilities. In the event of causing material
losses to the Company constituting a crime, such person shall
be transferred to the judicial authority for criminal responsibility
according to law.
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The Board is responsible for overseeing and maintaining a proper
risk management and internal control system to safeguard the
Shareholders’ investments and the Company's assets and with
the support of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness
of such system on an annual basis. The risk management and
internal control system is designed to identify, assess and report on
potential risks and implement control measures, to mitigate rather
than to completely eliminate the risks associated with achieving our
business objectives, and to provide a reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducted its annual review on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group,
including financial control, operation control, compliance control,
and risk management system, and was not aware of any material
problems or any material mistakes. The Board reviewed and
believed that the current monitoring systems of the Company
are effective and adequate. The Board has also believed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programme and budget of the Company's accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions as well as those relating to
the Company’s ESG performance and reporting, and considers the
above resource components to be adequate.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Moore CPA Limited and Da Hua CPAs (Special General Partnership)
(collectively, “Moore"”) were appointed as international and
domestic auditors of the Company to audit the financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 prepared in
accordance with IFRS and the PRC GAAP, respectively. Aggregate
fees paid by the Company in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by Moore for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
RMB2.26 million and nil, respectively.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

A formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration
packages of individual Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
is in place. The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee is
responsible for formulating and reviewing the remuneration policies
and plans of the Directors, Supervisors, the general manager of the
Company and other Senior Management, and shall be accountable
to the Board. In particular, the Directors’ remuneration policy of
the Group is determined by the qualifications and contributions of
individuals to the Group. Details of the remuneration for Directors,
Supervisors and five highest paid employees are set out in Notes
9, 10 and 35(d) to the financial statements in this annual report.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the scope of remuneration
for the Senior Management is set out below:

rEERRE(E)

EF  EERER
ETHEEHH

RAARMETHERNES EERafk
ERENFHETBETE EARBHNE
FF-SMEEREZECRENTERED
BEE EE  AQFAKEREMSHR
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Pi3E9 - 10%35(d) » B E2024F12 31
BIEFE  aREEENT MBS
AT

Number of Senior

Scope of remuneration (RMB'000) Management
FMEE(ARETT) SREEEA
0-500 4

500-1,000 6

Note: The number of the members disclosed above includes the
Senior Management and those who act as executive Directors
and Supervisors.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company held a total of four
general meetings, with attendance of Directors as follows:

+. BREX®

WEHAR - ARBHBTIRBRAE -
EFHFERRERSERMAT

Number of attendance/
required number of

Name Position attendance

HE Bz HERE R RE

ZHU Liming Chairman of the Board, executive Director and acting 4/4
general manager

SRAEA EER  WTESEAREBAELE

SHEN Zhen™ Former non-executive Director 0/2

ERERm RIZERITES

WANG Junqi Former non-executive Director 1/2

FHERK RIFEMITES

WU Daging Former non-executive Director 1/2

RRE RIFEMITES

CHEN Kan Former non-executive Director 1/2

BRAT RIFEMITES

SONG Yunpeng Former non-executive Director 4/4
(employee representative Director)

REMS AIFEMITER (B IRRES)

YE Xiang Former independent non-executive Director 1/2

=) RIS IENTTES

GAO Jiaxiang Former independent non-executive Director 1/2

SEX: RIS IENTTES

XU Chun Non-executive Director 2/2

"E EMITES

PANG Xiaojin Non-executive Director 2/2

FEBEE FEITES

XIA Huaixiang Non-executive Director 2/2

BiErr EMITES

CHU Hongbo Non-executive Director 2/2

HEHOR FEMITES

WANG Mi Non-executive Director (employee representative 0/0
Director)

F5 FMTEE(RIRKRES)

SUEN Chun Hung, Benjamin Independent non-executive Director 2/2

FRIRE B IERMITES

MAO Zhuanjian Independent non-executive Director 4/4

EEE BUIEHTES

HU Yunging Independent non-executive Director 2/2

HREE BUIEHTES

Note: Bifet -

(1) Mr. SHEN Zhen did not attend two of the meetings due to (1) Eﬁfﬁﬁilﬂi}%ﬁ%ﬂi%tﬂﬁqﬂﬁﬁ

business travel. Sk

INE R
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XI.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has highly appreciated Shareholders’ opinions and
advice, actively organised various investor relations activities
to maintain connections with Shareholders and made timely
responses to the reasonable requests of Shareholders.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to enable Shareholders
to share in the Company'’s profits while ensuring sufficient reserves
are retained for the Group’s future growth.

The Articles of Association provide that dividends may be paid by
cash and/or stock. Any proposed distribution of dividends shall be
formulated by the Board and subject to Shareholders’ approval.
The amount of dividends actually declared and paid will depend
on a number of factors, including our general business condition,
results of operations, our financial results/condition, our working
capital, our capital requirements, our future prospects, our cash
flows and any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.
The dividends shall be paid every year in principle. The Board
may decide to distribute a mid-year dividend after considering
relevant factors.

Subject to the above factors and our Articles of Association, it is
expected that the profit to be distributed as dividend every year
will be no less than 50% of the distributable profit, subject to the
approval by the Shareholders at the Shareholders’ meeting for each
year. The Company’s post-listing distributable net profit after tax
will be the lower of (i) the net profit determined in accordance with
the accounting rules and regulations of the PRC, and (ii) the net
profit determined in accordance with the IFRS. The declaration and
payment of dividends is also subject to any legal restrictions and
future financing arrangements that the Company may enter into.

-

rEERRE(E)

B AR SR A0

ARARSEERBRERNBERNES - &
BHESBREERFRLY - BRERER
FAE  MREEEERNAERXK -

B BB R

ARAREHEBRBRE  EESHES
HEAHZARRB RN - RERETEZ
REEERAEERIIER -

RAIERBMEATUNRS MR TR
B -BRKEEAHEFTSHENE - X
AREBERIE - BRE IR LKA IR
EEBBF—RIEEME - BEAR
ABEREMN - KEXRE BBX
BORR - EEES  BABRK - RXK
i HeREREZSRRBEENE
MEMER - RAE—FKE—R - &
e AEZEMABTEMNEREEIRT
HARLE, -

ELiRZRARERRST AR
AEASRERRRESFRRAS M
o D IRA DR K A B F B A
50%ERAE - AAR EmEANIKE
RIERBLIRFE AE A ()VRIEH Bl &5+ R
EREEFMNE - Ei)REBEER T
BELEAAETFNENRESE - BE
B E o RS IR TR ER B R X B
BAIRERT LM BB T HEPTARAR -

2024 FER
AERREXEERHERAF

m



12

CORPORAWEGOVERNANCEFEPORT(CONWNUED)

i

/\-/1— \

/D# (?U

Shareholders’ Rights

The Board is committed to communicating with Shareholders
and makes disclosure in due course about the Company’s
major developments to Shareholders and investors of the
Company.

The general meeting of the Company provides Shareholders
and the Board with good communication opportunities. A
twenty business days' prior written notice for convening
the annual general meeting of the Company shall be given.
A ten business days or fifteen days’ (whichever is longer)
prior written notice for convening the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company shall be given. Business day
refers to the day on which the Stock Exchange is open for
securities trading. The date of the general meeting and the
date when the notice is dispatched shall not be included in
the calculation of the period for issuing such notice.

The Company's general meetings include annual general
meetings, which are held once each year within 6 months
from the close of the preceding financial year, and
extraordinary general meetings, which are convened in
compliance with the Articles of Association and whenever
the Board considers appropriate. Shareholders, individually
or jointly, holding a total of more than 10% (inclusive) of the
Company's issued and outstanding Shares carrying voting
rights are entitled to request in writing for convening an
extraordinary general meeting pursuant to the procedures
set out in the Articles of Association, and such meetings
shall be held within 2 months after the requisition is
presented.

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at the
general meetings may raise their hands and speak in the
order of registration at any time after the resolutions to be
considered at the meeting are announced. The Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management shall respond to the
questions and suggestions from Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The chairman of the Board and the chairmen of all
committees under the Board (or, in whose absence, other
members of the committees) will answer question(s) at
the general meetings. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, any
vote of Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken
by poll. Poll results are deemed resolutions of the meeting.

The Board encourages Shareholders to attend general
meetings to communicate directly concern(s) they may
have with the Board or the management of the Company.
Shareholders holding 3% or more of the Company’s Shares
with voting right have the right to put up ad hoc proposals
in writing to the Company, and the Company shall include
such ad hoc proposals into the agenda for such general
meeting if they are matters falling within the functions and
powers of general meeting. The ad hoc proposals raised
by Shareholders shall satisfy the following requirements: (i)
free of conflicts with the provisions of laws and regulations,
and fall into the terms of reference of the general meeting;
(i) with definite topics to discuss and specific matters to
resolve; and (iii) submitted or served to the Board in writing
10 days prior to the date of the general meeting.

Detailed voting procedures and resolutions being voted on
by way of poll are contained in the circulars dispatched to
Shareholders.

Shareholders’ Inquiries

If you have any query in connection with your shareholdings,
including share transfer, change of address or wish to
report loss of shares or dividend warrant, please write to or
contact the Company's H Share Registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at:

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8555

Fax: (852) 2865-0990

Enquiries: www.computershare.com/hk/en/online_feedback
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3. Investor Relations and Communications

The Company set up a website at www.dteg.com.cn, as
a channel to promote effective communication, publishing
announcements, financial information and other relevant
information of the Company. Shareholders are welcome
to make enquiries by mail directly to the Company at its
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The Company will
deal with all enquiries in a timely and appropriate manner.
The primary contact of the Company is Mr. WANG Xiaofeng
(at email: ir@dteg.com.cn or tel: +86 10 5838 9858).

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy of
the Company, and considered that the current shareholders’
communication policy has been effectively implemented
through the above channel and approach.

CHANGE OF CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

With the special resolution passed at the annual general meeting
held on 28 June 2024, the Company has amended the articles
of association of the Company (the “Previous Articles"”), the
amendments to which were effective from 28 June 2024. For
details of the amendments to the Previous Articles, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 28 June 2024, the
circular of the Company dated 29 May 2024, and the latest Articles
of Association published on the website of the Stock Exchange.

Save for the amendments to the Previous Articles disclosed above,

the Company has not made any significant changes to the Articles
of Association during the year and up to the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENT

As of the date of this annual report, the Group had no significant
events after the Reporting Period that needs to be disclosed.
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EVENTS RELATING TO INVESTOR
RELATIONS IN 2024

1. Investors’ Routine Visits

During the Reporting Period, the Group always gave detailed
answers to the queries raised by investors and analysts in
compliance with the information disclosure rules. As at the
end of 2024, the Company had adequate communications
and exchange of ideas with investors and analysts from a
number of institutions via meetings, telephone calls, emails
and WeChat.

2. Participation in Investment Summits

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively participated
in major summits and investment forums in the PRC and
Hong Kong organised by world-famous investment banks,
at which we had one-on-one or group meetings to promote
in-depth communication with important global investors.

3. Results Briefings

During the Reporting Period, the Company published its
2023 annual results and 2024 interim results. In March
2024, the management of the Company convened the
2023 annual results presentation and the on-site conference
with investors. In August 2024, the management of the
Company held the 2024 interim results presentation and
the conference call with investors.

OUTLOOK FOR MANAGEMENT OF
INVESTOR RELATIONS IN 2025

In 2025, the Company will focus more on demands of investors
and analysts, pay close attention to important policies of the
environmental protection and energy conservation industry, timely
make public disclosable information and continuously improve
the timeliness and completeness of data disclosure to provide
the public with timely access to complete business information.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
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In 2024, all members of the Supervisory Committee earnestly performed
their supervisory obligations to safeguard the rights and interests of
the Group and the Shareholders in accordance with the Company Law,
the Articles of Association, the Rules of Procedures of the Supervisory
Committee and the relevant provisions in the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN COMPOSITION

Mr. ZHANG Xuefeng resigned as a Supervisor in January 2025.
His resignation will become effective upon the appointment of the
new Supervisor to be elected at the general meeting to be held
by the Company to fill the vacancy in the position of Supervisor
after the resignation of Mr. ZHANG. Mr. ZHANG will continue to
perform his duties as a Supervisor in accordance with the applicable
laws, regulations and the provisions of the Articles of Association
before his resignation becomes effective. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 7 January 2025 with
respect to resignation of Supervisor.

Mr. LIU Liming serves as a Supervisor and Chairman of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company since Augst 2024.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report, there were no other changes in the member
of the Supervisory Committee of the Company.

MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE

During the Reporting Period and as at the Latest Practicable Date,
the Supervisory Committee held five meetings, details of which
are set out as follows:

o The sixth meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 22 March 2024, at which, among
others, (1) work report of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company for 2023; (2) resolution regarding the independent
auditor’s report, audited financial statements, results
announcement and the annual report of the Company
for 2023; (3) report on the final financial accounts of the
Company for 2023; (4) the final budget report of the Company
for 2024; (5) resolution regarding the reappointments of the
international and domestic auditors of the Company for 2024;
(6) resolution regarding the connected transactions of the
Company for 2023; (7) work report on the legal, compliance,
internal control, self-examination and comprehensive risk
assessment of the Company for 2023; (8) report on the
use of raised funds of the Company; and (9) report on the
remuneration of Supervisors of the Company for 2023 were
considered and approved.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

o The seventh meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 26 April 2024, at which the resolution
regarding the profit distribution plan of the Company for
2023 and the proposed distribution of 2023 final dividend
was considered and approved.

o The eighth meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 28 June 2024, at which the
resolution regarding the nomination of candidates for
supervisors of the fourth session of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company was considered and approved.

o The first meeting of the fourth session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 2 August 2024, at which the
resolution regarding the election of the chairman of the
fourth session of the Supervisory Committee of the
Company was considered and approved.

o The second meeting of the fourth session of the Supervisory
Committee was held on 30 August 2024, at which the
resolution regarding the interim financial statements,
results announcement and interim report of the Company
for 2024 was considered and approved.

PRINCIPAL INSPECTION AND
SUPERVISION WORK OF THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE IN 2024

B Members of the Supervisory Committee carried out
supervision and inspection of the financial position of the
Company and its financial management, risk management
and internal control systems, including regular inspections
of the financial reports and financial budgets and irregular
reviews of accounting documents and books of the
Company.

2. Members of the Supervisory Committee attended all general
meetings and Board meetings without voting rights during
the Reporting Period, exercising supervision in respect of
the lawfulness and compliance of the procedures of the
matters considered by the Board meetings.

3, The Supervisory Committee made no objection to the
reports and resolutions tabled at the general meetings and
were convinced that the Board had faithfully implemented
the resolutions approved by the general meetings.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
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IV. INDEPENDENT OPINIONS ISSUED
BY THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
ON RELEVANT MATTERS
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Operation and Management of the
Company

During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained a
stable development in its general operation, and achieved a
breakthrough in the business segments such as denitrification
catalysts and water treatment. The management of the
Company attached great importance to safety management
and ensured smooth situation in production safety, actively
promoted technological innovation and achieved a series of
research outcomes, vigorously developed external markets
and expanded client bases significantly and continuously
improved the level of management in core business.
The management of the Company faithfully fulfilled their
duties and responsibilities as stipulated in the Articles of
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Association and earnestly implemented the resolutions g
approved by the Board.
Financial Position of the Company ELRFIMBER

Members of the Supervisory Committee monitored and
examined the financial management system and the financial
condition and reviewed relevant financial information of the
Company. Upon examination, the Supervisory Committee
concluded that the Company had strictly complied with the
relevant financial laws, regulations and financial policies,
and that the financial management system was sound and
implemented effectively and the accounting treatment was
in line with the consistency principles and the Company’s
financial reports gave an objective and fair view of the
financial position and operating results of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee reviewed the standard and
unqualified audit opinion issued by Moore CPA Limited
in respect of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 prepared
in accordance with IFRS, and raised no objection to such
reports.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Connected Transactions

The Supervisory Committee reviewed the connected
transactions between the Group and its respective
connected persons during the Reporting Period, and was
of the opinion that all the connected transactions complied
with the relevant requirements of the Stock Exchange and
other applicable laws, and that the pricing of the connected
transactions was reasonable, open and fair and there was
not any matter prejudicial to the interests of the Company
or Shareholders as a whole.

Implementation of the Resolutions of
General Meetings

The Supervisory Committee considered that the Board
earnestly implemented the resolutions approved by the
general meetings; the Company further perfected and
improved various risk management and internal control
mechanisms; significant information about the Company
was disclosed in a timely manner pursuant to the securities
regulatory requirements such that the information was
disclosed in a regulated manner and the securities trading
system for the informed parties of inside information was
conducted well; that the Directors and Senior Management
were able to implement conscientiously and thoroughly
relevant laws and regulations, the Articles of Association
and the resolutions of the general meetings and the
Board, performing the duties to the Company in a faithful,
and pioneering manner; and that no Directors or Senior
Management were found to have acts which violated laws,
regulations or the Articles of Association or harmed the
interests of the Company and the rights or interests of
Shareholders during the execution of their duties.

Internal Control of the Company

The Supervisory Committee made a special explanation
of the Company's internal control. It was of the view
that the Company abode by the basic principle of internal
control based on its development strategies and regulatory
requirements, and further improved the risk management
and internal control systems in line with its own actual
situation so that the Company was able to give a reasonable
assurance that the internal control objective would be
achieved. In addition, the Company has established a
complete internal control organizational structure to ensure
that its risk management and internal control systems will
be monitored and implemented effectively and its control
and management capability will continue to increase.
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6. Use of Proceeds by the Company

The Supervisory Committee monitored the utilization of
the proceeds by the Company. It was of the view that the
Company was able to manage and utilize the proceeds in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations as
well as the commitments made by the Company in the
Prospectus. The Supervisory Committee will continue to
oversee and inspect the utilization of the proceeds.

By order of the Supervisory Committee
LIU Liming
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EF  EELEREEEMBMN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Zhu Liming

Born in October 1971 and aged 53, is the chairman, executive
Director, and the authorized representative of the Company since
December 2022. He is also an acting general manager of the
Company and secretary of the Party Committee. Mr. Zhu is a
member of the Communist Party of China and a principal senior
engineer with a doctor’s degree in engineering. He has successively
served as a technician of power maintenance team, a technician
and the deputy director of the electric workshop of thermal power
plant of Anging Petrochemical Complex (ZE ARt T42); the
head of the production planning and operation department of Henan
Languang Environmental Power Generation Co., Ltd. (Al & (3R
REEEAMRAR]); the head of the human resource department of
Wuhan Kaidi Power Engineering Co., Ltd. (R Es:EEHITEA
fR/A7A]); the general manager of Henan Languang Environmental
Power Generation Co., Ltd.; the deputy general manager and
the marketing director of Wuhan Kaidi Electric Power Company
Limited (B ZLE 1D BBR A R)); the deputy general manager
of Datang Xinjiang Energy Development Co., Ltd. (KE#HEER
FZEHER A F); the deputy general manager, a member of the
party organisation, the secretary of the party organisation, the
general manager and the deputy secretary of party committee
of Datang Xinjiang Power Generation Co., Ltd. (KE#HBHRE
BR/AF]); the general manager and the deputy secretary of party
committee of Guangdong Branch of China Datang; the director of
Guangdong Planning and Development Center of China Datang
Group (FEIKNESBEERAEIZHER L), the general manager and
the deputy secretary of the party committee of Guangdong Branch
of Datang International Power Generation Co., Ltd. (KEBKES
&1 B BR A A); the chairman and the secretary of party committee
of Datang Sichuan Power Generation Company Limited (X/ZEPH)/I|
ZEARAA]); the director of Sichuan Tibet Planning Exhibition
Center of China Datang Group (FEIAESE)IFRIEEFD);
and the chairman of Sichuan Branch of Datang International Power
Generation Co., Ltd..
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
B EFENSH

BEEEMN (&

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Xu Chun

Born in February 1972 and aged 53, is a non-executive Director
since August 2024. He holds a bachelor’s degree, and is a member
of the Communist Party of China and a senior engineer. He has
successively served as a technician in the boiler body section of the
boiler workshop of the maintenance branch and specialized engineer
of the maintenance branch of Heilongjiang Fularji Power Plant (&
Bl E N MEZEEAEM), an inspector of the equipment department
of Inner Mongolia Datang International Tuoketuo Power Generation
Company Limited (R & XEBBRERITEEAQF]), the director
engineer of the preparation office for the comprehensive project of
Inner Mongolia Datang International, the director engineer of Inner
Mongolia Datang International Zhuozi Wind Power Co., Ltd. (A5 &
AEREE S EREARAQT), the deputy director of the preparation
office for the Hongmu Naobao Wind Power Project in Chahar Right
Back Banner of Inner Mongolia Datang International, the chief
engineer and secretary of the discipline inspection commission
of Inner Mongolia Datang International Wind Power Development
Co., Ltd. (REH RE B R EFMEEAFRR 2R, the chief engineer of
Inner Mongolia Datang International Renewable Power Company
Limited (NG AXEBRHEERAGRAF]), the deputy general
manager of Inner Mongolia Datang International Renewable Power
Company Limited, an executive director and the general manager
of Inner Mongolia Datang International Renewable Power Company
Limited, the director of the production and operation department
of Inner Mongolia Branch of China Datang Corporation Ltd. (Datang
International), the general manager and deputy secretary of the
Party Committee of Chifeng Business Division of Inner Mongolia
Branch of China Datang Corporation Ltd., the deputy general
manager and a member of the Party Committee of Inner Mongolia
Branch of China Datang Corporation Ltd. (Datang International), and
the deputy director of the production and environment protection
department of China Datang Corporation Ltd. (f B AELBERE A
7). He currently serves as the director, general manager, deputy
secretary of the Party Committee of Datang (Inner Mongolia)
Energy Development Co., Ltd. (KE(ASH)ERAZEFRAR)
and a non-executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
B  EENEREEESN (&)

Mr. Pang Xiaojin

Born in October 1970 and aged 54, is a non-executive Director
since August 2024. He holds a doctorate degree in engineering,
and is a member of the Communist Party of China and a senior
engineer. He has successively served as the deputy director of
the market trading office of the marketing department of China
Datang Corporation, the deputy director of the marketing office
of the planning and marketing department of China Datang
Corporation, the director of the commercial logistics office of the
materials management department of China Datang Corporation,
the director of the commercial logistics office, the director of
the supply management office of the materials management
department (tendering and bidding center) of China Datang
Corporation, the deputy general manager and a member of the
Party Committee of Shanxi Branch of China Datang Corporation,
the deputy general manager and a member of the Party Committee
of Datang Shanxi Power Generation Co., Ltd. (KEILFAZEEER
‘A\]), the deputy director of the sales department (marketing
center) of China Datang Corporation Ltd., and the deputy director
of the marketing department of China Datang Corporation Ltd..
He currently serves as the deputy director of the operation and
management department of China Datang Corporation Ltd. and a
non-executive Director of the Company.

RBRE L

£ R1970F 108 » 5455 + 1202448
B AIFNITTES - TEFL - AHE
B SRIREM FEEFEAEEERA
AMiZEETMERIERER - FH
AESBARGEIZHEI M EHEER
Bk FEAEEEQRMEETENSE
BYMnRER  PRRAESEQRME
BERHF(ABREREEDRREER
HEEERER  PFRARESEE QAL
BEHRARIEIREE - EEE8 © KEW
BAEEERARIEELRE  EEXZZLE -
FRAEEEERAREESTEN (NS
BHEFPLEIESE  PRAEEEERA
AMBEHETET  BERRKRESE
BERARKEERINET - AF1IE
WITESE -

2024 FER
AERREXEERHERAF

123



124

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
%  EENeREEEMN (&

Mr. Xia Huaixiang

Born in February 1966 and aged 59, is a non-executive Director
since August 2024. He holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering,
and is a member of the Communist Party of China and a principal
senior engineer. He has successively served as a technician of
the mechanical department of Southwest Power Design Institute
Co., Ltd. (FAFAE IR ZERT), a technician of the computing
technology department of Southwest Power Design Institute Co.,
Ltd., an engineer of the Desulfurization Technology Research Center
of Southwest Power Design Institute Co., Ltd. (FAFE /1 &5 %%
B R BT A 9T =), the deputy director and chief engineer of the
desulfurization technology department of Southwest Power Design
Institute Co., Ltd., the deputy chief engineer of Guohua Ebara
Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd. (BIZEERIRETEER A ),
the chief engineer of Guohua Ebara Environmental Engineering
Co., Ltd., the general manager assistant of Datang Environmental
Technology Engineering Co., Ltd. (KERERHE TREGR A F)), the
chief engineer of China Datang Technologies & Engineering Co.,
Ltd. (F R KEEERHLTIEHERR A F), the chief engineer of Datang
Technology Industry Group Co., Ltd. (RERHEEXEBEER A A),
the chief engineer of the Company, the vice president, a member
of the Party Committee and the chairman of the trade union
of China Datang Corporation Science and Technology Research
Institute Co., Ltd. (A B KE & BRI EHArA 7Efz AR A 7)), the vice
president and a member of the Party Committee of China Datang
Corporation Renewable Power Science and Technology Research
Institute Co., Ltd. (FEIRESBFEEREIZRMHAIERAF),
the deputy general manager, a member of the Party Committee
and the chairman of the trade union of China Datang Corporation
Technology and Economics Research Institute Co., Ltd. (Bl KE 5
B B i & AT 7o B BR & £ 2 &), and the deputy general manager,
a member of the Party Committee, the chairman of the trade union
and the director of Power Engineering Construction Supervision
Center of China Datang Corporation Technology and Economics
Research Institute Co., Ltd.. He currently serves as a director of
Datang Hainan Energy Development Co., Ltd.* (K/E /G peRF 2
BPBR /A7) and a non-executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
B  EENEREEESN (&)

Mr. Chu Hongbo

Born in August 1976 and aged 48, is a non-executive Director
since August 2024. He holds a bachelor’s degree, and is a member
of the Communist Party of China and a senior engineer. He has
successively served as a technician of the mechanical operation
team of the First Coal Mine of Dayan Mining Bureau, the technical
supervisor of the mechanical and electrical department of the
First Coal Mine of Dayan Coal Industry Co., Ltd. (KIEHZEABRE
fE£72 7)), the vice captain of the mechanical operation team of the
First Coal Mine of Dayan Coal Industry Co., Ltd., the captain of
the mechanical operation team of the First Coal Mine of Dayan
Coal Industry Co., Ltd., the deputy secretary of the Party General
Branch and the captain of the mechanical operation team of the
First Coal Mine of Dayan Coal Industry Co., Ltd., the deputy
chief electrical and mechanical engineer of Datang Hulunbeier
Energy Development Co., Ltd. (KEMFmEMEERFAZEERARF),
the deputy general manager and manager of Shunxing Mine of
Datang Hulunbeier Energy Development Co., Ltd., the secretary of
the Party Committee, general manager and manager of Shunxing
Coal Mine of Datang Hulunbeier Energy Development Co., Ltd.,
the deputy chief engineer of China Datang Coal Industry Co.,
Ltd. (FRABEEBHEEBRETAF), the deputy chief engineer
of China Datang Corporation Energy Investment Co., Ltd. (FEX
EEEERIREAREEAT), deputy general manager of Inner
Mongolia Branch, a member of the Party Committee of China
Datang Corporation Energy Investment Co., Ltd., and the deputy
general manager, a member of the Party Committee and the
chairman of the trade union of China Datang Corporation Energy
Investment Co., Ltd.. He currently serves as a director of Datang
Heilongjiang Power Generation Co., Ltd. (KEZEE/IZEEER
7)), a consultant of Datang Hulunbeier Energy Development Co.,
Ltd. (KEE s B MAE/RF AR A F)) and a non-executive Director
of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
%  EENeREEEMN (&

Ms. Wang Mi

Born in February 1972 and aged 53, is a non-executive Director
(employee representative Director) and concurrently the deputy
director of the party building work department of the Company since
January 2025. She holds a bachelor’'s degree, and is a member of
the Communist Party of China and a senior political engineer. She
has successively served as the Company's head of the party building
division of the political ideology work department, head of the party
building division of the party-mass work department, manager of
the party building division of the party-mass work department,
manager of the party building division of the party building work
department (disciplinary inspection office and inspection office),
manager of the party building division (publicity department) of
the party building work department (disciplinary inspection office
and inspection office), deputy director of the party building work
department (disciplinary inspection office and inspection office),
deputy director of the party building work department and deputy
director of the disciplinary inspection office (inspection office).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Mao Zhuanjian

Born in June 1953 and aged 71, is an independent non-executive
Director since June 2015. He holds a bachelor’'s degree, and is
a professor-level senior engineer, a core professional of CEC,
and expert of environmental protection and energy conservation
professionals for the power industry (& H{TERRMEERER
%), and a member of the Communist Party of China. Mr. Mao
successively served as the engineer and director member of the
environmental protection office of the planning department of the
Ministry of Water and Power Industry (BZ7KEHf), the deputy
head and senior engineer of the environmental protection and
management division under the Environmental Protection Center
for China Electricity Council, deputy director of the general office
and director of the technical consulting office of the Ministry
of Electric Power, State Grid Corporation of China and the CEC
Electrical Construction Technical and Economic Consulting
Centre, Beijing Registered Consulting Engineer, the director of
environmental protection division and the director of climate
change response division of the industry development and the
environment and resources department under the CEC, the vice
secretary for the National Collaborative Network for Desulfurization
and Denitrification Technologies for the Power Industry (2B 777
E PR RS T 17 /E48), the deputy secretary general for the energy
conservation and environmental protection sub-division under the
CEC, a senior expert of the expert database related to energy
conservation and environmental protection of the MIIT, a member
of the electric power environmental protection committee of the
Chinese Society for Electrical Engineering, and a member of the
low-carbon economy working committee of the China Association
of Plant Engineering Consultants.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
B  EENEREEESN (&)

Mr. Suen Chun Hung, Benjamin

Born in October 1985 and aged 39, is an independent non-executive
Director since August 2024. He holds a bachelor's degree of
economics and the master's degree of business administration.
He served as the deputy general manager of the investment
banking merger and acquisition department of Deutsche Bank Hong
Kong Branch. He currently serves as the copresident of Macau
Chung Kiu Investment Group (BFIF15#% & £ @), the president of
Macau System Agriculture Co., Ltd. (EFI RS ZZE AR A7), and
concurrently serves as a standing member of the 13th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC) of Heilongjiang
Province (EET4E %+ =EE), the secretary-general of Macau
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (Provincial)
Members Association (R[E&RKIHZE ERFEE), the president
of General Association of Macau Heilongjiang CEFIEEE T4 S),
the president of Zhongheng Zhihui Association (FF#E[EH ),
the president of Macau Modern System Agriculture Association
(RFIBREZSEEWE), the vice president of Macau Innovation
Investment United Association (BF8I¥T X &8 S 2), a member of
Macao Chamber of Commerce (RFIHFZELERE), the vice president
of Macao Chao Shan Youth Association (29815 F# &) and the
vice president of Macau-Korea Interaction Association (P98 &
M E). He currently serves as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company.

Ms. Hu Yunqging

Born in March 1969 and aged 56, is an independent non-executive
Director since August 2024. She holds a bachelor’'s degree of
engineering and a master’s degree of accounting, and is a Chinese
certified public accountant, a Chinese certified asset valuer
and a practicing member of Beijing Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She successively served as a staff of the general
office of Beijing Department Store Company of Beijing No.1
Commercial Bureau (At =M E —EBILRT B E QB LIEALRE I
A=), the deputy general manager of Beijing Saitiangong Company
(HERFEAXT A 7]), the project manager of Zhonglunxin Accounting
Firm (P fR{E&5tEE5FT), and the senior manager of ShineWing
Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership). She
currently serves as the founding partner and executive partner
of Beijing Wisecorol Certified Public Accountants Ltd. (General
Partnership) Qb8 B 25BN SHAT(LAE ), and an independent
non-executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
%  EENeREEEMN (&

V.

SUPERVISORS
Mr. Liu Liming

Born in February 1972 and aged 53, is the chairman of the
Supervisory Committee. He holds a bachelor’'s degree in economics,
and is a member of the Communist Party of China and a principal
senior economist. He has successively served as a staff, first-class
staff, second-class staff, and the deputy director of the first audit
division of the audit department of China Datang Corporation,
the deputy director, and the director of the third audit division of
the audit department of China Datang Corporation, the deputy
director of the audit department and the director of the third audit
division of the audit department of China Datang Corporation,
the deputy director of the audit department of China Datang
Corporation Ltd., the deputy director of the audit department
and director of the third audit division of the audit department of
Datang International Power Generation Co., Ltd. and China Datang
Corporation Renewable Power Co., Ltd. (FF B AEEE LR
D ABRAF]), the deputy general manager, chief accountant and
a member of the Party Committee of China Datang Corporation
Technology and Economic Research Institute Co., Ltd. and the
associate dean and chief accountant of the Cadre Training Institute
of China Datang Corporation (H Bl K& & B A A1 # #0135 39112267), the
deputy director of the legal affairs department (risk management
department) of China Datang Corporation Ltd., the director of
Guangzhou Audit Center of China Datang Corporation and the
director of Guangzhou Legal Center of China Datang Corporation.
He currently serves as the deputy director of the audit department
of China Datang Corporation Ltd. and chairman of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Mr. Zhang Xuefeng

Born in September 1968 and aged 56, is a Supervisor. He holds
a bachelor's degree in accounting, and is a principal senior
accountant and a member of the Communist Party of China. He
successively served as an intern in the Education Division and
other divisions of Chifeng Thermal Power Plant; an accountant
in the Finance Division, a cashier of Finance Division, general
ledger statements and cost accountant, and chief accountant of
Hongshan Power Plant; deputy director of Finance Division of
related parent company of Chifeng Thermal Power Plant; director
of Finance Division of Donglong Industrial Co., Ltd.; manager
of Finance Division of Auxiliary Industry Company; director of
Finance Division of Datang Chifeng Saihanba Wind Power Co.,
Ltd.; deputy chief accountant and director of Finance Division of
Datang Chifeng Saihanba Wind Power Co., Ltd.; chief accountant,
chief accountant and director of Finance and Property Management
Department, deputy chief accountant and director of Finance and
Property Management Department of China Datang Corporation
Renewable Power Co., Ltd.; chief accountant, member of the
Party Leadership Group, chief accountant and member of the Party
Committee of Datang Guizhou Power Generation Co., Ltd.; chief
accountant and member of the Party Committee of China Datang
Corporation Energy Investment Co., Ltd.. He concurrently serves
as a supervisor of Zhongxin Energy and Chemical Technology
Company Limited.

Ms. Luo Li

Born in August 1971 and aged 53, is an employee representative
Supervisor. She holds a bachelor’'s degree, is a member of the
Communist Party of China and a senior political engineer. Ms. Luo
had previously served as a publicity officer of the Party Office of
China Hydropower Second Bureau Construction Branch (FFE7K
B _HEEDB); officer of the Party Office, deputy secretary and
secretary of Communist Youth League of China Water Resources
and Hydropower Second Engineering Bureau (R EI/KFI7KESE =T
12/3); assistant director, deputy director (in charge of work), and
director of the Supervision and Audit Department (Department of
|deological and Political Work) of Datang Environmental Technology
Engineering Co., Ltd. (KEERFERIETIEABR A F); director of the
Supervision and Audit Department (Department of |deological
and Political Work) of China Datang Group Environmental
Technology Co., Ltd. (FEIRESBEIRZER AR A R]); director of
the Supervision and Audit Department (ldeological and Political
Work Department) and secretary of the Party Committee of the
Environmental Protection Branch of Datang Technology Industry
Group Co., Ltd. (RERHEEZXEEE B R A F); secretary of the Party
Committee of the Environmental Protection Branch of the Company
and secretary of the Party Branch of Datang Electric Power
Design and Research Institute (KEE /1857 kz), secretary of
the Party Committee of Environmental Protection Branch, party
secretary and vice president of Datang Electric Power Design
and Research Institute (KEEN&ATH7EET); and head of the
Discipline Inspection Commission Office of the Company; the full-
time supervisor of Technologies & Engineering Company, and the
full-time supervisor of Nanjing Environmental Protection.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

E5F  EEkek

V.

BEEEMN (&

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Song

Born in May 1968 and aged 56, is the chief accountant, a
member of the Party Committee. He holds a bachelor's degree
of economics, is a member of the Communist Party of China and
senior accountant. Mr. Chen successively served as an accountant
of financial division of North China Power Institute (4t & 11 :&516%);
an accountant of financial department of North China Power Group
Co., Ltd. (224t E &% B /A 7]); senior head of financial department,
vice director of the funds division and director of property funds
division of the financial department of Beijing Datang Power
Generation Company Limited (Jt RABEZEERHDBRAA); plant
manager assistant, deputy plant manager and concurrently chief
accountant of Beijing Gao Jing Thermal Power Plant (it A&
ZVEH); vice manager, vice general manager and vice director
of the financial department of Datang International Power Co.,
Ltd. (KEBE 2B (D AR A 7)); general manager and director of
phase Il construction preparation department of Yunnan Datang
International Honghe Power Generation Company Limited (EfA
BB 4T 25 B AR & £ A Al); director of the financial department
of Datang International Power Co., Ltd.; and chief accountant and
a party committee member of Datang Renewable.

Mr. Liu Chundong

Born in February 1970 and aged 55, is a member of the Party
Committee and deputy general manager. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering, is a member of the Communist Party
of China and a senior engineer. Mr. Liu successively served
as a watch of operation, chief watch of operation, deputy shift
leader, specialist engineer in operation, specialist engineer in
electric operation and maintenance of the Production Technology
Department, shift supervisor of the Production Technology
Department, the director (maintenance) of the Electrical Branch
of Tongliao Power Generation Plant ((BEEAMEESH). He
served as a senior engineering supervisor of the Power Generation
Management Department of CPl Holingol Coal (R EEREEE
F2E6). He served as deputy director of the Safety Division and
Engineering Department of the Power Generation Department
of CPI East Inner Mongolia Energy (T ERRRAERFEEEXAL
2 A EBETF2E0) and the deputy director of the Tender and Bid
Management Center of CPI East Inner Mongolia Energy Co., Ltd.
(FRERSHALRER A FIBIEEEF ). He served as the deputy
general manager of Datang Renewable Power Maintenance Co.,
Ltd. (REFTBERE NAR1EBR AR as well as the deputy general
manager of Beijing Tanghao Electricity Engrneenng Technology
Research Co., Ltd. At REEE H TR 72 AR 2 7)). He served
successively as the deputy director (in charge) of the SC|ence and
Information Department and the director of General Manager Office
Department (International Cooperation Department, Policy and
Law Department) of Datang Renewable. He served as the dean
of Datang Renewable Energy Test and Research Institute (K&
2R A BRI 7EP), and the chief engineer of Datang Renewable.
He served as the deputy general manager and member of the
Party committee of Datang Overseas Investment. He served as
the deputy general manager and member of the Party committee
of Datang Overseas Investment as well as the director of the
Preparatory Office of China Datang Group Africa Co., Ltd. (FREIK
EEMIEMNAF]). He served as the associate dean and member
of the Party committee of China Datang Corporation Renewable
Power Science and Technology Research Institute Co., Ltd. (4
AE KB REI ERMA TR AR R F)
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
B  EENEREEESN (&)

Mr. Li Lijian

Born in June 1974 and aged 50, is a member of the Party
Committee, the deputy general manager, the secretary of the
Board, a joint company secretary and an authorised representative
of the Company. He is a member of the Communist Party and a
senior economist. He holds a bachelor’'s degree in engineering
and a master's degree in business administration. Mr. Li
successively served as a director of the project management
office in the diverse industries department, director of the multi-
business enterprise guidance office in the comprehensive planning
department, director of the comprehensive planning office, and
deputy director of the securities and capital department of Datang
International Power Generation Co., Ltd. (K/EBREEZRMD AR A
7)) (a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 991) (“Datang Power”). He also served as director
of the securities financing division Il in the capital operation and
property management department of China Datang (the controlling
shareholder of the Company); director of the securities and
investor relations department and director of the securities and
capital department (audit department) at Datang Power; director
of the securities compliance department (legal affairs and audit
department), director of the securities compliance department
(legal affairs, audit department and risk management department)
and director of the securities and capital department (board office)
at Datang Power (Datang Jing-Jin-Ji Energy Development Co., Ltd.*
(REREHERMAZEABRAR) (“Datang Jing-Jin-Ji Energy”);
party secretary and executive director of Hebei Datang International
Zhangjiakou Thermal Power Co., Ltd.* (A1t RFEBIBRRER O ZE

R & (LA R]); and director of the marketing department, executive
director of Jing-Jin-Ji Marketing Company, and director of the
Jing-Jin-Ji Central Quotation Center at Datang Jing-Jin-Ji Energy.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Mr. Ren Haitao

Born in April 1972 and aged 53, is the deputy general manager, a
member of the Party Committee and the chairman of the Labor
Union. He holds a master's degree, is a member of the Communist
Party and a senior economist. Mr. Ren successively served as
the chief economist of the corporate management department,
deputy director of the commerce department (in charge) and
deputy director of the development and planning department of
China National Water Resources & Electric Power Materials &
Equipment Corporation (FEIKF|E N EBRAF]), the general
manager of Guangxi Tian’e Tangsheng Materials Co., Ltd. (BrE
BrRlE KB YA BR/AR]), the director of the planning and
inspection office of the material management department, the
director of the planning and inspection office and the director
of No. 1 tender and bidding office of the material management
department (tendering and bidding center) of China Datang
Corporation (FEIAKEL£EA7F]), the deputy general engineer of
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd., the deputy director
of the India representative office of China Datang Corporation, the
deputy director of the Cambodia representative office of China
Datang Corporation, the deputy general manager, a member of the
Party Committee and the chairman of the Labor Union of Datang
Hubei Energy Development Co., Ltd. (KEHILEERFIZEAR A
A]); and a member of the Party Committee, and the secretary of
the discipline inspection commission of Datang Guizhou Power
Generation Company Limited (KEE/NZEEHFR A F)), the deputy
general manager, a member of the Party Committee and the
chairman of the Labor Union of the Company.

Ms. Wang Jie

Bornin May 1973 and aged 51, is a member of the Party Committee
and secretary of the Discipline Inspection Committee. She holds a
bachelor’'s degree and is a member of the Communist Party and
a senior engineer. She successively served as deputy director
of the Hydropower and New Energy Division of the Planning
and Development Department of China Datang Corporation, the
temporary deputy director of the Division | of the Planning and
Development Bureau of the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council, the director of the
Comprehensive Industry Division of the Planning and Development
Department, the director of the Hydropower and New Energy
Preliminary Division of the Planning and Development Department
of China Datang Corporation, the deputy secretary of the Discipline
Inspection Committee, a member of the Party Committee, the
secretary of the Discipline Inspection Committee and the chairman
of the Labor Union of China National \Water Resources & Electric
Power Materials & Equipment Group Co., Ltd.,, a member of
the Party Committee, the secretary of the Discipline Inspection
Committee and the chairman of the Labor Union of China Datang
International Trading Corporation, a member of the Party Committee
and the secretary of the Discipline Inspection Committee of
China National Water Resources & Electric Power Materials &
Equipment Group Co., Ltd. (China Datang International Trading
Corporation), a member of the Party Committee, the secretary
of the Discipline Inspection Committee of China National Water
Resources & Electric Power Materials & Equipment Group Co.,
Ltd. (the materials branch of China Datang Corporation Ltd., China
Datang International Trading Corporation), and a member of the
Party Committee and the secretary of the Discipline Inspection
Committee of the Company.
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PROFILE OF HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, we had 979 employees, substantially
all of whom were based in the PRC. The Group has individually
established labor union branches. Currently, the Group has entered
into employment agreements with all employees, in which the
position, duties, remuneration, employment benefits, training,
confidentiality obligations relating to trade secrets and grounds
for termination are specified pursuant to the PRC Labor Law and
other relevant regulations.

The table below sets forth the number of employees as at 31
December 2024 by their functions:

HUMAN RESOURCES

ANEIR

ANTERER

M2024F 128318 » HMELIERI79%
BE  EPBAZHEEFHPEH - K
EEEREBYIENS - BAT » A%
ECE2HETF L TEHAR © ER
PR E) AR EMABRERORTE - B
BMHOTTEREMBM  BE - FE - B
TEF - H5I - BEmERENREER
EREIEEREEE -

T&RFTRA2024512 A31 BizBEEE H
FE T ASK:

Percentage of the

Number of total number of
employees employees
Function BigE EEAE HREEAZESHL
Concession operation management HHEEEIRAR
personnel 323 32.99%
Engineering and technical personnel TREFMAE 187 19.10%
Sales personnel HEABR 69 7.05%
Research and development personnel HEEAB 317 32.38%
Administrative and management THEBAER
personnel 571 5.21%
Manufacture personnel S EAB 17 1.74%
Others A 15 1.53%
Total A&t 979 100.00%

STAFF INCENTIVES

According to the development requirements, the Company further
established and improved the overall responsibility management
system and the whole staff performance evaluation system on the
basis of clear position objectives. In order to inspire the potential
and work enthusiasm of employees, to fully embody the incentive
and constraint behavior, and to lay a solid foundation for the orderly
career development of all the employees, the Company divides
the specific task in development planning into each department
and position, objectively and accurately evaluates the achievement
of job targets of employees by building position performance
targets and performance standard, and realizes awards and
punishments according to the score that is formed by evaluation
results quantification.
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HUMAN RESOURCES (CONTINUED)
ANER(E)

V.

STAFF REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration package of our employees includes salaries,
bonuses and allowances. Our employees also receive welfare
benefits, including medical care, housing subsidies, retirement and
other benefits. We carry out employee performance appraisals,
establish diversified and dynamic appraisal mechanisms. The
department heads’ salaries and remunerations will be adjusted
corresponding to the results of their performance appraisals.
Pursuant to applicable PRC regulations, we have contributed to
social insurance funds, including pension plans, medical insurance,
work-related injury insurance, unemployment insurance and
maternity insurance, and housing funds for our employees.

STAFF TRAINING

In order to attract and retain high-quality employees and further
improve their knowledge, skill level and professional attainments,
we place a strong emphasis on the training of our employees.
We offer in-service education, training and other opportunities to
our managers and employees to improve their professional skills
and knowledge.

In 2024, the Group provided 30 training programs on business
management, professional techniques and production skills, and
the average training hours per employee was 107 hours with 100%
talents attending the trainings.

GUARANTEE OF STAFF RIGHTS

The Group complies with the Labour Law of the PRC and the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC in all material respects and
makes contributions to social insurance and housing provident
fund for our employees according to the above laws, among which
the social insurance includes basic pension insurance, medical
insurance, occupational injury insurance, unemployment insurance
and maternity insurance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

'K MOORE

To the Shareholders of Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.
(Established in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Datang
Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 143 to 279, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards (“IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B B ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are the matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract

assets

MEEESEIR

RRETFARRERMNEXAE - RREAR
HEHYBRENBETRRERNTH - GLF
HAREHAHMBHRRERETEITLIRER
VE R NETRIEN - RATHELFEREHE
BHER - RPIEE TXAAEFRASERST
TUARENREREZSE
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R

Key audit matter

FARENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEEEFT T RIAELHE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and contract assets amounted to RMB6,732
million and RMB178 million, respectively, with loss
allowances amounted to RMB366 million and RMB2
million, respectively.

RZZZNE+—A=+—0 ' BESZERKFEREREEDN
FEESNASARKSIZEETRARKI7TSEE T @ BK
EFEDRRARKEICAEETRARK2BESET -

Provision for credit loss allowance of trade receivables
and contract assets was made based on an assessment
of the lifetime expected credit losses. WWhen measuring
expected credit losses, the Group had considered credit
losses incurred in the past, and adjusted it by taking
into consideration of the present conditions and forward
looking factors. In assessing forward-looking information,
the Group considered factors including economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and changes in
customers’ conditions.

B RKFIAREREENERBEREFEDRRBRESGESRE
RN ER - rrERHEREXRE - E5EZEBE
EENEREBX - WS E UL RAE L E R AT EER
EITHE o ERTERIBEERE - SEREZRNEREEK
BHE - RERBEER  TERRIREFPARLZL -

Our audit procedures included, but not limited to the
followings:

BT T AT EANER - BREETRR

o Evaluating the management’s valuation
assessment and the external valuation reports
prepared by independent valuer and on which the
management’'s assessment of the provision for
credit loss allowance of trade receivables was
based;

o ST B IR B 2 BT R IE B R 4R L SN (B
WE - UREREBRLHEZREFUEZ ERBLLE

2 BT AT

° Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer performing the
valuation;

. AHESMEREEENETTRENER O RFEIM

o Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating and
testing the applicable internal controls relevant
to management assessment of expected credit
losses of trade receivables and contract assets;

o B SRR E S REKGIE R & R EE/TEH
ERBRE IR AERE R E A Nz

° For trade receivables and contract assets
assessed individually, we reviewed, on a sample
basis, documents for supporting management’s
assessment of the respective financial position
and creditworthiness of the customers, historical
payment and settlement records, and forecasted
future economic conditions, in order to assess the
reasonableness of expected credit loss allowance
provided by management;

o HRERFNENEZREFIBEREREE « HFE
BEAREHERERN AR PP BIRRREERX
SR AR R A B R0 8 DA B 38 R SR A B AR R TR DA
£ - AT R ERTESE AR EEN S B
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract

assets (continued)

BN AZERNRE (8)

PREBE =R (8)

HHIRERRMERAREMNTRMER
HE(E)

Key audit matter

BRENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZBEEFT T RIAELH

We focused on auditing the expected credit losses
of trade receivables and contract assets because the
judgement and estimation of expected credit losses is
subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty. The
inherent risk in relation to the expected credit losses
of trade receivables and contract assets is considered
significant due to the subjectivity of significant
assumptions and estimates used. Therefore, we identified
the expected credit losses of trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter.
BMIESEAESRERIERERAEENTABRERESX -
EHREEEBERBRNAE XA FESEOMEETHEE
Moo BRATEAMNERBRRRMAEFTHEERM - HE FEIKK
BREREEMNERERBAEENESRRERAEX -
Hit - ZRMKESRERYFIEREREENTEREREBERHER
RIHRR R SRE o

The accounting policy, significant accounting judgements
and estimates and disclosures about trade receivables
and contract assets are included in Note 3(i) SUMMARY
OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION,
Note 4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES, Note 21 CONTRACT ASSETS, Note
22 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES and Note 38(c)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES to the consolidated financial statements.

HESRWHIERAEREERBNSBR « EXGF
MEFT RFEEEHNE HF SRR EINERNSFTEERAS
MF4E RS AEMMGE - WE21EREE © 2285
JE TSR TE AN FE IR R 45 % [T 5238 (o) B 75 /R B B 212 B AR AN BRR ©

° For trade receivables and contract assets assessed
collectively by making reference to the credit risk
characteristics, we assessed the reasonableness
of the grouping, management’s assumptions and
input data used in the model, and the respective
expected credit losses provision made by
management by reviewing, on a sample basis,
documents and information, such as historical
credit losses incurred, historical payment and
settlement patterns of debtors, aging profile of
trade receivables and contract assets, current
conditions and forward looking factors; and

J HRRBRERARRSHASTANEZRKFIARE
AEE  RMEDEAEHMEENELERESX
BEBANBEELNREERERN  EHRUFIARER
BEMNRRIEAE X RERI &S E AT R ATHE
MEE - UiEoHE - EEENRZREL R ERA
BAHBNSEERERETIRNEBREBRREREX

B R
° Testing the accuracy of the aging analysis of

trade receivables and contract assets on a sample
basis and recalculating the historical default rate,
evaluating the basis adopted by management in
determining the forward looking adjustment, and
testing the mathematical accuracy of calculation of
the expected credit loss allowance.

J BRERNARE 5 RKFUE K& R & ZE Rk a2
it WEHAEELENEX - SHLEIREEREA
Wﬁﬂﬁh%ﬁmmﬁ SR R B S IR K AR

HE ML -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

MAZE AR ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

MEFENFERGE)
BESFA AR

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZERAEET PR NMAEHN

Approximately 14% of the Group's total revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2024 was related to
construction contracts, which was significant to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. Revenue from
these fixed price construction contracts was recognised
over time, measured by reference to the completion
percentage of individual contracts of construction works.
The completion percentage was estimated by reference
to the actual costs incurred up to the end of the
reporting period over the total budgeted costs. Significant
management’s estimation was involved in estimating
the completion percentage and the total budgeted costs,
we were required to put in significant audit efforts on
it. Therefore, we identified the revenue recognition on
construction contracts as a key audit matter.
BE_T_WFT_A=T—HILLFE - EEERBAEE
SEBABENL14%  HEEESHUBBRRZESEAK -
BEEEREESRMBSKABREERER  2ZEE@ER
BEIETIASLIE - TLES LS EHEREHRAA
EENEBRKNMERIREK AR IfLET - Bt TITAS L
MBRERT S RERNELE M - BRMABRHLETAESR

STIME - Eit - BRIMTEESRWARRELNREREETE
I o

The accounting policy, significant accounting judgements
and estimates and disclosures about construction
contracts are included in Note 3 (p) SUMMARY OF
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION, Note
4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES and Note 6 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME,
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES to the consolidated financial
statements.

B ES RMABN S EER - EXGEAE A R ES
RE I BRERMES(P)EAGTBERAME - MT4ERGET
FIETAEFTAM 6 U A - H e RIEBX -

Our audit procedures included, but not limited to the
followings:

BT T ATEE R - BIEEARR
° Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating

the revenue recognition process related to
construction contracts and testing the relevant
controls that the Group has put in place over
its processes to record construction costs, total
budgeted costs and construction contract revenue,
and to calculate the completion percentage;

o B ST RESRWARRRRE - AIEES l%ﬁ
WERHEESRKAR  SREEERER - BEE
WA E T T H 5 L ABRE AR

° Gaining an understanding of the construction
progress based on examination of the associated
project documentation and discussion on the
status of projects with finance and project
managers of the Group;

o RERESHEFEEB XY - EEREGKKIAR KR
FEmIE B AR SRR AR R

o Discussing with management to gain an
understanding of their estimates for the total
budgeted costs and the changes, checking the
nature and components of the costs and revised
the historical accuracy of such estimates;

o HERE NI T RESHAREKRAMESB G
5t BEKAMENEK - RAREEELLAFTEESN
BEAERENE ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B BENHRE ()

MEFENFERGE)
BiESFAARRER(E)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition on construction contracts
(continued)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZBEEFT T RIAELH

Key audit matter

BRENER

° Performing tests of details, such as reviewing the
key contract terms of significant projects, checking
actual costs and tax invoices of major construction
projects, and reviewing the calculation worksheets
for the completion percentage of the construction
works; and

J BT T ABERIE - IERRERTIRIER SRAHE
RIER REZTZEETIREB BEEAEMKNAMNE
T WERREIRTIASLKFTER &

° Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures of the
Group’s construction contracts.

. BIEFETESERESRANERRENT RN -

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

FIERFEEHSAHEMEH

BERAREFAHEMENAR - HENBET
BRFEREANELR - ETBEAFTBEREK
KRB EEN RS

BAHAHABRENBEL NREEBER
BAM T EZEEMMENEREAT AR ERE

A
Ay ©

FBERMYAHMBHERNFS - ZAINEEIR
BIEEMER @ EibBiET  TREMENE
BHEAHM BRI AR FIEFTBIETERENE
AFEEABRESEUFFEENEHROER

ERBFIEATOIIE - MREMBREMER
FHEEAER  BMARTEREZXFEE - EES
| BPRBERERS -
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B B ()

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

2024 Annual Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

B Az e RS ()

ZBENRL T B S Bt A B RAIES
REGH)

AEREREKENRE - BTRRERRBEE
FTRAEITNET ERXR - EAERTERZ
BEEI - MM A B AGFRERSIE - RA
BT MEENE ALK ES HIER
REMERBES G REATELEERE -
AIERA RS MR EE K o

ERBESETERETETNBRES - HME
RTHEXRAE  RETEXFEROBE o 81N
DI

. a8k Bl A 5F 4 B RO R R Sk B AR T B B A BF
MBBmERFEERNERNER - KRR
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RARMEZENESFEER  FREME
REER - ARMEFEATRESRER - B
& BRER  ERRAL - HERERA
mEHlZ £ R REERARFEME
HOMEARERNER SN REERE R
RMEHMERBROER

. W A L2 ST ARRE B0 R RRAE S - ARRETE
EMENEF BEENYFHEERER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B B ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwok Man Rudolf
Practising Certificate Number: P04964

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

3 N\ / /\
B fm ﬁ'ﬁ AT O J‘ly %%
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ktat AR¥TT ARKEFIT
Revenue WA 6 5,770,906 5,720,131
Cost of sales SHER A (4,541,458) (4,575,113)
Gross profit EF 1,229,448 1,145,018
Selling and distribution expenses HEMD AL (25,977) (27,825)
Administrative expenses THFAX (461,191) (422,800)
Other income, other gains and losses HEalA -« Efblies RIEL 6 100,226 157,823
Finance costs B> 7 (144,618) (176,319)
Impairment losses on financial assets and CREEMEREERE
contract assets, net B - FHE 8 (42,776) (58,271)
Profit before tax R A7 8 655,112 617,626
Income tax expense R #iF X 11 (102,667) (114,056)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 552,445 503,570
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit4RE W
Other comprehensive income that may be ~ REZRHBEE FEHFHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  EBzEHIH 4R A Uk ¢
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of RBINES B ERIE R
foreign operations =% 878 377
Other comprehensive income that may be ~ REZRBEE TFEHHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  EzHIE 4R
periods, net ekt 878 377
Other comprehensive income that will not be REEZERTEEEFT HBE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  EBzEHIEH 4R A UkE ¢
periods:
Equity investments designated at fair value EEABA AR EETER
through other comprehensive income: BBt AEMEERE I
mm%mhﬁ'
Changes in fair value NABEZE (1,413) -
Income tax effect Frisfiss & 212 =
2024 R

AEBRREXEEENERAF
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& BHBA R EMRA SR (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HItEE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ktat AR¥TFT ARKEFIT
Other comprehensive losses that will not be REEERTEEHDIEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  BzEHIH 4R S E18/F5E
periods, net (1,201) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSSES)/ FREMRE (BB) W
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (HBrBIE) (323) 377
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FERGFERSHEEE
FOR THE YEAR 552,122 503,947
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FE (BE)REBR :
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZZ=UN 549,061 522,375
Non-controlling interests ElE2 g 3,384 (18,805)
552,445 503,570
Total comprehensive income/(losses) mEWE(FR)BER
attributable to: BR:
Owners of the parent ISYNGIEZZEWN 548,352 522,586
Non-controlling interests IR 3,770 (18,639)
552,122 503,947
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BEEREAREERIEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF HEREF
THE PARENT
Basic and diluted HAFN# S 13 RMBO0.19 RMBO0.18
AR¥0.197T AR0.187T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B P BRI R /

As at 31 December 2024
RZZE-_HF+=-_F=+—H

2024 2023
—ENE —EC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wizt ARETFT ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment V¥ - BEMRE 14 5,930,293 6,403,279
Intangible assets B EE 15 204,972 214,394
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 250,455 296,282
Equity investments designated at fair value EEANAREBEFZEE
through other comprehensive income FEET AHMERE KRER
ERRE 17 3,587 =
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE 18 83,700 74,846
Other non-current assets HEIERBEE 19 323,371 303,341
Total non-current assets FREEEARE 6,796,378 7,292,142
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories (3 20 187,507 162,117
Contract assets ERIEE 21 175,922 340,123
Trade and bills receivables B 5 e B GRIA T E W EE 22 6,766,123 8,003,487
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIA - Eofth fEURIE 2
other assets Hfih&EE 23 416,406 436,649
Restricted cash ZRFIRE 24 10,990 51,247
Cash and cash equivalents REMBF e EEY 24 994,747 1,759,357
Total current assets HREEEMAT 8,551,695 10,752,980
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables B SN FIBMERN & 25 3,261,072 4,325,996
Other payables and accruals H e SR IBAERT & A 26 592,186 778,257
Provisions B 27 200 600
Interest-bearing bank borrowings and STERITERMEMER
other loans 28 2,471,365 3,626,982
Income tax payable JERTFRAS R 9,322 7,186
Total current liabilities KBS EARE 6,334,145 8,739,021
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,217,550 2,013,959
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERRBARS
LIABILITIES 9,013,928 9,306,101

2024 SR 145
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B ISR (58)
As at 31 December 2024
RZEZNFE+=—A=+—H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ktat AR¥TFT AREFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBER
Provisions B 1E 27 280 300
Interest-bearing bank borrowings and FTERITERMEMER
other loans 28 1,450,960 1,963,705
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIAAE 18 29,791 35,206
Other non-current liabilities HEMIERBER 23,303 25,266
Total non-current liabilities FREEEHEE 1,504,334 2,024,477
Net assets EEFRE 7,509,594 7,281,624
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  RFARIHEAR AJE(EREZ
Share capital f& A 29 2,967,542 2,967,542
Reserves & 30 4,747,033 4,502,728
7,714,575 7,470.270
Non-controlling interests eI e (204,981) (188,646)
Total equity ERAEE 7,509,594 7,281,624

The consolidated financial statements on pages 143 to 279 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 28 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

FI43EE279RNAHMBBRRERRESEE_ T _AF A+ \BHEREETIE
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

N A
T /\I%Dll\%b%

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BAREAARL
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Share Statutory through other ~ Exchange Non-
capital  Capital  surplus Other  comprehensive fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
(Note 29)  reserve*  reserve*  reserve* income*  reserve*  profits* Total interests equity
HALEBERER
2HALMGE
kA& EERS hEneHERN NERE O FER
(Hi9) ERfE i MERRE i R ] B&
HMHUOO RUB000 RUB 000 /WBC&C AWB'000 { RMB000  RMB'000

As et 1 Januery 2004 RoTME-B-R 20154 131548 49806 35700 . o5 2652504 TATOZ0  (188646) 7,261,624
Profit for the year ERiE - - - - - - 549061 549,061 3384 55445
Other comprehensive incore for the year,  EREMEANE -
Exchange difference on translation of ~ EESNELBBMEN 28
foreign operations - - - - - 492 - 49 386 878
Change in fair value of equity WALBEERESHAL
investments at fair value through A dRERREAD
other comprehensive income, AREEB(NERE)
net of tax - - - - (1,201) - - (1,201) - (1,20)
Total comprehensive income for the year  F A KA AT - - - - (1,201) 492 549061 548,352 3770 552,122
Appropriaton to statutory surplus reserve  BEETESHE - - 53101 10453 - - (B3191) 10453 805 11,348
Final 2023 dividend declared Note 120 ER-F_=FExHkE
(k1) - - - - - - (3145000 (314,500 - (314500
Dividends declared by a subsidiary toits  HBAFRA FEIARER
non- controlling interests il - - - - - - - - (21,000 (21,000)
s at 31 December 2024 RoE-MESRTH-A 006150 131548 G527 46153 (1201) 1407 2833894 TTI45T5  (204981) 7,500,594
As at 1 January 2023 R-T-=%-f—H 2967542 1315483 4488% - - 704 2327737 7,060,361 (163612 6,896,749
Profitfloss) for the year EnilE/ (B8 - - - - - - B35 520375 (18808 503570
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ ERE (AR :
Exchange difference on translation of NS EBRIEN 28
foreign operations - - - - - M - 211 166 31
Total comprehensive income for the year  FRiFA KA 2 - - - - - 21 522375 522586 (18639 503947
Appropriation to statutory surplus BEERRHRE
1eserve - - 49211 35,700 = = (49,211) 35,700 530 36,230
Final 2022 dividend declared (Note 12~ ER=F==FEAHRE
(HfzE12) = = = = - - (148377 (14837) - (148377)
Dividends declared by a subsidiary to it HBARRF L2 RuER
non- controlling interests MRS = = = = = = = = (6,925 (6929)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=E+-R=T-8 2967540 1315483 498,106 35,700 - 915 2652524 74702710 (188,646) 7,281,624
& These reserves accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBERP B EEHUMBARRKFHE G
RMB4,747,033,000 (31 December 2023: RMB4,502,728,000) in the 1%%1%AE%4,747,033,0007E(_ = — =4+

consolidated statement of financial position.

—A=+—H : AR#¥4,502,728,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHFREETRER

2024 2023
—EB-OF —T=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iz ARKEFT ARETFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BEITHEENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: BRBLATF)E - 655,112 617,626
Adjustments for: FEIER -
Finance costs B2 144,618 176,319
Interest income FEHA (5,765) (8,200)
Investment income FERA (4,263) (978)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEMRETE
equipment 14 486,406 472,483
Amortisation of intangible assets EHEEHE 15 31,056 31,091
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 16(a) 26,510 26,546
Amortisation of other non-current assets HAbIERB) & = iR 138,302 132,238
Gain on termination of lease I E WS 6 (12,399) =
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, BREVF - WEMH&EE
plant and equipment BHBA (M) 6 53,666 (33,828)
Amortisation of government grants R 478 B A 8 58 (2,106) (2,095)
Impairment losses on property, plant and mE - BERRERER
equipment, net K FE 14 42,785 =
Impairment losses on trade receivables, net B S EWFRERXK -
R 22 32,548 24,504
Impairment losses on other receivables, net H M RIERERK -
R 23 8,561 28,657
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment losses BEREECHRERR),
on contract assets, net BRI R 21 (5,417) 5,110
Write-down of inventories to net FEREENEHFE
realisable value 20 - 1,211
Increase in inventories FEEm (25,390) (9,366)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BRBERD, () 169,618 (161,508)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables B SR IB M E R 1,328,237 1,018,178
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other AR RUE © H M ERGIEME
receivables and other assets B EGEM), R (61,498) 102,710
Decrease in restricted cash SR FIR 2R 40,257 41,091
Decrease in trade and bills payables B 5 IS RIEMEN Z B (1,051,322) (451,659)
Decrease in other payables and accruals Hib S FIEFERTE AR (148,326) (103,623)
Decrease in provisions B (420) (180)
Cash generated from operations BETHEANIRS 1,840,770 1,906,327
Income tax paid EEFTISHL (124,566) (95,221)
Net cash flows generated from operating KEREBREREFHE
activities 1,716,204 1,811,106
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) /@

AN [ PN == = ¥
EHEERERE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 i
HE-_Z-_M&+-_A=-+—HILFE

2024 2023
“E-IF —T=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt AR¥FT ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEBHELENRESRE

Interest received [=A eSS 5,765 8,200
Investment income received BUIEE A - 978

Purchase of items of property, plant and BEYE  BENRE - B

equipment, intangible assets and other non- BEMHEMIERBEEER

current assets (349,639) (641,189)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, BREWE - MEMEZEER T

plant and equipment 1S538 7,054 44,508
Purchases of equity investments designated BERERAUALEMEER

at fair value through other comprehensive HEB B A 4R & Was i)

income EmiTE (5,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of equity REEERAAAEENER

investments designated at fair value through ~ HE T A H 44 IkzEH

other comprehensive income $§ i EIE B s siE - 26,389
Receipt of government grants for property, WRIRFEYE - BERE

plant and equipment fa8h 850 904
Net cash flows used in investing activities BERDEARSREFTE (340,970) (560,210)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZBELNESHE
Proceeds from bank borrowings and IRITER R E M E RS FIE

other loans 5,114,988 5,972,016
Repayments of bank borrowings and ERFITERREMER

other loans (6,757,479) (5,988,907)
Principal portion of lease payments SRHEERS (25,625) (16,470)
Dividends paid to shareholders IR F AR AIAR B (314,500) (150,954)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests A T IR HXTE\ E’Jﬂyﬁ\ (22,450) (7,475)
Interest paid EAFE (134,843) (162,367)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEFDFEARSREFHE (2,139,909) (364,157)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND RE£MRELZEBEYWORL),/

CASH EQUIVALENTS B hnFEE (764,675) 886,739
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ¢?}Jfﬁﬁ$ﬂfﬂ$§1§% 1,759,357 872,196
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  EXREFHHFE - F58 65 422
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRASNRESEEY

END OF YEAR 24 994,747 1,759,357
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd. (KEIRIBE ¥ E BN
AR /AR (the “Company”) was established on 25 July 2011 in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") with limited liability.
On 26 June 2015, the Company was converted into a joint stock
company with limited liability from a limited liability company.
The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”) since 15 November 2016. The address of
its registered office is No. 120 Zizhuyuan Road, Haidian District,

Beijing, the PRC.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
involved in the following principal activities: environmental
protection facility concession operation, the manufacture and
sale of denitrification catalysts, environmental protection facility
engineering, water treatment business, energy conservation
business and renewable energy engineering business.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (“Directors”), the
immediate holding company and ultimate holding company of the
Company is China Datang Corporation Ltd. (“China Datang”),
a company established and domiciled in the PRC and wholly-
owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration

Commission of the State Council.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when

otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

1. —REHEGE)
ARRE LT EE
ARAFMBARGFEDT :

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

(%)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully ~ AATEERERL (%)
registration/operation paid-up capital/ —
Name’ and kind of legal entity  registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
AR/ B/ BRAAMR

%R EENEREARRER R4 /GfES Bf BE IR

China Datang Technologies & Engineering Co., Ltd. Beijing, the PRC, limited RMB180,000,000 56.00 - Development of environmental protection technology
(REAREEMHIRARAA) lisbility company ~ A&%180,000,0007C and provision of engineering services in the PRC
("Technologies & Engineering Company’| hER  BRERLR AR ERRETRE LR TR

HERERENRTRERAA(HETIRAR))

Datang Nanjing Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd.  Nanjing, the PRC, limited RMB124,630,000 /AL - Development and sale of catalysts; and provision of
(REHRRRMEERELLR) libity compeny ~ AR124,630,0007% testing services in the PRC
(Nanjing Environmental Protection’| hEER - BRAFAR A Et SR ERREE RS

AEBRBRNREREAAR(ERER))

Datang Technologies & Engineering India Private Limited Mumbai, India, limited Indian rupees - 100.00  Provision of engineering services in India
(REMEIEARERAA) labity company 1,000,000 EARRETERS
("Technologies & Engineering India’| DEEE AREEAR  HEEL1,000000

REHRTEOEARAA(NATRAEAR )

Datang Beijing Energy Saving & Technology Co., Ltd. Beijing, the PRC, limited RMB10,000,000 65.00 - Provision of project management, engineering and
(REQRIBEREERAR) liability company AER10,000,0007 technology services in the PRC
("Energy Saving & Technology’| hER - BREAAT FARANEEEEE - TRARRE

REQCRERRTERAR [ HaRiAR))

Datang Beijing Water Engingering & Technology Co., Ltd. Beijing, the PRC, limited RMB337,976,000 100.00 - Provision of technology services, energy saving
(REQRKBIRENARAR) liabilty company ~ AK%337,976,0007 technology promotion services and water
("Water Engineering & Technology'| hELLR - BRARAA engineering services in the PRC

RBORABLRRTARAR ( KEIRAR ) ErhE IR - SRR RS RAH TR

Zhejiang Datang Tiandi Environmental Technology Co., Ltd. Ningbo, the PRC, limited RMBA60,000,000 £5.00 - Development of pollution improvement environmental
(FIAERSRERIBEARAR) liabilty company AR#60,000,0007 protection technology and provision of technology
(“Tiandi Environmental”) REER  AREAAA services in the PRC
MIARRERNRARAA [ REBRATR]) ERE Sy ERRR TR NR R

Datang (Jiangsu) Environmental Protection Equipment Co., Ltd.  Jiangsu, the PRC, limited RMB38,000,000 100.00 - Development and sale of catalysts; and provision of
(RE(THEREEERAR) liability company AERE38,000,0007 testing sevices in the PRC
(*Jiangsu Environmental Protection’) hETE  BREALR At R E RRREE RS

RE(LERR%BERLA(IHER])

Datang Environment (Xiong" an) Smart Energy Co., Ltd. Xiong' an, the PRC, RMB5,000,000 100.00 - Development and sale of photovoltaic power generation
(RERRERIEZRERLA) lmited libity ARH5,000,0007 in the PRC
("Xiong’ an Smart Energy”) company Rt EERAREE

RERABRIBEHRRRAT(BRE2HR)) REER - ARRAAA

# The names of these companies referred to in this report # AR AR ERE - AsfEi

Mz ERREEIEEEENE
BERXEHEMAE - DRAAFEA
BREERT -

represent management’s best effort at translating the Chinese
names of the companies, as no English names have been
registered. The above companies are all limited companies.

BESK  HMEMNBRARETERN

BEES °

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to standards adopted by the Group

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards (“IFRS") issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB"), for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to IFRS in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (CONTINUED)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and amendments
to IFRS, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
consolidated financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and amendments to IFRS, if applicable, when they
become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures’

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to I1AS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to IFRS Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS
Accounting Standards - Volume 11 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

d Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Ft A IS ERAR BT e (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE
EREETBERMBEES
RHEERI(#8)
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the impact of IFRS 18 mentioned below, the above new
and amendments to existing standards are not expect to have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The Group will adopt the new and amendments to IFRS
when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18, which sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements. Whilst many of the requirements will
remain consistent, the new standard introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the primary financial statements
and the notes. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements and
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure. Minor amendments to
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings per Share
are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and disclosures in
the future consolidated financial statements. The Group is currently
assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 will have on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

3. EXErtEFEMR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION
(a) Statement of compliance

(b)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS and Interpretations issued by
the IASB, and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements also include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Basis of preparation

The material accounting policy information that has been
used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. This policy information
has been consistently applied to all of the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new and
amendments to IFRS and the impacts on the Group's
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed
in Note 2.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates and
assumptions are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

(a)

(b)

aREy

BEHBBHRRIIRBER G E
RI32 = & 78 M 1O BIR B 7S R o5
BUPSEES =SS X @NEIR ETIDL Y
BERERE < WH - SHITE
BRNBEETEHIMES LT
RBIFTRERERBEE -

REEE

EREZEA Gt MR PR
RzEAREHREAL BN
T o BRIERTTHAIN » BAIZE
BERASKEERRMERNZ
FE - A RGBT ZBER
B ISR S 2ERI A R ¥ AR E A B
MEHmR 2 FE (B )R E2H
BKE -

BREIE  REAHUBHRRE
ERAE AT RERR - BEZ
EfhEt RBRRDEREEE MM
BB EM RITEIA KRR H B T
fEH - BB ERKE AT REEZ
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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3. EXErIEFEME(E)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary; (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interests; and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received; (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Business combinations

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets
under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects
of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liguidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

(c)

(d)
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in consolidated profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property,
plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when
it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to consolidated profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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3. EXErIEFEME(E)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment and (e)
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write

off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment

to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The

principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings and other infrastructure 1EF R H A E AR 2R
Machinery W25

Transportation vehicles EgT A

Office equipment and others PN R R Bt

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in consolidated profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plants under
construction and equipment under installation, which are
stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Patents

Purchased patents are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Non-patent technology

Non-patent technology represents capitalised deferred
expenditures available for use and is stated at cost less
any impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to consolidated profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Development expenditures that have been recorded in
consolidated profit or loss in previous periods will not be
recognised as assets in subsequent periods. Capitalised
development expenditures are included in intangible assets
as appropriate according to their nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

3. EXErIEFEME(E)

MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets and financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to consolidated profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(g)

(h)

Impairment of non-financial assets

(Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
consolidated profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

Investment and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’'s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers in accordance with the policies
set out for section “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

Investment and other financial assets

(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at FVTOCI are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at FVPTL.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

Investment and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTOCI! (debt instruments)

For debt investments at FVTOCI, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to
consolidated profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at FVTOCI (equity
investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at FVTOCI when they meet the definition of
equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. The classification is determined on
an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to consolidated profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at FVTOCI are not subject
to impairment assessment.
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

Investment and other financial assets

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive

cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

Investment and other financial assets

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVTPL.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

Investment and other financial assets

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are generally within 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at FVTOCI and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
and contract assets which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

(j)

Investment and other financial assets

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement of financial
liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings and payables by the Group as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings and other
loans.

(i)

(i)

Ft A IS ERAR BT e (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2024
EZRCNF+ZA=1+—HIEFE

3. EX®

AHBUR AR 2 (48)

REMAE M SREE ()

© B E R E ()
L%

R BEABER D HAKED
ERTIITRENETHEEER
éﬁX”%’i“ B 5 RWKIEM
C AREBERBBENTEAFE
?EHHFEE% RIEZ BT
% ARBEYEREREERRE
B MERSHSBHMRESE
HEEBRRERBREME - K%
EERUBRBEHBEFERERRL
BT EZ BEER - WIREBA
2B EREMEE R REBEREE
HATRE I -

HNEABEARERDHNE SR
WHEMEREEMS @ A%E
BERAMCTAAERBEE
BRYAEXABRRESES
TR -

eRAR

MyRRNESRAR

CREENTSERBIHER/N
SEEX  BERRENMKAA
#EA) -

FrESMBBEVLEAANEERE
B MuBER - ERKREMNK
15 - BB EEEER KA °

AEENCRABEBEESEN
Mﬁﬂﬁ@EﬁMEMﬁfmﬁ
hmﬂﬁMEM°

2024 SR
AERREXEERHERAR

/“
A f"

A

169



170

(&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i)

(k)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings
and other loans are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in consolidated profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3. EXErIEFEME(E)

MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

(m)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
component(s) and to account for the lease component
and the associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(m) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

2024 Annual Report

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 30 to 47 years

Buildings and other

infrastructure 15 to 30 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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EXETERME ()

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(m) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank borrowings and other loans.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(m) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. \When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in
finance costs in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain industrial products and the provision of construction
services for general repairs of defects occurring during
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type
warranties granted by the Group are recognised based on
sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and
returns, discounted to their present values as appropriate.

Foreign currency translation

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

3.

Ft R IS SRR BT e (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—
EXE

(n)

(o)

ToMEF= A=+ BILEE
st 2 (48)

4

ﬂ‘fﬂ’3@&%1%@%?7‘%%%1{(/2
ERMEE) - MBETHZEEAIES
BARRERING - RERZEER
WA A - RIFER
o

HITIRTBEKX - RIERREE
MEeRARBABITETATARE
RXRNE Gt BARON R B #IR9 3R
B - ARREEBMELNIFTRE
EEMAARHBEROP B
HA o

AEERHEETIXERME
REAEEN —RBEE B H
MRZERBIRHER - AEER
HjE’JEf—ﬁﬂ%E&tEEﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁAﬁﬁ
MEBEMEE B R BELR
Eﬁfﬁifﬁfﬁ(ﬁﬂ FA)HER °

R E

ZET MR AR R R EITRE
2INEEARKZY - XEBEIE
TEERETEETEDREEY -
MEBEBNMERRMIINIEAR
RAGEERTE - AEEET
BERMCHNIINER B LR
HEBRRZAHBITNINEE
BIERTIRR - ASNEEHENE ¥
EENBERBEHRABITOD
REEMEXRGE - FEYMES
%EﬁﬁimiﬁﬁAmﬁ 5 T

=7
at ©

AEREBNEERITEMESL
MER  EAHBERD TIARE

=7
o ©

2024 SR
AERREXEERHERAR

175



176

B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(o)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or consolidated profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
consolidated profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of these subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.
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EXETERME ()

MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(o)

(p)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of an overseas subsidiary are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of an overseas subsidiary which arise throughout the year
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

2024 Annual Report

Sale of industrial products

The Group is engaged in the manufacture and sale
of denitrification catalysts.

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the industrial products.

Construction contracts

The Group provides construction services with
respect to the engineering projects in relation to
desulfurisation and denitrification facilities at coal-
fired power plants, wind power plants, solar power
plants, coal-fired power plants and coal yards.

Revenue from the provision of construction services
is recognised over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, because the Group's performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The
input method recognises revenue based on the
proportions of the actual costs incurred relative to
the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B EmRAME(E) 7
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EXEHBERMR(#E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(p) Revenue recognition (Continued) (p) MW AFEER(#E)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(c) Rendering of desulfurisation and denitrification
services

The Group is engaged in providing desulfurisation
and denitrification services to power plants under
the concession operation contracts for a period of
the life cycle of the power plants.

Revenue from the rendering of desulfurisation
and denitrification services is recognised over
the scheduled period because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

The considerations are stipulated by the relevant
government authorities and measured at certain
amounts per kWh of the electricity generated by
the power plants.

Revenue from other sources
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can
be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets
are subject to impairment assessment, details of which
are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control
of the related goods or services to the customer).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(t)

Employee benefits

Employee benefits mainly include bonuses, allowances and
subsidies, pension insurance, social insurance and housing
funds, labour union fees, employees’ education fees and
other expenses related to the employees for their services.
The Group recognises employee benefits as liabilities during
the accounting period when employees render the services
and allocates the related cost of assets and expenses based
on different beneficiaries.

(a) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus plans is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

(b) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group primarily pays contributions on a monthly
basis to participate in a pension plan organised by
relevant municipal and provincial governments in
the PRC. The municipal and provincial governments
undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired
employees payable under these plans. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligations for further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
their current and past services. Contributions made
are charged to consolidated profit or loss.

(c) Other social insurance and housing funds

The Group provides other social insurance and
housing funds to the qualified employees in the
PRC based on certain percentages of their salaries.
These percentages are not to exceed the upper
limits of the percentages prescribed by the Ministry
of Human Resources and Social Security of the
PRC. These benefits are paid to social security
organisations and the amounts are expensed as
incurred. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations for further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to their current and past services.
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B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(u)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B SRR e (8

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

3. EXErIEFEME(E)

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(u)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, which are not restricted as to use.
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group.

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity).

(iii) The entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan

for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HItEE

3. MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(w)

(x)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to consolidated
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to consolidated
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements

requires management to make judgements,

estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policy information,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether or not
to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive
for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its
control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew or to terminate the lease.

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the lease term for
leases of buildings and other infrastructure due to the significance
of these assets to its operations. These leases have a normally five-
year non-cancellable period and there will be a significant negative
effect on production if a replacement is not readily available.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group applies the probability of default approach to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets with related parties.
The probability of default is estimated on the published credit rating
of the related parties while the loss given default is estimated
based on 100%, as adjusted for forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets with third parties. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
customer type and credit rating). The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information.

If forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the
historical rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s contract
assets and trade receivables is disclosed in Note 21 and Note 22
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Percentage of completion of construction contracts

Revenue from individual contracts is recognised to the progress
of completion of the project. The determination of the progress of
construction service is based on the proportion of the actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction services. Due to the nature of the activity undertaken
in construction works, the date at which the activity is entered into
and the date at which the activity is completed usually fall into
different accounting periods, hence, the Group reviews and revises
the percentage of completion of construction works based on the
regular review of estimated total costs for construction. Where the
actual contract revenue is less than expected or actual contract
costs are more than expected, a foreseeable loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment, the Group periodically reviews the
changes in market conditions, expected physical wear and tear,
and the maintenance of the asset. The estimation of the useful
life of the asset is based on historical experience of the Group
with similar assets that are used in a similar way. The depreciation
amount will be adjusted if the estimated useful lives and/or the
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are
different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual
values are reviewed, at the end of the reporting period, based on
changes in circumstances.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses at 31 December 2024 was nil (31 December
2023: Nil). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2024 was RMB1,039 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,006
million). Further details are contained in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwiill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when such
an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use.
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HE-_Z-_NWF+_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting
policy for research and development costs in Note 3(f) to the
consolidated financial statements. Determining the amounts to be
capitalised requires management to make assumptions regarding
the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates
to be applied and the expected period of benefits. At 31 December
2024, the carrying amount of capitalised development costs was
RMB39.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB29.8 million).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group's operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to their nature. Each
of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that provides services which are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of the other operating segments.
Summary details of the operating segments are as follows:

(a) Environmental protection and energy
conservation solutions

The environmental protection and energy conservation
solutions business mainly includes flue gas desulfurisation
and denitrification facilities concession operation for
coal-fired power plants; the manufacture and sale of
denitrification catalysts; engineering for coal-fired power
plants, including the engineering of denitrification,
desulfurisation, dust removal, ash and slag handling and
other environmental protection facilities and industrial site
dust management related engineering; water treatment;
and energy conservation including energy conservation
business facilities engineering and energy management
contracting (“EMC").

(b) Renewable energy engineering

The renewable energy engineering business mainly includes
the engineering general contracting for newly-built wind
power plants, biomass power plants and photovoltaic power
plants.

(c) Thermal power engineering
The thermal power engineering business mainly includes
the engineering procurement construction (“EPC") services
for thermal power plants.

(d) Other businesses
Other businesses currently mainly include various

businesses such as fiberglass chimney anti-corrosion and
air cooling system engineering general contracting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

5.

OPERATING SEGMENT
(CONTINUED)

INFORMATION

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment results,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit
before tax is measured consistently with the Group's profit before
tax except that other income, other gains and losses, non-lease-
related finance costs as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets and liabilities mainly comprise operating assets
and liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment or can
be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

Segment assets exclude unallocated intangible assets, unallocated
deferred tax assets, unallocated prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated interest-bearing bank
borrowings and other loans (other than lease liabilities) for daily
operation purposes and other unallocated head office and corporate
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. E=Z98BFE(#E)
(CONTINUED)

Environmental
protection
and energy Renewable Thermal
conservation energy power Other
Year ended 31 December 2024 solutions  engineering  engineering businesses Total
RIRER Gk
BE-B-ME+-A=T-BALEE BARE HRIE XEIR L ait

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ABBTT AEBTR ARBFT ARBTT

Segment revenue (Note 6) 2B (fir3E6)

Sales to external customers MNPEPIHE 5,497,468 252,259 - 21,179 5,770,906

Intersegment sales DEEHEE - - - 47,577 47,517
5,497,468 252,259 - 68,756 5,818,483

Reconciliation: %

Elimination of intersegment sales AHRHEERSE (47,577)

Revenue WA 5,770,906

Segment results AHEE 1,002,950 38,117 - (128,515) 912,552

Reconciliation: % -

Other income, other gains and losses HipA ~ EfpbERiEE 100,226

Finance costs (other than interest on lease &% E (T B AL A
liabilities which is included in corporate i RARRLNAES

and other unallocated expenses) EEME) (124,458)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses A RIFIEMADBFX (233,208)
Profit before tax BRAR AT 655,112
Segment assets PREE 14,730,441 463,120 7,288 55296 15,256,145
Reconciliation: -

Elimination of intersegment receivables S A HfRREYNEREH (2,120,547)

13,135,598
Unallocated intangible assets FEENEE 42,614
Unallocated deferred tax assets KORELHEEE 50,672
Unallocated prepayments, other receivables AAETEMZUE « E

and other assets BEREMEE 285,628
Restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents XB#EE BLAELE

b 1,005,737
Other unallocated head office and corporate  EM AN EABMALEE

assets 827,824

Total assets BEE 15,348,073
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. #EZE9HEHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Environmental
protection
and energy Renewable Thermal
conservation energy power Other
Year ended 31 December 2024 solutions  engineering  engineering businesses Total
RIRER TBE
BE-Z-MET-A=t-ALEE BARR HRIE KEIR Hii% ait
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  AREFn
Segment liabilities PHEE 7,106,397 470,297 22,039 39,208 8,237,941
Reconciliation: % -
Elimination of intersegment payables EDPEMENTEESE (2,120,547)
6,117,394
Unallocated interest-bearing bank RABGERTREFHEMER
borrowings and other loans (other than (TRERESE)
lease liabilities) 1,617,307
Other unallocated head office and corporate  Eft AN FAELMALEE
liabilities 103,778
Total liabilities BEE 7,838,479
Other segment information Hippdes
Impairment of trade receivables S RENERE 39,632 - - - 39,632
Reversal of impairment on contract assets &R AEHERE (5,417) - - - (5,417)
Impairment of financial assets included SARATIE « EtEKTE
in prepayments, other receivables and REMEERN S REERE
other assets - 8,561 - - 8,561
Impairment losses recognised in profitor ~ MNBHERMEERRX @ FE
loss, net 34,215 8,561 - - 42,776
Write-down of inventories FEUE - - = o =
Depreciation and amortisation FEMEH 655,914 2,759 - 16,252 674,925
Capital expenditure* ERBET 228,565 - - - 228,565
& Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARYBIEABEME - BEME

equipment and intangible assets.

2024 Annual Report
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*

BARELEE -

U, RS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. E=Z98BFE(#E)
(CONTINUED)

Environmental
protection
and energy Renewable Thermal
conservation energy power Other
Year ended 31 December 2023 solutions engineering engineering businesses Total
BIRERY MEE
BE-T-=F+-A=t-HIFE IS R At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
REFTT ANRETT BT
Segment revenue (Note 6) 2B (fir3E6)
Sales to external customers MSNPE P & 5,366,086 331,379 = 22,666 5,720,131
Intersegment sales DHREHEE - - - 37,424 37,424
5,366,086 331,379 - 60,090 5,757,555
Reconciliation: % -
Elimination of intersegment sales AHRHEEE (37,424)
Revenue WA 5,720,131
Segment results PHEE 974,505 4,236 - (79,849) 898,892
Reconciliation: -
Other income, other gains and losses HiA ~ Rl REX 157,823
Finance costs (other than interest on lease  BfE X (R B AR RIFE
liabilities which is included in corporate A RFEZ NRERERD
and other unallocated expenses) f8) (164,672)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ~ ARMEMAIEREX (274,417)
Profit before tax BRAR AT 617,626
Segment assets AHEE 16,063,249 706,122 32,890 66,355 16,868,616
Reconciliation: -
Elimination of intersegment receivables &7 BRI ZUERE # (2,213,300)
14,655,316
Unallocated intangible assets ROREVEE 34,312
Unallocated deferred tax assets AREEHEEE 12,303
Unallocated prepayments, other receivables ARAETERZUE - At el
and other assets EREMEE 314,962
Restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents XB#EE  BLNELE
=) 1,810,604
Other unallocated head office and corporate EAiA DB @M A E
assets EE 1,217,625
Total assets BEE 18,045,122

2024 SR 195
AERREXEERHERAR



196

& BB S R 2 T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

equipment and intangible assets.

2024 Annual Report
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*

WA B EE °

HE-_Z-_NWF+_A=+—HILFE
5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. #EZ9HFHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Environmental
protection
and energy Renewable Thermal
conservation energy power Other
Year ended 31 December 2023 solutions engineering engineering businesses Total
BRIREEY L
EIECEEFCASTHIER BARR fEIR KETR Hib¥7% AF
FMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANRETFT  AREFT  ARETT  AREFI REFI
Segment liabilities AHEE 9,113,737 821,481 129,063 49140 10,113,421
Reconciliation: -
Elimination of intersegment payables EABEREM AR 2,213,300)
7,900,121
Unallocated interest-bearing bank AR ERTETNEMER
borrowings and other loans (other than (TBERESE)
lease liabilities) 2,527,361
Other unallocated head office and corporate  EMAPEALNAEEE
liabilities 336,016
Total liabilities aafk 10,763,498
Other segment information HitrpHEH
Impairment of trade receivables B o RWGERE 24,504 - - - 24,504
Impairment of contract assets RREERE 5,110 - - - 5,110
Impairment of financial assets included STARIE © AfhEKGHIE
in prepayments, other receivables and REMEERN S REERNE
other assets (591) 29,248 - - 28,657
Impairment losses recognised in profit or ~ MNBHBERMEERRX @ FE
loss, net 29,023 29,248 - - 58,27
Write-down of inventories FEH%E 1,211 - - - 1,211
Depreciation and amortisation FEMSH 644,956 1,151 - 16,251 662,358
Capital expenditure* BRFER 389,844 - - - 389,844
o Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BEARZBEAEYME  BMEMK



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(CONTINUED)
Geographical information

The majority of the non-current assets are located in PRC, and
all of the revenue is generated from PRC. Therefore, no further
geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB4,882 million (2023: RMB5,119
million) was derived from the sale of goods and the rendering of
services to China Datang and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group)
(“China Datang Group”).

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS 6.

B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE
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WA - Rt A -~ Hftnllg 2

AND LOSSES Rigsk

An analysis of revenue is as follows: AR
2024 2023
—E-OEF ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTF T
Revenue from contracts with customers HEF 7B 4& REEHIKA 5,770,906 5,720,131
5,770,906 5,720,131

2024 FAEER
RERBEXEBBRNAERAF

S o

197




v NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
—— SR EERERMIET(E
= SO BRI (E)

N For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NWFE+_A=1+—HIFE
6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS 6. A s Hhig A - Hte &

AND LOSSES (CONTINUED) KRRk (i&)
Revenue from contracts with customers HERCZHERELEMIA
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information ) BWAREHSR
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_T-_MmE+-A=+-8
LFE

Environmental

protection
and energy Renewable Thermal
conservation energy power Other
Operating segments solutions  engineering  engineering businesses Total
RIRERE B4
gesd AL R ERIE KEIR H it &5

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARETn  ARBTx  AREFx  ARETx

Types of goods or services ~ BRHMBEER

Sale of industrial products HETEER 526,506 - - 18,261 544,767
Construction services RIERS 531,977 252,259 - 2,918 787,154
Desulfurisation and R R Bt e AR s

denitrification services 4,438,985 - - - 4,438,985

Total revenue from contracts BEF 2HAFEELMN
with customers LN 5 5,497,468 252,259 - 21,179 5,770,906

Timing of revenue recognition W AR
Goods transferred at a point in = A —FHEBAER
time 526,506 - - 18,261 544,767
Services transferred over time £ —ERES I NEH A
PR 4,970,962 252,259 - 2,918 5,226,139

Total revenue from contracts HEFZBEEEELMN
with customers N Gy 5,497,468 252,259 - 21,179 5,770,906
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS 6. It A - Hftilx A - Hthlr &

AND LOSSES (CONTINUED) BRiaR (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers HERZMSRAELMIA ()
(Continued)
i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) WA FE S R(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—FT-=F+=-A=+—H
IEFE
Environmental
protection
and energy Renewable
conservation energy  Thermal power Other
Operating segments solutions engineering engineering businesses Total
IRIRENEY L
g2nH BARR RRLE NETHE Hi %% Ch

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT  ARETZX

Types of goods or services ~ BRHMBEER

Sale of industrial products HETEER 275,041 - - 20,384 295,425
Construction services RIERY 770,199 331,379 - 2,282 1,103,860
Desulfurisation and R R Bt e AR S

denitrification services 4,320,846 - - - 4,320,846

Total revenue from contracts BEF 2HAFEELEMN
with customers LN Gy 5,366,086 331,379 = 22,666 5,720,131

Timing of revenue recognition W AR
Goods transferred at a point in X —HEHEBAER
time 275,041 - - 20,384 295,425
Services transferred over time £ — RS NEH A
PR 5,091,045 331,379 - 2,282 5,424,706

Total revenue from contracts HEFZBEEELMN
with customers LON iy 5,366,086 331,379 - 22,666 5,720,131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS 6. I A - HEfttlx A - Hfhllg &
AND LOSSES (CONTINUED) BRIk (18)
Revenue from contracts with customers HERZHMSAEENKA (M)
(Continued)
i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) WA EFE S R(E)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TERENEEF 2HERELRN
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in WA BEDIERFTIEESENY
the segment information: R -
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z_NNFE+=-HA=+—H
ILFE
Environmental
protection
and energy Renewable Thermal
conservation energy power Other
Operating segments solutions  engineering  engineering businesses Total
RREEE B
KERH BARRR BRIE REIR Hir%¥% &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with HEFzEEEEEMN
customers
External customers SHEBRE 5,497,468 252,259 - 21,179 5,770,906
Intersegment sales - - - 47,577 47,577
5,497,468 252,259 - 68,756 5,818,483
Intersegment adjustments and 7 2B AR A
eliminations - - - (47,577) (47,577)
Total revenue from contracts HEFzEEEEEMN
with customers 5,497,468 252,259 - 21,179 5,770,906
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS 6. I A - Hftlx A - Hfhlg &
AND LOSSES (CONTINUED) Bk (#8)
Revenue from contracts with customers HERZMSAEENKA (M)
(Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) WA FE S R(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—FT-=F+=-A=+—H
IEFE
Environmental
protection
and energy Renewable
conservation energy  Thermal power Other
Operating segments solutions engineering engineering businesses Total
IRIRETRE AE4E
BENH S EA NETR Hih %% CEl
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AEBFL ARETT
Revenue from contracts with HEFzBEEEEMN
customers /9N
External customers SHBRF 5,366,086 331,379 = 22,666 5,720,131
Intersegment sales NEEHEE - - - 37,424 37,424
5,366,086 331379 . 60090 5757555
Intersegment adjustments and 7 SR AR AE
eliminations - - - (37,424) (37,424)
Total revenue from contracts HEFzBEEEEMN
with customers LON -y 5,366,086 331,379 - 22,666 5,720,131
2024 FER

o R, . i

AEBRREXEEENERAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS
AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue

recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

WA - Rt A -« Hfthlig 2
KRRk (i&)

HBERZASRAEEMHA ()

0} WABH SR (E)

TREF A RS R ER KA
8 ZEERBMEBDEA
ARAELEBEKBENERE

the reporting period and recognised from performance BB MISARER
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
2024 2023
—E_NE —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AR®TT
Revenue recognised that was FFARSHYIERARE
included in contract liabilities at the ~ AIE FERIA :
beginning of the reporting period:
Sale of industrial products HETHEER 1,525 2,511
Construction services EERS 33,329 173,111
34,854 175,622
(ii) Performance obligations (ii) B8
Information about the Group's performance obligations is EEAREERENZEERES
summarised below: R
Sale of industrial products HETREmD

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the industrial products and payment is generally due within
30 to 90 days from delivery, where payment in advance is
normally required.

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within one year
from the date of billing. A certain percentage of payment
is retained by customers until the end of the retention
period as the Group's entitlement to the final payment
is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by
the customers over a certain period as stipulated in the
contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS
AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)
Desulfurisation and denitrification services

Under the concession operation contracts, the Group is
engaged in providing desulfurisation and denitrification
services to power plants for a period of the life cycle
of the power plants. The performance obligations are
satisfied over time as customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The
payment is generally due within 30 days from the date
of billing.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as

Ft A IS ERAR BT e (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE

WA - Rt A -« Hftnlig 2
RiR%k(i&)

BERZASRAEEMHWA ()

(i)  FRHIWFE (M)
B R A R 7

ERTFEEART ARERE
R E A HR ) B R AR B A
LR - BARKBERER
h% WEE T A ERHAR
R — B EASER o MR A8
BEEMZEEMREIOKRA -

RZBZME+-_A=+—HR
—F_=f+-_R=t+—Hak
ENRENEE (RERSLED R

follows: ERNRZERET
2024 2023
—E-OEF —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR®TT

Amounts expected to be recognised FEFHHER AW AR S 5E
as revenue

Within one year —FR 584,901 528,465

The amounts of transactions prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue within one year related to
construction services, of which the performance obligations
are to be satisfied within two years.

DEEEF BN —FAER R
AHRBRBEHNEBHOR ZERIR
RZERT - MERKERED
B o
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\‘ For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-_Z-_NWF+_A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS 6.
AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

Other income, other gains and losses

_ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

WA - Rt A -« Hfthlig 2
KRRk (i&)

Htg A - Hfthlilr & B i\ 5%

2024 2023
—EomF —F_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFT
OTHER INCOME Hi A
Interest income FLEMA 5,765 8,200
Government grants (Note) AT BN (=) 134,700 106,767
Compensation income EEEWA - 6,366
Investment income L&A 4,263 978
144,728 122,311
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES NET HiblhzmREX 0 35
Exchange gains P& 5 Uk e 516 1,684
(Loss)/gain on disposal of items of BEME - BEMEE
property, plant and equipment BB/ (BK), W (53,666) 33,828
Gain on termination of lease I E WS 12,399 =
Compensation losses RS (3,751) =
(44,502) 35,512
100,226 157,823

Note: The amount mainly represents the income related to the VAT
refunds received by the Group. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, there were no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies
attaching to the government grants that had been recognised
by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
& Ot B R MY et (48D

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE

FINANCE COSTS 7. kB2
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: W EATaT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMTFT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNFE 10,662 11,647
Interest expenses on bank borrowings SRITIE A B At B3R B 2
and other loans 133,973 166,993
Less: interest capitalised B BRI (17) (2,321)
144,618 176,319
The Group's capitalisation rate for the year ended 31 December BEZZ-WMF+A=+—RHLF
2024 was 3.5% (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 3.8%). B AEEOMBERMCERRZ35% (#

E_E_=F+A=T—HILEFE:

3.8%) °
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
= OHMBHRERNEGE)

R~ j\
N For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NWFE+_A=1+—HIFE

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. FRIRBIFIE
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AN £ bR B BT A D &5 AFOBR (B
A ATEIERBE

2024 2023

—EWEF —EZ=F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiat ARET T ARKETFT

Cost of goods sold B E KA 478,065 271,115

Cost of services provided BRI AR 4,063,393 4,303,998

Cost of sales (Note a) SHE A (MI5Ea) 4,541,458 4,575,113

Depreciation of property, plant and W - BEMRETE

equipment 14 472,654 472,483
Amortisation of intangible assets | A EH 15 30,636 31,091
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 16(a) 26,510 26,546
Amortisation of other non-current HEMIERBEERHH

assets 138,302 132,238
Research and development expenses #ffZ & H 41,031 39,152
Lease payments not included in the Rt AGtEHEAEBEHEE

measurement of lease liabilities REE 16(c) 5,087 7,732
Write-down of inventories to net GFEBREZEAIEEFE

realisable value 20 - 1,211
Auditor's remuneration ZERE < 2,260 2,260
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERFFEXZ (TEFEEEM

Directors’ and Supervisors’ EEEH AN (FI3E9) ) :

remuneration (Note9)):

Wages, salaries and allowances, TE - FHrefEl o

social securities and benefits IREERN1E A 370,831 352,690

Pension scheme contributions RIS EIH R (AEH#HER

(defined contribution scheme) &) (M Eb)
(Note b) 53,956 49,214
424,787 401,904

Impairment of financial and contract & RYEEMA REERE

assets, net: VR
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment & R&ZE ORE#E),~

losses on contract assets DIRER=ES 21 (5,417) 5,110
Impairment losses on trade B 2 ERGRIBERERX

receivables 22 39,632 24,504
Impairment losses on financial T ATEFRIE - EMENGR

assets included in prepayments, HRHEMEENSREE

other receivables and other DIRER=ES

assets 23 8,561 28,657

42,776 58,271
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B mAR N (E) 7
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

FRIRATFUE ()

e HE-_FT-_WF+=-_A=+—H
IEFENHEERABEDE - K
EAMEETE BREESH -
FREEENE  HtERHE

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 8.

Note a:Cost of sales include RMB422,282,000 (2023:
RMB422,122,000), RMB10,587,000 (2023: RMB10,699,000),
RMB25,453,000 (2023: RMB25,587,000), RMB138,302,000
(2023:RMB132,238,000) and RMB121,221,000 (2023:

RMB115,532,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
relating to depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
amortisation of intangible assets, depreciation of right-of-use
assets, amortisation of other non- current assets and employee
benefit expense which are also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above.

Note b:Pension scheme contributions

The Group is required to make specific contributions to the

B Db

CRREEE

EEHEUKEERINBAIS A
AR#422,282,0000( =T = =
F: ANR¥422,122,0007C )
AR 10,587,000 (=& ==
F: AR%10,699,0000T) « AR
¥ 25,453,000 T( = F = = F:
A R #25587,0007 ) AR
138,302,000 L( =T = =4F: A
R % 132,238,000t ) X A R #
121,221,000L(ZE==F : AR
#115,5632,0007T) * & IEINETA
REXDFAEBENSERERLE -

AEBFRTFREIRELEN

state-sponsored retirement plan at rates ranging from 14% 14%E20% (ZZE_=F : 14% &
to 20% (2023: 14% to 20%) of the specified salaries of the 20% ) B IE X F B R4 F 0 B
employees in the PRC. The PRC government is responsible TRARSE - FEBFEEZSE
for the pension liability to the retired employees. The PRC BRREINEZSEMT - ~A5EK

employees of the Group are entitled to a monthly pension
upon their retirements.

In addition, the Group has implemented a supplementary
defined contribution retirement scheme in accordance with
China Datang's policy. Under this scheme, the Group is required
to make specified contributions at a rate of 8% (2023: 8%) of
the total salaries of qualified employees. These employees will
receive the total contributions and any returns thereon upon
their retirements.

Contributions to the defined contribution plans by the Group
for its employees are fully and immediately vested when the
contributions are made and may not be reduced by contributions
forfeited by employees who leave the plans prior to vesting
fully in the contributions.

T B8 TRIKE T A BEUER
K&

It S $E@&F¢IK%Mﬁ
RETTRECRENHERAEEZ S
%oﬁf%+ﬂ AEEFEFTE
FENETHNETTERNS% (=
T-=4F :8%)MFRIE - %%EI
PORRES 8 1S T &l 10 42

& it E A BRI El R o

K’igﬁfﬁéﬁiﬁri{#m#%f’ﬁﬁ

A E B R BV 2 8058
J% THEEENHARZEEBEAIR
HET B W E R TR D
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v NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
=~ SR EmKRME(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HItEE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 9. EFEMES=HM
REMUNERATION

The aggregate amounts of remuneration of the Directors and RAREEMESFRNTEREDT :
Supervisors of the Company during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-MF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR®TT
Fees e 300 300
Other emoluments: HEMe
— Salaries, housing benefits, other —%& - EEEN - HaERL
allowances and benefits in kind MEYEF 2,711 3,778
— Pension scheme contributions (defined —iRAKS&HEIME IR (FE HR
contribution scheme) FT&)) 202 388
- Bonus —JEAL - =
Total aat 3,213 4,466
The remuneration of each director and supervisor of the Company RRARSEERESHE_ZT_MF+
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below: ZA=T+—HLFENFMOT
Salaries,
housing Pension
benefits, scheme
other contributions
allowances (defined
and benefits  contribution Total
Fees in kind scheme) remuneration
e EFE  Bikend
A - HfEag HR(RE
reE NEYEF R E) et
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
fiaF AREFT AREFTT ARETT AR%Frn
Executive director: HTES:
Mr. Zhu Liming RHBPRE - 1,014 68 1,082
- 1,014 68 1,082
Non-executive directors: FBTES:
Mr. Wu Daging RARELE i = = = =
Mr. Chen Kan BRIT % & ] = = = =
Mr. Wang Jung TEREE i) - - = =
Mr. Song Yunpeng REBLE - 465 68 533
Mr. Shen Zhen RERAE (i) - 289 - 289
Mr. Xu Chun BRERE ] = = = =
Mr. Pang Xiaojin FEEELE (i) - = = =
Mr. Xia Huaixiang BEERLE (i) - - - =
Mr. Chu Hongbo BRREE i = = = =
- 754 68 822
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9.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’' 9. EEMEEHM(E)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
Salaries,
housing Pension
benefits, scheme
other contributions
allowances (defined
and benefits  contribution Total
Fees in kind scheme) remuneration
¢ IEE  EB#fReis
A - He2E HR(RE
we  NEWER R E) B
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Vi3 AREFL ARETFT AREFL AREF
Independent non-executive directors: BIYFHTES :
Mr. Ye Xiang AL (i) 83 - - 83
Mr. Mao Zhuanjian EHREE 100 - - 100
Mr. Gao Jiaxiang BRI L (i) 83 - - 83
Mr. Suen Chun Hung, Benjamin BRBEE (iii) 17 - - 17
Ms. Hu Yunging EEL T (i) 17 - - 17
300 - - 300
Supervisors: EE:
Mr. Huang Yuan FEAE (iv) - 258 - 258
Mr. Zhang Xuefeng REE A - - - -
Mrs. Luo Li BRZT - 685 66 751
Mr. Liu Liming WSIER %A (iv) = = = =
- 943 66 1,009
300 2,711 202 3,213
Notes: BaT -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Xu Chun, Mr. Pang Xiaojin, Mr. Xia Huaixiang and Mr. Chu
Hongbo were appointed as non-executive directors with effect
from 2 August 2024, while Mr. Wu Daging, Mr. Chen Kan and
Mr. Wang Junai retired the positions on the same date.

Mr. Shen Zhen resigned as a non-executive director with effect
from 2 August 2024.

Mr. Suen Chun Hung, Benjamin and Ms. Hu Yunging were
appointed as independent non-executive directors with effect
from 2 August 2024, while Mr. Ye Xiang and Mr. Gao Jiaxiang
retired the positions on the same date.

Mr. Liu Liming was appointed as a supervisor with effect from
2 August 2024, while Mr. Huang Yuan's resignation took effect
on the same date.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BRESLE  BREZELRE B2
FEREAR S EER T AT
BT BT-WNENAZHRE
Mo RRIA - RRELE - BRITE
ERTFERREERTIIIENTES -

REEERTIHFNTES  B=F
“mENAZBBAERK -

BRIRBEERABERTLTREZER
BIYEATEE BT _OFEN
AH-AEEXK - REA - HH%
ERBREEEREBIIFNTE
= o

MZAEERZERESE B=F
“HENAZHEER - RER
BRFCEREES °
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v NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
—— SHIBHmERMTEE)
\N‘ For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_Z_MF+_A=T—HLFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’' 9. EFEMERHMHM(HE)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

The remuneration of each director and supervisor of the Company RARSEENESHE_T_=F+
for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below: A=+ —HLEFENFMNT
Salaries, Pension
housing scheme
benefits, other  contributions
allowances (defined
and benefits contribution Total
Fees in kind scheme)  remuneration

¥e o EFE R
M~ EfhER HRRE

e MEWMEN 6D kot
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Wi ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETL

Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Zhu Liming bR = 783 65 848
Mr. Shen Zhen RE%AE (i) - 702 43 745
- 1,485 108 1,593
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Wu Daging RRELE - - i -
Mr. Chen Kan BT 5 & = - 3 -
Mr. Wang Jungi FEEESE = = = -
Mr. Song Yunpeng REBEE - 634 70 704
Mr. Shen Zhen HELE (i) - _ _ g
- 634 70 704
Independent non-executive directors: B IEHTEE :
Mr. Ye Xiang WAL 100 - - 100
Mr. Mao Zhuanjian FEEEE 100 = - 100
Mr. Gao Jiaxiang BRELE 100 = - 100
300 - - 300
Supervisors: Es:
Mr. Huang Yuan HRLE (i) - 941 65 1,006
Mr. Zhang Xuefeng RERL A - _ _ _
Mrs. Luo Li B L - 718 145 863
- 1,659 210 1,869
300 3,778 388 4,466

210 2024 Annual Report
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Shen Zhen was re-designated from an executive director
to a non-executive director with effect from 18 October 2023.

(ii) Mr. Huang Yuan resigned as a supervisor in January 2024. His
resignation has become effective upon the appointment of the
new supervisor elected at the general meeting of the Company
held on 2 August 2024.

In 2024, the remuneration of Mr. Wu Daging, Mr. Chen Kan, Mr.
Wang Jungi, Mr. Xu Chun, Mr. Pang Xiaojin, Mr. Xia Huaixiang,
Mr. Chu Hongbo, Mr. Zhang Xuefeng and Mr. Liu Liming was paid
by China Datang, and no remuneration was paid by the Company.

In 2023, the remuneration of Mr. Wu Daging, Mr. Chen Kan, Mr.
Wang Jungi and Mr. Zhang Xuefeng was paid by China Datang,
and no remuneration was paid by the Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors during
the year as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

BB EERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

EEMEEHME)

(i) I ERNITERATRIENT
8 BT =F+A+/\Bit
ER o

(ii) EREAN T _NFE— FBHEE
EoHBEAR-_ZE-_WENAZR
MRITHARRREASRBES
I TESEEEEBENR -

—TomE - RREXE  BROLEE
TRERELE  BRELELE  BESLE
BEFEL  #HERELE R RBELL
NWISIRREE 2 H B PERES A
AR BWARZ A EREH

—To=F 0 RREXRE  BRMKE
FTERBREERREBERE 2FHMATE
REAN - AR TR HERFE -

FAREELERAEEINME(ERM
ABMARKE RN EE R RRERE

it
g o

FABEE R R NKF B IRE A H B
K& HE

2024 SR
AERREXEERHERAR

|

21

I



212

B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEEEHEMES
The five highest paid employees included one supervisor (Mrs. BEZZT-MF+A=+—RHLtHF
Luo Li) and four senior executives during the year ended of 31 B hEEaFWAERE—RES(E
December 2024 (2023: one supervisor and four senior executives). MZL)ROZEBITBRAB(ZEZ=
Details of directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration are set out in F:—REERNESRITHRAE) &
Note 9 of this section above. Details of the remuneration for the FAE SN E = H 1B E RN £ XXARET K
year of the highest paid senior executives who are not directors T BRANFEARARRERTHESNES
or supervisors of the Company are as follows: FNERITBRAEBNFEEHFEEHT
mE
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fir AREFT
Salaries, housing benefits, other e o EEEAN - BRI
allowances and benefits in kind BEYEH 4,400 4,585
Pension scheme contributions (defined BIRE B (R E®KETED)
contribution scheme) 334 326
Bonus TEAT - -
Total G 4,734 4,911

The number of non-director and non-supervisor highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is
as follows:

HEFRFEFNRRTMHAR ZFHH
NRATRERAZNT :

Number of employees

BEAE
2024 2023
—ENE =
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ%1,000,000/8 7T 4 4
Total A&t 4 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
employees during the year as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic
of China ( (RZEARKEMBEMBEFMSHIE) ) and the Enterprise
Income Tax Law Implementation Regulations of the People’s
Republic of China ( (REARKEMBELCEMSEERIZH) ), the
Company and its certain subsidiaries have been recognised as
high—technology enterprises and are subject to a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 15%.

Under the above tax law and regulations, except for preferential
treatments available to certain branches and subsidiaries of the
Company as mentioned above, subsidiaries within the Group are
subject to corporate income tax at the statutory rate of 25%.

The subsidiary of the Company in India was subject to corporate
income tax at a rate of 26% during the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2024 (26 % during the period from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2023).

The components of income tax expense for the year are as follows:

11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BB EERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

FRiSRBAST

R EARKMBE R ASETOEIM
(PEARKMBEECERSHREEEE
By RRRMETHEBARERN RS
R GE  Z15%NEEWEHMMEE
FRSH -

BIEEMABEAFER  BRARXR £
MEFTHARMHBRAREAEESFS
N - REBERRE ALK B A [ EIR25%
KA BB EAEH -

RAERENE M B A RIE R 26% &9 5t
RN —FE_NMF-—A—HE=ZZT -/
F+-_A=1+—HMEEMSHRURR
26% MM EFMN—_"T-_=F—F—H=
TE-ZHF+-A=1+—HBHNLEMRSE
i) e

FRPTSHFA AR AT

2024 2023
—EZEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FiT ARBTF T
Current tax BNERFRT1S R
Provision for the year FREMHE 121,961 103,445
Overprovision in respect of prior years VA & Z B RE e (5,237) (3,719)
Deferred tax (Note 18) BEEFTISTR (MIFE18) (14,057) 14,330
102,667 114,056
2024 FER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

#=

11.

12.

TECNE+A=+-RAIFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B G R I

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11. FRSMBAZ (&)
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit ¢Wﬁﬁﬁ¢‘iﬁﬁ KA TSR R
before tax using the statutory income tax rate applicable in the HERBRF AT EEAEH A HEiE
PRC to the income tax expense at the Group's effective income AEENERMERBEERAENER
tax rate for the year is as follows: A HRAT :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFIT
Profit before tax R BN 655,112 617,626
Income tax at the statutory income tax R25%HETE TS R B/
rate of 25% (2023: 25%) FSHi( =T ==%F : 256%) 163,778 154,406
Effect of the preferential income tax rate FTSREERREZNTE (51,994) (61,763)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR 2,757 2,079
Additional deduction of research and 3 & R BN
development expenses (5,259) (3,653)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of LAk B BIHART SR AU A2
previous periods (5,237) (3,719)
Effect of utilisation of unrecognised tax RN AEFE R ERHFEEA
losses in prior years T (1,378) (7,020)
Deductible temporary differences and tax A< HERRH) AT I 30T 14 2= ZE AL
losses not recognised THEE - 33,726
Income tax charge for the year FRFAERE I 102,667 114,056
The Group's effective rate AEBPERF =X 15.67% 18.47%
DIVIDENDS 12. B2
The dividends during the years ended 31 December 2024 and HE_T-_NWEFR-_F-_=F+=-8A=
2023 are set out below: F+—HIEFEZREINTOAT :
2024 2023
—EWEF —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT AR FT
Dividends declared to owners of the ERTFERARIHEAE ARRKE
parent 314,500 148,377
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

12. DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

During 2024, the final dividend of RMB225,547,000 at
RMBO0.076 (2023: RMBO0.05) per ordinary share (before
tax) in respect of the year of 2023, based on the issued
shares of the Company of 2,967,542,000 shares, was
declared to owners of the parent (2023: RMB148,377,000).
No Shareholder of the Company has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.

During 2024, the interim dividend of RMB88,953,000 at
RMBO0.03 per ordinary share (before tax) in respect of the
year of 2024, based on the issued shares of the Company
of 2,967,542,000 shares, was declared to owners of the
parent.

On 28 March 2025, the Board proposed to distribute the
final dividend of RMBO0.051 per ordinary share (before tax)
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the People’'s Republic of China (
= AR MBI FEFTEFEL) ) and its implementation rules,
the Company will withhold and pay enterprise income tax
at the rate of 10% when it distributes final dividends to
non-resident enterprise holders of H shares (including any
H shares registered in the name of HKSCC Nominees
Limited).

Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Individual
Income Tax Law of the People’'s Republic of China ( {
= AR LMBIEAFTSHEE) ) and its implementation rules
as well as the Tax Notice, the Company will withhold and
pay individual income tax at the rate ranging from 10% to
20% on behalf of individual holders of H shares.

B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

12. BRB(#)

(i)

(i)

R-_DZT-_MEFE . KQa K
2,967,542,000 f% 2 % 17 J& {5 [
BRRHEBEARE T _=FF
RS  BREBRIEEA
RE0.076T(ZE=-=5F: AR
¥0.057T) (A1) - &t AR
225,547,000c( Z T == : A
R #148,377,0007T ) » #f £ K
PN E R E R E R B R E A

=
o

RZZTE_WF - KARQa K
2,967,542,000 % E 17 I& {7 [A)
BRRHEBEARE S _NFE
FHIRE BRETBRIKEA
R#0.037T(HiA) - &5t AR
88,953,0007T °

MN2025F3H2808  EFEEH
IR 20241231 B IEF
ERRAREERERBRARE
0.051 7T (HiAN) °

RIBSPEARKMBEEEMSH
FOYREB GG ZER G
RRBEEEMHR(BIEATE
PREFE(REA)BRAREE
BRZEMHER)FERREERFE
NIREE R EARR SRR 10% B K78
MR ERAER -

RIBCHE AR AN EAFTS 5
E) R BB e R 2 8 R RSUA K
BB - ADQEHRRHBE
ABEABHEBANTF10%E
20% TEZBEAMRBH °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

13.

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly,
the diluted earnings per share amounts are the same as the basic

earnings per share amounts.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BATFIRERISAAEMGS
Bz &7

BHE-_Z-_NFER-_ZT-_=F+=-A=
+—HIEFE  SREABFNSEHE
REAREERFTEABGEFNERE %
TEBRINEEIEGTE -

HE_T-_WFRZF_=F+=ZA=
+—BLEE  ARAWELMAEET
BEEERG  WEREBERF£EE
BREKRBFCFEER o

BREANEERNRE THISBTE

2024 2023
—BClEF —R_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
Earnings 27 AR¥Fr AR®TT
Profit attributable to ordinary equity FTEERER SR TR A
holders of the parent, used in the basic/ HIRAEILBIIEAE AL
diluted earnings per share calculation b 549,060 522,375
Number of shares
B
2024 2023
Shares &%) —EoNE —ET—=

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, used
in the basic/diluted earnings per share
calculation (share)

FHESRER RN ERA
MFAB BT EBBRINEFS
(B0

2,967,542,000 2,967,542,000

2024 2023

Earnings per share BRER 113 —E-=F
Basic/diluted earnings per share BRER HERAF RMBO0.19 RMBO0.18
AR¥0.19T ARE#0.187T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

14. Y% - BEMERE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings Office Construction
and other Transportation ~ equipment in progress
infrastructure Machinery vehicles  and others (“CIP”) Total
EFA BARER
HitERRiE e ERIA Hitr ERIE fit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETH ARBFT ARETT ABEFT ARETZ
Cost: A
At 1 January 2024 RZBZWE—F—H 1,485,654 8,881,602 22,629 142,766 254,159 10,786,810
Additions hE 22,613 4,311 6,287 5,145 123,234 161,590
Transfer from CIP MR TIRER 149,236 182,069 672 9 (331,986) -
Disposals EE (9,196) (193,729) - (9,787) (4,615) (217,327)
At 31 December 2024 RZZF-ME+=A=1+—-H 1,648,307 8,874,253 29,588 138,133 40,792 10,731,073
Accumulated depreciation: R3HH7E :
At 1 January 2024 RZEZWE—F—H (481,906)  (3,762,776) (20,395) (86,640) - (4,351,717)
Provision B (64,755) (412,105) (1,322) (8,224) - (486,406)
Disposals RE 7,750 92,395 - 9,063 - 109,208
At 31 December 2024 RZBZMET-A=1-H (538,911)  (4,082,486) (21,717) (85,801) - (4728915
Impairment; HE
At 1 January 2024 RZEZWFE—F—H (13,508) (18,306) - - - (31,814)
Provision il - (42,785) - - - (42,785)
Disposals RE - 2,734 - - - 2,734
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-ME+-A=1—H (13,508) (58,357) - - - (71,865)
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2024 RZB-EF+-A=1—H 1,095,888 4,733,410 7,87 52,332 40,792 5,930,293
At 31 December 2023 RZZ==F+-f=1—H 990,240 5,100,520 2,234 56,126 254,159 6,403,279
2024 FE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

—E-NE+-_A=+—HItFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B G R I

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. P¥ - BEMRHE ()
(CONTINUED)
Buildings Office  Construction
and other Transportation equipment and in progress
frastructure Machinery vehicles others (‘CIP") Total
BARER
e EBTE Hfty IR At
RMB’000 RMB 000 HMB 000 /?MB 000

ARETT  AREFIL
Cost; A
At 1 January 2023 RZZ-=%-H-H 1,469,778 8,911,821 26,247 137,197 205,321 10,750,364
Additions E - 7817 766 5,677 349,853 364,113
Transfer from CIP mEETRER 17,428 280,736 - 6 (298,170) =
Transfer from/to IA mEMEEEL /B S = - - (45) (45)
Disposals RE (1,552) (318,772) (4,384) (114) (2,800) (327,622)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+-A=1-H 1485654 8,881,602 22,629 142,766 254,159 10,786,810
Accumulated depreciation: R3t#7E :
At 1 January 2023 RWZE_=#—f—H (423,572)  (3,508,006) (24,445) (77,446) = (4,033,469)
Provision B (58,502) (404,619) (115) (9,247) = (472,483)
Disposals RE 168 149,849 4,165 53 - 154,235
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+-A=+-H (481,906)  (3,762,776) (20,39) (86,640) = (4,351,717)
Impairment: A
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%#-f-H (13,508) (181,184) = = (2,800) (197,492)
Disposals RE - 162,878 - - 2,800 165,678
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=4+-A=t-H (13,508) (18,306) = - = (31,814)
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=4#+-/=t-H 990,240 5,100,520 2,234 56,126 254,159 6,403,279
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-#+-A=1+—H 1,032,698 5,222,631 1,802 59,751 202,521 6,519,403

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has been in the process
of applying for the ownership certificates of buildings with a
net carrying amount of RMB153,235,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB141,111,000).

During the year, an impairment loss of RMB42,785,000 was
recognised for machinery of environmental protection and
energy conservation solutions segment as a result of technical
innovation (2023: Nil). The Group's management assessed the
recoverable amounts of those assets by the fair values less costs
of disposal model and recognised the above impairment loss. The
key assumption is the average unit price in the market, which is
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The significant
unobservable input is the discount rate which is zero.

2024 Annual Report
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15.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

B RE

Non-patented

Development

Patents  technology expenditure Software Total
ER  FEFEM GRS gH &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETn AREFr ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-_NF—F—H 188,265 116,975 29,809 60,894 395,943
Additions NE - - 20,644 990 21,634
Reclassification RN E 4,785 6,661 (11,446) - -
Disposals RE - = = (420) (420)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=1—H 193,050 123,636 39,007 61,464 417,157
Accumulated amortisation: Rt #is
At 1 January 2024 RZE-_NF—A—H (68,052) (87,587) - (25,910) (181,549)
Provision Bl (15,831) (9,674) - (5,551) (31,056)
Disposals RE - - - 420 420
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=1—H (83,883) (97,261) - (31,041) (212,185)
Net carrying amount: IREFE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-N&E+-A=+—H 109,167 26,375 39,007 30,423 204,972
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=#+-A=1—H 120,213 29,388 29,809 34,984 214,394
2024 FER
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e NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
= OHMBHRERNEGE)

N For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-T-mF+-A=+-BLFE
15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 15. E|EEFE(E)
Non-patented ~ Development
Patents technology expenditure Software Total
B JEERIR R EANES G
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETE ARETT ARETZ  ARETR
Cost: ﬁizli :
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-=%—-A—H 158,490 114,726 50,426 59,888 383,530
Additions ANE - - 24,771 961 25,732
Reclassification EXrip 29,775 2,249 (32,024) - -
Recognised in research and ~ HAHZERh R
development expenses = - (13,364) = (13,364)
Transfer from/to PPE BYE - BENR
LT /4 - UN - - - 45 45
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H 188,265 116,975 29,809 60,894 395,943

Accumulated amortisation: i*mﬁ :

1 January 2023 RZZZ=%F—Hf—H (53,790) (76,067) = (20,601) (150,458)
Provision B (14,262) (11,520) = (5,309) (31,091)
At 31 December 2023 RZ-=%+-"A=+—H (68,052) (87,587) = (25,910) (181,549)
Net carrying amount: EEE%E :

At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F+-FR=+—H 120,213 29,388 29,809 34,984 214,394
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—&#+-F=+—H 104,700 38,659 50,426 39,287 233,072
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no intangible assets REZEZMER_ET_=F+=A=+
of the Group pledged to secure bank borrowings and other loans. —HB - AEBEWEAEFEEERRT
ERMEMEROER -

220 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (CONTINUED)

Ft A IS ERAR BT e (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE

LEASES 16. #HE
The Group as a lessee FEEEREBEAN
The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings and AEERETEEBTERNSEETF
other infrastructure, machinery, transportation vehicles and office MEMEREE - 5 - BT AN
equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made /N “1%5’]@5/\ B - REBERAIEL
upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease RMERFAMFEEBRARE 1 -
periods of 30 to 47 years, and no ongoing payments will be made Eﬁﬁ_ﬂ'i@‘i"ti IR E L 3
under the terms of these land leases. Leases of buildings and other HWER - BEFEESHERRIE -8
infrastructure generally have lease terms between 1 and 10 years. FMEMERSENEL —RKE—Z+
Machinery, transportation vehicles and office equipment generally F oz  EHTARPAERMENE
have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or are individually of H—RATZEANUT - MEREE
low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and BE o —RRFH - AEBETFEAEE
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. BEMAEB I NEZEMEHE -
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and $’$ EFRAEEENEREOELSE
the movements during the year are as follows: VEBIERAT ¢
Buildings
Leasehold and other
land infrastructure Total
BFAEAM
HE+ HiE i &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARKEFT ARE T
As at 1 January 2023 RZZ-_=%—HF—H 17,206 276,024 293,230
Additions b=yl 29,598 - 29,598
Depreciation charge FERS (958) (25,588) (26,546)
As at 31 December 2023 and W-ZF-_=F+_-A=1+—HEK
1 January 2024 —ZE-FE—-H—H 45,846 250,436 296,282
Lease modification HEZ - (19,317) (19,317)
Depreciation charge TERX (1,057) (25,453) (26,510)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-_WNF+=-_A=+—H 44,789 205,666 250,455

2024 SR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

16. LEASES (CONTINUED) 16. HE ()
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FREESEHEA(IE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAR
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under HEAENREABE(BEETER
interest-bearing bank borrowings and other loans) and the ITIRRMEMEZIET ) MERNH
movements during the year are as follows: FEIFRAT
2024 2023
—EolF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFIT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BMEREE 270,224 292,887
Lease modification HEZFE (31,598) =
Accretion of interest recognised during AREE#ERFSE B
the year 10,662 11,647
Payments (NG (34,309) (34,310)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—HKMEKRAEE 214,979 270,224
Analysed into: DA
Current portion mEnEs D 21,325 23,229
Non-current portion IETRENER D 193,654 246,995

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note

HEBENIH B DTN E Gt

38 to the consolidated financial statements. TERFMIFEISH I EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B PR R MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. LEASES (CONTINUED) 16.
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

BE_T-NFT-A=t—HILFE

HE (&)

FREESEHEAGE)

() RIRSPHERZHEZHAREM

leases are as follows: TF:
2024 2023
—EolF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFiT ARBTF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGERE 10,662 11,647
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENERS
assets 26,510 26,546
Expense relating to short-term RS EAE SN ER (G
leases (included in cost of sales, ABHEXAR ~ ITHHAX
administrative expenses and selling SHEMDHERT)
and distribution expenses) 3,553 7,516
Expense relating to leases of low-value LEAEREEEEHLBOE
assets (included in administrative B GIFAITTBRX)
expenses) 1,534 216
Total amount recognised in profit or R AIBEMNERE
loss 42,259 45,925

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note 32(b)
to the consolidated financial statements.

HEAEMRANRE SRR ER A G
BT HRRFTRES2(0) P B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HESLAAREREAR
SR ARMES KRR E

INCOME 2"
2024 2023
—EolF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFIT
Equity investments designated at fair value 55U AR EBENERE
through other comprehensive income BET AL S WM
EERE
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value JELTREREE  BAAE
(Note) B (=)
China Datang Group Technology Innovation — Bl AEEERIEAIFBR
Co., Ltd. NG| 3,587 -
Note: On 28 December 2023, the Company has entered into the capital PR -

contribution agreement with China Datang, Datang International
Power Generation Co., Ltd., Guangxi Guiguan Electric Power
Co., Ltd. and China Datang Renewable Power Maintenance
Co., Ltd., which are the subsidiaries of China Datang and
DEC Academy of Science and Technology, in relation to the
proposed formation of the company with a registered capital
of RMB1,000 million. Pursuant to the capital contribution
agreement, the Company shall make a capital contribution
of RMB50,000,000, representing 5% equity interest in the
company. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has made a capital contribution of RMB5,000,000
and the remaining capital contribution of RMB45,000,000 has
not been paid as at the end of the reporting period.

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18.

& BRI M i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE

DEFERRED TAX 18. RIEIRIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the FARRHECRIBEEERBENEZ S
year are as follows: T
Deferred tax assets BIERAEE
Fair value
adjustments
of equity
investments
at fair value
Elimination through other
Impairment Accrued Deferred of unrealised Lease comprehensive
of assets expenses income profit liabilities income Total
NARER
TEAHES
HARMEE
AER hafkERE

BERE  EHER  EEME 0 WREER  RERR NOARERE fi
AUBON) AMBODO  AMBUON)  AMBODO  AMBN) RUBO00  AMBUOD

NEETT  ARETT  ARETx NEETT NEBTT  AREFT

At 1 January 2024 R=Z-mE-F—H 24,677 135 3,172 8,325 37,937 - 74,846
Deferred tax credited/charged) to profit 4 AT /(IR B ke

or loss during the year (Note 11) SEREHA(BRE1) 14,287 (63) (293) 1,421 (6,710) - 8,642
Deferred tax credited to other Emst AE A Mt

comprehensive income during the EiERE

year - - - - - 212 212
Gross deferred tax assets at RZE-MET-A=1-A

31 December 2024 BEEREAELE 38,964 72 3479 9,746 31,21 212 83,700
At 1 January 2023 R=Z-=%-F-H 44,083 162 4,334 5,391 - - 53970
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profit Mzt A/HI)BZE

or loss during the year (Note 11) SERERA (f711) (19,406) 27) (562) 2934 37937 - 20876
Gross deferred tax assets at RZE-=F+-f=1-A

31 December 2023 MEEREAELE 24,677 135 3712 8,325 37,937 - 74,846

2024 giﬁ
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

18. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

18. EERIA(HE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2024 Annual Report

Deferred tax liabilities EERIFA R
Right-of-use
assets Total
FEREEE &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFr ARMTF T
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-_MF—HF—H 35,206 35,206
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FRFTABZIELERIE
during the year (Note 11) (P&E11) (5,415) (5,415)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R-ZZE-_WMFE+=-A=+—H
31 December 2024 HIRET A B B 29,791 29,791
At 1 January 2023 R-ZT-=%—H—H - -
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss FR BB NRAELERIE
during the year (Note 11) (MFsE11) 35,206 35,206
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R—ZE—_=F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2023 REETSTE B (S48 %E 35,206 35,206
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
T R e W
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BB EERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 18. EIEIRIA(#E)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) BRIERIEA R ()
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BRABEEHR  ETEEHIEEERAE
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. EREHTBARARFESE - LTAK
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the SERERIBAR 2 DN - A H®
Group for financial reporting purposes: S22
2024 2023
—E-ME ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFIT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the TE& P R R R A
consolidated statement of financial position  iEIEFIIE &L E5E 83,700 74,846
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the — fE& HFBA A N R FER Y
consolidated statement of financial position  iEEFIIE B (& F5E (29,791) (35,206)
Net deferred tax assets BRI A EF58 53,909 39,640

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has tax losses arising in
India of RMB101,116,000 (31 December 2023: RMB103,575,000)
that will expire up to eight years for offsetting against future
taxable profits of Technologies & Engineering India, an overseas
subsidiary of the Group. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
tax losses arising in the PRC of RMB937,607,000 (31 December
2023: RMB902,399,000). As at 31 December 2024, the Group
has deductible temporary differences of RMB221,130,000 (2023:
RMB242,309,000) in respect of impairment losses.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses or deductible temporary differences as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

RZZE-_WF+=ZA=+—8 ' &&
ERENNENHEBEBESEAARE
101,116,000 c( ZE ==+ =R =
+—8: AK%103,5750007C) A
RARNFRNENAER 2 BN EA
AR TRREE R RN R RERTTSE
Ho-RZZE-ZWME+=ZA=+—8 -
AEERAFENFHEEESEAAR
# 937,607,000 L( ZE==F+=A=
+—H8 : AK#0902,399,0007T) - A=
TWEF+ZA=+—8 ' A&ERE
BAMAEKOTENEREEEASAR
#221,130,000 (ZE==F : AR
242,309,0007T) °

W AR L% T B 18 3 ] 0 B 1 A R
RELCHRBEEE  RA/ZEFEHRNKA
EHE R Z 5 2 A 1E — RS A B
BARARESL B/ T KRR R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19. HthIEREIEE
2024 2023
—ET-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTFr
Long-term prepaid expenses REFHER 253,867 245,907
Others i 69,504 57,434
323,371 303,341

20. INVENTORIES 20. &

2024 2023
—EEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFr ARMTT
Raw materials R 85,423 128,261
Work in progress EE M 3,100 7,945
Finished goods SUK T 98,984 25,911
187,507 162,117

During the year, no amount (2023: RMB1,211,000) was recognised
as an expense for written down inventories to net realisable value.
This is recognised in administrative expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. CONTRACT ASSETS

B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

21. SFREE

31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-MEF T =F —E=F
+=BA=+—-8 +=—A=+—¢H —HA—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARMTr ARKEF T

Contract assets arising from:  [NHZBEEAMEREE:
Construction services BE RS 159,120 325,962 152,445
Sale of industrial products HETEXER 18,915 21,691 33,700
178,035 347,653 186,145
Less: provision for impairment & : JR{EEE (2,113) (7,530) (2,420)
Total 1@zt 175,922 340,123 183,725

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from
the sale of industrial products and construction services as the
receipt of consideration is conditional on successful completion
of construction, respectively. Upon completion of construction
and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as
contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables. The decrease
in contract assets in 2024 was the results of the decrease in the
provision of construction services at the end of the year.

EREEMNVEEADIIRANEET
EEMARZERBEENEA  #R
GHRIREETITE - AT TRLLE
BEFRKE  HRAREAEENEEH
ENODBERBEHEWFIA - — T _MF
B REER D B RS Rk H R
e
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21.

—  ABETBRENEE)

N For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-T-_NFT-A=t—HLFE
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 21. EREE(#E)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, RMB5,417,000 was BE-_T-—_mWE+-_AB=+—HIt &
reversed as impairment loss on contract assets. During the year ECARCERBEERLANELDSEAA
ended 31 December 2023, an impairment loss of RMB5,110,000 R¥5 417,0007C c BE-_E-=F+=
was recognised on contract assets. The Group’'s trading terms B=+—HIFE  BRAAREERE
and credit policy with customers are disclosed in Note 22 to the B ARYES110,0007T - AEEEEFE
consolidated financial statements. X SEIREERERAHHBERE
BiFE22 9 5R -
The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets R+—A=4+—H8  AREEEFWE
as at 31 December is as follows: RAEERRENT
2024 2023
—ZgE —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETIT
Within one year —F LA 175,922 340,123
Total contract assets GREBERTE 175,922 340,123
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract AREEREBKIEFENEHNT
assets are as follows:
2024 2023
—BopmF i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
At beginning of year REY) 7,530 2,420
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment CRERE), RER%
losses, net R (5,417) 5,110
At end of year RER 2,113 7,530
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BB EERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED) 21. SFREE(HE)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to AEEREBERESBETAREERE
measure expected credit losses on contract assets. The provision A AETEEFERAEXREE - AR
rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the EREEAE SERFIERBERNE
contract assets are based on those of the trade receivables as FH  GREEBERBREBEBERI
the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the same B RKFIERFEREAR AR -
customer bases. Similar to trade receivables, the contract assets B2 5 W GIEMALL - BT EHE =
from related parties and third parties are assessed separately KMEREEKRBETRANERRERS&
based on their different credit risks characteristics, the detailed DRIFE - BT REHTBHRE
analysis of which can be referred to Note 22 to the consolidated MfsE22 ©
financial statements.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on NTENEBEAEEEREEERARR
the Group’s contract assets: AR ER :
As at 31 December 2024 REZB-WE+=ZA=+—H
Related Third
parties parties Total
BAE S =5 a5t
Expected credit loss rate TEEE AIBAE 1.772% 1.13%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) HEmMBEARETT) 15,799 162,236 178,035
Expected credit losses (RMB’'000) BHERBRX(ARBTT) 280 1,833 2,113
As at 31 December 2023 R-F_=F+_A=+—H
Related Third
parties parties Total
Eliccay B=h A&t
Expected credit loss rate TEARE B AR 0.855% 2.49%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEmMBEARETT) 69,368 278,285 347,653
Expected credit losses (RMB’'000) TEEERER(ARETIT) 593 6,937 7,530
2024 R
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e NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=~ S B RS M e (&)
\ For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-_Z-_NWF+_A=+—HILFE
22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

22. BHBKRAMEKRE

2024 2023

—EolF —EC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT AREFIT

Trade receivables =) &0 6,731,955 7,797,976
Less: provision for impairment o RERE (366,038) (333,490)
6,365,917 7,464,486

Bills receivable FEUT = 15 400,206 539,001
6,766,123 8,003,487

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally within one year.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over the outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

(a) Ageing analysis

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables, based
on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period is

BRHEPBERNEMNRI  AEE
HEFPHNESGRREIEZEMGNK - 5
AR —FURN - 8—FFHEF
EERERAEE - AREHNRKE
R MK R TR BR B BR A B 45 ) DA B EORUEL A
AR  BRREREARREREE
HEZ - BHRUGRIAETET R -

(a) HKRECH#H

REREHR - B 5 EKRKM
U EEIZERAHNRE DT

as follows: R
2024 2023
—EDEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARMTT
Within 1 year —FR 4,607,350 5,453,414
Between 1 and 2 years —EME 700,828 661,706
Between 2 and 3 years ME=F 301,730 248,095
Over 3 years BiE=F 1,522,253 1,973,762
7,132,161 8,336,977
Less: provision for impairment R E R (366,038) (333,490)
6,766,123 8,003,487
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22. BS5BIEHRENMEKRE
(CONTINUED) (#8)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) BHEURIFKE
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B RERBGRERERLEENE
trade receivables are as follows: T -
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AREFT
At beginning of the year REH) 333,490 309,483
Impairment losses, net WEERL - FE 32,548 24,007
At end of the year RER 366,038 333,490

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for trade receivables.

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amounts
of trade receivables from the related parties are
RMB6,039,601,000 (2023: RMB6,777,245,000) which are
mainly due from China Datang Group and certain associates
and joint ventures of China Datang Group. The Group has
assessed the expected losses for trade receivables from
related parties by reference to the published credit rating
of China Datang Group and the corresponding probability of
default of 1.775% (2023: 0.855%). The loss given default
was estimated to be 100%.

For the trade receivables from third parties, an impairment
analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by product type, customer type and credit rating). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

AEBEZBERTHERELAE
s TARENRERERBERX
EHTABLITE  BAFHE
2B IRE AR E AR RE
e

RZZE-_NWFE+—_A=+—8 -
BT E S EWFIEREAES
A R #6,039,601,000 T( — &
—=%F: AR#¥6,777,245,000
L) TEREWHBEAESEE KR
HETABEARMNNRIE - A%
EE2EHRRAESEAMNE
AR KREENELE1.775%
(ZZ - =4 :08556%) & T
A B S WA TEE{E A
B - BRREMBRRMEA
100% °

HERNKBE=ZTHE HEER
A REE®RE A HEREEE
FETREDN - UFtEFRME
REBEXEHE - BEXENAEAN
RIBREAN TR E P 5 86 (AR
EmBE  ERFRMUARERFN
) ZETERBRT BLENELS
R UERBERSBAIEFSHR
BR B 1 B B AT AR MR R AR AR
RIAHE B AMEREER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22. REBZENEKRIE

(CONTINUED) (48)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued) (b) BHEUREEEE)
The following table provides information about the Group's NTRBIEETEERNEEES
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables: FE W R IE (E A R B O A TR HA (S

PR ER -
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NF+-HA=+—H
Third parties
£2h
Individually
Between  Between assessed
Related Within 1and 2and Over trade  Low risk
parties 1 year 2 years 3 years dyears  Subtotal receivables portfolio Total
BT
25RY
By -¥h -ERE  WESE @A It 78 GERER ait
(Note 3)
Expected credit loss rate EEERAAR 1.175% 1.21% 228% 878%  4863%  1245%  81.63% 1.53% 5.44%
(ross carrying amount (RMB'000) EERRRNRETT) 6,039,601 243,188 85,504 30928 102657 462,362 229,666 36 6,731,955
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EERRRRE T 2 2052 1955 a7 409 BIEE 20128 5 3660%
As at 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=-H=+—H
Third parties
£5
Individually
Between ~ Befween 255560
Related Within 1and 2and Quer frade Low risk
parties 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Subtotel  receivables nortfolio Total
ST
LUl
BEh -FR -ERE O §ECE BBSE it 78 GERES &
(Note 3)
Expected credit oss rate EEERARR 0.855% 187% 1050% 1251% 43.95% 1381% 86.35% - 4.28%
(Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEMER(ARETL) 67245 448651 165,279 24,376 196,862 835,168 185,563 - 1791976
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BEERRX(ARETT) 57929 8412 17,354 3049 86,521 11,336 160,225 - 3840
2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (CONTINUED)

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

Note a:

An overseas third-party company in India of which its subsidiary
is a customer of the Group (the “Indian Customer”) is
undergoing a proceeding of bankruptcy and reorganisation. The
Group received the preliminary restructuring plan approved by
National Company Law Appellate Tribunal, New Delhi during the
year ended 31 December 2021. According to the restructuring
plan and considering the present value, the expected
accumulated credit loss is estimated to be RMB141,675,000.

An overseas third-party company in India, GSECL, had a dispute
over the receivables with the Group due to construction delays
and some project performance factors. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Indian Customer issued a formal notice
stating that the Group's construction progress had been delayed
and filed a reverse claim to the Group accordingly. Considering
the current situation, the management of the Group believes
the receivables are less likely to be recovered, and therefore
a full impairment provision of RMB4,085,000 was made as at
31 December 2024.

In addition to above two impairment provisions, there are three
third-party receivables with the amount of RMB55,503,000
that are fully made impairment provision due to their low
possibilities of recovery as at 31 December 2024.

Ft A IS ERAR BT e (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE—

EMOFE+-A=+—RIFE

22 BOREFRBEBNEBEKRRE

(%)
(b)

B 5 B R R (B (]
BiizEa :

—RAUREERNE=FEHIA
T EMER - EWE
%$%E%§ﬁG$E@Fﬁ°
HE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—HI
FE AEBRIFEEBRRQ
BlE EEFRAESEM Y S EHEG
- REZFEANZRERERE
BHERBREEATAARE
141,675,0007T °

—HKUREENE =778 A7
GSECL - B ARKERETRERE &

ETEBRBARZMmMEEKKIES
& o RBET-_=F+=A=
+—BLEFE  HNEFFEHHER

s RRIAEENETIEED
TR - WA AAEBEIRE R @
RE -EREAMN  AEET
12 [ R 4 FE B8 FE U SR TB U (el 9 7T Bk
HEH  AHR=_Z-_mF+=A
=+ —B2EHEREREBARE
4,085,0007T °

B EARNIEREREN  ZE=%
£ %858 AR#55,503,0007T & FE Uk
5= 77 338 A U [l By 7] B AR (K T
R=ZZE-_WFE+=—A=1+—HB%2%
FHRRERE -
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22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)
(¢) Transferred financial assets

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in
their entirety

As at 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the
trade payables due to such suppliers with a carrying amount
in aggregate of RMB22,176,000 (2023: RMB45,260,000)
(the “Derecognised Bills").

The derecognised bills receivable had a maturity of one to
six months at the end of the reporting period. In accordance
with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the
holders of the derecognised bills receivable have a right
of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default
(the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards relating to the derecognised bills receivable.
Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying amounts
of the derecognised bills receivable and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the derecognised bills
receivable and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase
these derecognised bills receivable is equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of
the Group's Continuing Involvement in the derecognised
bills receivable are not significant.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of
transfer of the derecognised bills receivable. No gains or
losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement,
both during the year or cumulatively. The endorsement has
been made evenly throughout the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B Pt R M E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

22. RHABBRENMERRE

(4%8)
(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B PR R MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)
(¢) Transferred financial assets (Continued)

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised
in their entirety

As at 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks and financial institutions of
certain large central enterprises in Mainland China (the
“Endorsed Bills ") with a carryingamount of RMB10,141,000
(2023: RMB126,166,000) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers (the
"Endorsement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group
has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include
default risks relating to such Endorsed Bills, and accordingly,
it continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the
Endorsed Bills and the associated trade payables settled.
Subsequent to the Endorsement, the Group did not retain
any rights on the use of the Endorsed Bills, including the
sale, transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Bills to any other
third parties. The aggregate carrying amount of the trade
payables settled by the Endorsed Bills during the year to
which the suppliers have recourse was RMB10,141,000
(2023: RMB126,166,000) as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, no trade and bills receivables
were pledged for bills payable granted to the Group (31
December 2023: Nil).

BE

—E-NFE+-_A=+—HItFE

22 RYBURRMERRE

(4%8)
(c)

EHEESB(E)

REBRIERZHEBOMEE
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AEEEEETHHEEHER
79 R B P SR 1T A S TR R s
MM RREARMEREER(TE
EER)) EEHSBEAARE
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TESEZREAEMNENRR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. FfIHIE - HttEWRER

OTHER ASSETS HtiFE
2024 2023
1123 —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTT
Prepayments SEERE e 49,518 46,702
Deposits REEE 31,640 31,926
Other receivables H b fE U FR A 89,262 74,140
Other current assets EfbmeEE 285,627 314,961
456,047 467,729
Less: provision of impairment BB (39,641) (31,080)
Total A& 416,406 436,649

Deposits and other receivables are mainly related to the guarantee
deposits for auction and the funds held by employees, and an
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default. Except the separate item
of prepayments for certain terminated projects already impaired,
as the financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default, no
impairment was provided during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, a provision of RMB39,641,000 (2023:
RMB31,080,000) has been made for the prepayments for certain
terminated projects.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, A TIME 24. B&fMBR&ERBY  TEHF

DEPOSIT AND RESTRICTED CASH MEZRFA S
2024 2023
—EME —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFIT
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTHEH 1,005,737 1,810,604
Less: restricted cash (Note a) B ZIRFIRE (MisFa) (10,990) (51,247)
Cash and cash equivalents REMBEEEBY 994,747 1,759,357
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTEEHRIA TSI
denominated in: EHHE -
- RMB —AR¥E 994,729 1,803,008
— United States dollar —E7T - 936
— Hong Kong dollar —A7T 5,246 6,333
— Indian rupee —EEEL 5,762 327
Note a: Restricted cash mainly represents deposits held for issued bills PMitka : ZIRHIIR S EZHEFHIEBBIRZR

payable and performance obligations for engineering services,
property maintenance and frozen deposits for construction
contract disputes.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between seven days and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

B MERESBTNENRER
BHR KA S MERES RUD
BRAMRITRAETR -

ARBISERIBAEME -
AW - ARIR T B MNE E IR E A0
SNERE  HEMNRWERR
E o AEEEERBEREREIN
PEETERRITIARB LA E A

RITRSBEBET B RITHFRA LR
FEBY A R BREREI S, o 58 B HiTE K
WERAECHZE={EATF » BUR
RASBEHRNBRESNFTR @ I
BRI 4R FE 19 52 BA 15 3R A R RS F
B o RITERRBERFREFEAL
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e NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

= SOtMBHRRMIE(E)

N“ For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-_Z-_NWF+_A=+—HILFE

25.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
to be settled within one year.

25.

W’ 5T RIAE R

EHRNRENENEEIABLBE

R—FREE -

2024 2023

—E-F =4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FTT AERETT

Bills payable (Note) FEAST R 5 (BIRE) - 86,209
Trade payables =) e 3,261,072 4,239,787
3,261,072 4,325,996

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables, based on the
invoice date, at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

REBREHAR  ERBEREHNEFE
REMENRIBERRESITOT

2024 2023

—E-E =oE= =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Fr AR®TT

Within 1 year —FR 2,094,235 2,453,708
1 year to 2 years —EWF 336,439 429,915
2 years to 3 years ME=4F 197,457 118,621
More than 3 years BiE=F 632,941 1,323,752
3,261,072 4,325,996

Note: As at 31 December 2024, no bills payable is secured by trade
and bills receivables (2023: Nil).
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26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

A0S AN ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEZT-_NF+-_A=+—HILtFE
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HttEFRIBMENEA
2024 2023
—EZMF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HteF AR FT ARBTFr
Contract liabilities ERAaE (a) 119,362 85,968
Taxes payable, other than income tax BR ATIS TSN FE S A 18 64,349 64,491
Interest payables FERTAIS 4,733 10,706
Dividends payable FERTRRE 24,349 25,799
Other payables E fth eI FRIE (b) 379,393 591,293
592,186 778,257
Notes: BT
(a) The following table shows movements in contract liabilities: (a) TREFNERBEEE) :
Sales of
industrial Construction
products services Total
HETEER BER%E &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=F—H—H 4,239 227,850 232,089
Revenue recognised that was included in FSTAFHIER & EEHRN
the contract liability balance at the BRI
beginning of the year (2,511) (173,111) (175,622)
Increase in contract liabilities as a aREERKIHEERS
result of receiving sales deposits &N 1,214 28,287 29,501
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=A=+—H 2,942 83,026 85,968
Revenue recognised that was included in STAFHIE R B EERN
the contract liability balance at the B R
beginning of the year (1,525) (33,329) (34,854)
Increase in contract liabilities as a ERBERKIIHERSE
result of receiving sales deposits 3N 1,920 66,328 68,248
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_MNFE+=-A=1+—H 3,337 116,025 119,362

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
deliver industrial products and construction services.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are expected to
be settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

SRAEBEHE TXERRIEMH
RIEAR TS W B ry ke R TR KGR o

(b) Hip A RIETE B A BEF RS

HE+—EARNGEE -

2024 SR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

27. PROVISIONS 27. e

Warranties Total
RES &5t

(Note a)

(Hizza)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBTF T
At 1 January 2024 R-Z_mMF—H—H 900 900
Amounts utilised during the year FREEHAEHE (420) (420)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZNE+=-A=+—H 480 480
Portion classified as current liabilities 200 200
Non-current portion 280 280

Note a: The Group provides one to three years of maintenance service
to its customers for certain industrial products sales related
to the prior year sales. The amount of the provision for the
warranties is estimated based on sales volumes and past
experience of the level of maintenance service. The estimation
basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where
appropriate.
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28.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28.

AND OTHER LOANS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BT RRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE

—ZE-NME+-A=+—HItFE

FFRRTERMAMER

Effective 31 December Effective 31 December
interest rate Maturity 2024 interest rate Maturity 2023
—ECNE “3--f%
BBz B8R +=B=t-H A% B8R T-A=t-A
RMB’000 RMB000
AEETR NEETT
Current Il
Bank borrowings: R
- unsecured -EEA 2.10%-2.75% 2025 1,563,250  2.45%-3.00% 2024 1,706,208
Other loans: AER
- unsecured ~ &R - 3.10% 2024 450,000
- short-term bonds (Note a) -RHRER (M) 2.14% 2025 500,000 238% 2024 500,000
2,063,250 2,656,208
Current portion of long-term bank RERTEIAHEERN
borrowings and other loans PEHs
Bank horrowings - unsecured FrEz a5 2.35%-3.45% 2025 386,790  2.80%-3.86% 2024 347 545
Other loans - bonds HER-B5 - 339% 2024 600,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 4.15%-4.75% 2025 21,325 4.41% 2024 23229
408,115 970,774
2,471,365 3,626,982
Non-current )
Long-term bank borrowings and other loans: ~ RERRTEAREMET :
Bank borrowings - unsecured R - BER 2.35%-345%  2026-2030 1,257,306  285%-386%  2025-2029 1,316,710
Other loans - unsecured EfEF - 25 - 2.98% 2026 400,000
Lease liabilities HE6MH 4.15%-4.75%  2026-2040 193,654 441% 20252038 246,995
1,450,960 1,963,705
3,922,325 5,590,687
Interest-bearing bank horrowings and T ERTET AN BT
other loans denominated in: EEHE
- RMB - \R& 3,922,325 5,590,687

o R, . i
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
- AHEERENEGE)

N For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-MF+-A=+—BILFEE

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. fHfERSRTHERXIMEMER:
AND OTHER LOANS (CONTINUED) (#8)
Note a:On 19 July 2023, 10 April 2024, 5 July 2024 and 17 October fiiza : AREPIRZT==F+tA+N

2024, the Company issued four tranches of super short-term A - ZT-NFMA+AH ==
bonds with a par value of RMB100 amounting to RMB500 NFEARBR=ZT-_WF+A+
million each. The bonds had an annual effective interest rate +HRETNHGEHE ARKS00H
of 2.38%, 2.02%, 1.77% and 2.14% respectively. The first, ETHNHENRES  FHLHE
second and third tranches of super short-term-bond were HEARKEI100TT - ZEREFM
already matured in April 2024, July 2024 and October 2024, BEERFMEDHNAH2.38% * 2.02%
respectively. The fourth tranche of the super short-term bond c1.77%RK%2.14% - F—Hf - =
will be matured in April 2025. HRkE-HBEHRESCLES R
RZTZWFMA - ZT_MF+
ARZZTZMF+ AFIE - EUE
BEHREASEN _ZE_AFMNA
I
ATERITERMEME RN RS AR

The maturity profile of the interest-bearing bank borrowings and

other loans as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

ﬂ%‘ﬁmT'

2024 2023
—2opmEF —EF_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFIT
Analysed into: DT ¢

Bank borrowings repayable: FEFIRITRER
On demand or within one year REREEH—FNR 1,950,040 2,053,753
In the second year = 715,806 519,706
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ZFhF(BREEEMF) 458,440 753,696
Beyond five years AFE 83,060 43,308
3,207,346 3,370,463

Other loans repayable: FEREMEK
On demand or within one year REREEH—FNR 521,325 1,673,229
In the second year B 25,125 27,654
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ZFhF(BREEEMF) 69,749 476,124
Beyond five years AFE 98,780 143,217
714,979 2,220,224
Total A&t 3,922,325 5,590,687
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. BB&&F
2024 2023
—E-E i 1
RMB’000 RMB’000
Shares B3 AR¥FT ARBTT
Issued and fully paid: EEITAER
2,967,542,000 2,967,542,000/%
(2023: 2,967,542,000) ordinary (ZZE =% :2,967,542,0008%)
shares T im 2,967,542 2,967,542

30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 31.
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

interests are set out below:

30. i@

BB 27

FIEESIAT

BHE-_Z-_NFER-ZF-_=F+=-A=
+—HLEFE  AEENFEHEEHS
HEJNESHESEHRA -

BAEXFERERNER

BEBAFERERNAEERE QA

2024 2023
—EF —F-=
Percentage of equity interests held by  3E3EARHE R 335G HORRRELL I
non-controlling interests:
Technologies & Engineering Company £HE T2 A F] 44% 44%
Nanjing Environmental Protection A RIR IR 7.89% 7.89%
Tiandi Environmental RHERIR 35% 35%
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B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2024 Annual Report

31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 31. BB EXFEREBRESMHIES
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BB AT ()
(CONTINUED)

2024 2023
—EB-lmEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFTT
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ~ SFEMN IEIEAIEZSH F AT
non-controlling interests: B (EK):
Technologies & Engineering Company  BHE T2 F] (16,835) (43,663)
Nanjing Environmental Protection A RIRR 4,160 3,932
Tiandi Environmental RIR{R 15,066 19,942
Dividends declared to non-controlling TR TIFERERARE
interests:
Technologies & Engineering Company  BHE T2 A F] - -
Nanjing Environmental Protection R ERIR - -
Tiandi Environmental RHIRIR 19,600 6,475
Accumulated balances of non-controlling AR B BiFFE AL SR 251
interests at the reporting date: FREE ¢
Technologies & Engineering Company  RHX T2 A F] (345,048) (336,478)
Nanjing Environmental Protection B RIRR 48,640 44,313
Tiandi Environmental RHERIR 93,648 97,885
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

BAEXHFREREZNFESR
BB LT (&)

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

31.

TR TERR  BREBEREX
WRERNPEER - AIRENSERE
B AR REHEATN S -

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of Technologies & Engineering Company, Nanjing Environmental
Protection and Tiandi Environmental. The amounts disclosed are
before any inter-company eliminations:

Technologies Nanjing
& Engineering  Environmental Tiandi
2024 —E-mE Company Protection Environmental
BEIRAH BMRER KB R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARMF T AREFT AREF7
Revenue WA 219,255 512,021 131,152
Total expenses BEY 257,516 459,302 88,106
Profit/(loss) for the year FRHE,/(BX) (38,261) 52,719 43,046
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for FRiRG ke (BK) @8
the year (37,382) 52,719 43,046
Current assets TBEE 1,362,120 1,112,185 131,187
Non-current assets EREBEE 205,291 397,459 159,452
Current liabilities mEasE 2,361,971 613,332 22,323
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 6,566 279,835 750
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) e ERmE/(FR)ReRE
operating activities ikl (172,963) 169,806 909
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) BEEBHEG/ (TR EERE
investing activities FE 409 (6,582) (5,961)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) REEHME/(FTR)BRLRE
financing activities Pkl 274,992 (119,859) (56,080)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EZREHH/ 2 + 555 57 - -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash ~ BREMBALEEMEM,/CiD)
equivalents FE 102,495 43,365 (61,132)
2024 FER

AEEREERERGARAT 20



248

B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 31. BEEEXIEERRESMNIER
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BB AT ()
(CONTINUED)

Technologies Nanjing

& Engineering Environmental Tiandi

2023 —T—= Company Protection Environmental

R TRAR BARER RiIR{R

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB0O0O

AREFT AREFT AREFT

Revenue WA 393,622 486,506 127,021

Total expenses BHY (492,857) (436,668) (70,044)

Profit/(loss) for the year FRHE,/(BX) (99,235) 49,838 56,977
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for FRiRaes/ (BK)@EE

the year (98,857) 49,838 56,977

Current assets MENEE 1,684,648 1,291,723 141,138

Non-current assets ERBEE 264,537 404,803 170,376

Current liabilities mEaE 2,697,689 806,974 31,037

Non-current liabilities ERBAE 16,218 327,914 805
Net cash flows generated from operating K& EHFFEEH LR FE

activities 56,169 151,323 74,740

Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ REGZHMARE S REFEE (2,359) (7,303) (11,249)

Net cash flows used in financing activities ~ BEEZHMAESREFEE (24,834) (45,443) (18,580)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EZREH2Z - 555 60 - -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3£ R &S EYEMNFE 29,036 98,577 44,911
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B BRI (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. &#HR&RkERME
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) MEFITDHEEMARED
activities
Interest-bearing
bank borrowings
and other loans
(other than lease Other payables
2024 - o 11£:3 liabilities) Lease liabilities and accruals
FTRBTER
NEMER Hft B8
(BREEAEN) HEafE AETER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AEBEFT AREFTT
As at 1 January 2024 R-ZE-m&E—A—H 5,320,463 270,224 778,219
Changes from financing cash flows BIEEHE L HENEE (1,613,117) (32,136) (433,938)
Lease modification HEEE = (43,268) =
Interest expenses FIEXH - 20,159 144,619
Dividends declared by a subsidiary BB 79K T IEE ML
to its non-controlling shareholder A ARRE - - 1,450
Changes from operating cash flows E&EZEBELHENED - - 97,684
Exchange gains B i Mg - - 43,626
Changes from investing cash flows X &ZBREREME - - (39,474)
As at 31 December 2024 R-FE-MF+-A=1+—H 3,707,346 214,979 592,186
2024 R
AERFERKERGARAT 23
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

gfg A ISk MY sk (48)
\ For the year ended 31 December 2024
#

E_E-_NME+-_A=+—RHIIFE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. &§#R&RERME(HE)
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) MAIZDEENAREH
activities (Continued) (#8)
Interest-bearing
bank borrowings
and other loans
(other than lease Other payables
2023 —E-=F liabilities) Lease liabilities and accruals
FTRRITER
MEMETR HAb R
(RHEEEEMN) HEEE Gl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
As at 1 January 2023 R-B-=£-f-A 5,347,354 292,887 956,516
Changes from financing cash flows BIEEHE L HENEE (26,891) (16,470) (309,149)
Non-cash flow impact FRENEVE - (17,840) =
Interest expenses FEZH = 11,647 176,319
2022 final dividends R ERERE - - 150,954
Dividends declared by a subsidiary BB 72K T IEE R
to its non-controlling shareholder A AR - - 7,475
Changes from operating cash flows E&EZEBELHENED - - (98,966)
Exchange gains B 5 Wz - = 229
Changes from investing cash flows RE&EFHREHENED - - (104,159)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ_=F+-A=+-H 5,320,463 270,224 778,219
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) EReRHEEH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated AMBEERERTHEASERS R
statement of cash flows is as follows: HaammT
2024 2023
—EIEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFr ARMTT
Within operating activities R E) 35,743 7,732
Within financing activities BEEE 25,626 16,470
61,369 24,202
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33.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
India NLC Project

On 6 March 2020, Technologies & Engineering Company signed
a construction contract with NLC India limited (“NLC India”).
Due to the impact of COVID-19, the construction progress was
delayed, and NLC India issued a formal notice to request to
terminate the contract and redeem the performance guarantee
letter amounting to RMB47,303,000. In addition, the claims brought
by NLC India also include the costs incurred in re-tendering and
the arbitration progress. The Group fully accrued a provision of
RMBA47,303,000 for the request of redeeming the performance
guarantee letter, and incurred other expenses of RMB47,303,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021 accordingly. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the performance guarantee letter
of RMB47,303,000 has been fully redeemed. The likelihood of
occurrence of other compensations about these contract disputes
cannot be estimated reliably.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BB EERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

KBRR
EDEENLCHE

R-ZZT-_TF=AH BEIEAT
EANLC India limited ([NLC India|) %
BEABREAR - BAFERELE 2
ETIRWIERR - INLC IndiaZ i E=
B BRERIEARIHABORIA
R #47,303,0007T ° 5 © NLC India
RENFATREVFEESHRZEEN
BRE MHEFELANERES - A%
EHHEMREUEEE2ETRBEEAR
#47,303,0007T * WHHERBE=ZT =
—F+ A=+ BLEEELEMH
S AR#47,303,000T c REE-T
——F+-A=+—HLEE AR
47,303,000 C K E 49R M E 2 ZPED -
EHEZEARAUHNEMEESBEE
EEET

2024 SR
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(&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEZ

B MFE+-A=+—RHIFE

34. COMMITMENTS

34. i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B G R I

(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the (a) REERBEHRE AT E A
end of the reporting period: %=
2024 2023
—E-NE —E =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FiT ARBTF T
Contracted, but not provided for HESKEIDE 64
Buildings B¥F 25 356
Plant and machinery % 55 AN % 1 182,378 68,960
Equity investment (Note) RERRE () 47,896 50,000
230,299 119,316
Note: On 28 December 2023, the Company has entered e R-BE-_=F+_A=-+N\
into the capital contribution agreement with China H  ANAREPEKNE -
Datang, Datang International Power Generation Co., AREBRBZEERMHERA
Ltd., Guangxi Guiguan Electric Power Co., Ltd. and A -BEREEENIRGAE
China Datang Renewable Power Maintenance Co., Ltd., RARNPEAEFHERE
which are the subsidiaries of China Datang and DEC heEER A AR(BATERH
Academy of Science and Technology, in relation to the KERKMB RG] ) ARER
proposed formation of the company with a registered REE TR 7 B BLEE R A AL
capital of RMB1,000 million. Pursuant to the capital EftES ARK1,00088
contribution agreement, the Company shall make a TR ARG EEHZE °
capital contribution of RMB50,000,000, representing BIEHEHZE - AR AW
5% equity interest in the company. During the year & N R % 50,000,000 -
ended 31 December 2024, the Company has made a AR5 %HIRE - BEZ
capital contribution of RMB5,000,000 and the remaining T_ME+=-A=+—H8it
capital contribution of RMB45,000,000 has not been FE ARRBEEEAR
paid as at the end of the reporting period. #5,000,0007C * % NHE
AR 45,000,000 T & =
HEHRE AR -
On 26 June 2024, the Company established a wholly- MRZE-_MENAZ T+
owned subsidiary, Datang Environment (Xiong'an) H: RNARKIZZEN B
InteIIigent Energy Company Limited* (KEIRIE (1 ANRAAERE(HER)ESE
Z)RERARD with a registered capital of BERAMR AR - sEHER
RMB5 million. Pursuant to the relevant agreement, BARESHET - RIER
the Company shall make a capital contribution of s A2REHE A
RMB5 million. During the year ended 31 December REsEEL -#HE-T=
2024, the Company has made a capital contribution of ME+=ZA=+—HILHF
RMB2,104,000 and the remaining capital contribution B ARAEHEXZMA
of RMB2,896,000 has not been paid as at the end of R#®2,104,0007C * % T
the reporting period. & AR#2,896,000TH &
HMEHRB ARSI o
The Group had no lease contracts that have not yet (b) R-ZZE-_WFE+=—_HA=+—8 -

(b)

commenced as at 31 December 2024.
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35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BB EERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. FAMAZS
The Group is part of China Datang and had significant transactions AEBRTBRKRKENKE AR + RAF
with China Datang Group during the year. FRAESEEBREERNRS °
The related party transactions in respect of the sales and purchase MABEAXESEREETEBE AR
of goods, the rendering of and receiving of services to and from ENEERY RHIEXZRBEEAN
China Datang Group and certain associates and joint ventures B A2 5 - LA RMIEES5(a) Tt Ey B
of China Datang Group, and loans from/to and interest expense/ BEAEEEESED MPEAEER
income to/from China Datang Group as detailed in Note 35(a) REEREATEAESBEZGFHF S
also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected MY/ WA BFBRXEEEESHF
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Bt WA LEK ETRAIE14AZERT
EENBAERX SN FEBERS °
In addition to the related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in BR1E & OF B 75 3R 3% H 4th 30 0 3% 75 9 A
the consolidated financial statements, the following is a summary TSN+ TRl B 7N & B K E R
of the significant related party transactions entered into the ordinary FTRAFEEHRERBEPITLNE
course of business between the Group and its related parties ANEBH RS o
during the year.
(a) Significant related party transactions (a) EXRBARXS
2024 2023
—E-E =
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARETT ARBF T
Sales of goods and rendering of EREAEEEHE
services to China Datang Group ENRRHRYE (i)
Environmental protection and energy IRIREIRERRA A 2R
conservation solutions 4,278,200 4,489,912
Renewable energy engineering AFERRLIRE 296,601 321,009
Others Hitb 918 411
4,575,719 4,811,332
Sales of goods and rendering of HHEAEEES
services to the associates and joint BENTHEEEY
ventures of China Datang Group RRBtRE (i)
Environmental protection and energy RIREEEFRAT R
conservation solutions 306,622 308,073
Purchases of goods and receiving of BHEAEREEE
services from China Datang Group ENREZR%E (i)
Water supply and electricity supply HKREE 599,838 792,044
Ancillary services under the concession Fat i E R BIE TR
operations @R 154,064 83,421
Logistics services B EIRTE 38,911 65,377
Wind power electricity and other Products [ESEE 11 R EtE R 869,821 1,034,600
1,662,634 1,975,442
2024 FER
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- NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
—— SHIBHmERMTEE)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HItEE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. RREAX S (&)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Significant related party transactions (a) BEXRABWAXR(HE)
(continued)

2024 2023
—EC-ME —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat ARETFT AREFT
Purchases of goods and receiving of BEREAEEEE
services from the associates and joint E&ATEELEY
ventures of China Datang Group REZR%E (i)
Water supply and electricity supply HKRMHEE 88,859 111,830
Wind power electricity and other products B82S ) R EHME G 17,674 163
106,533 111,993
Loans from subsidiaries of China AFEAEER
Datang Group MEB A EER (ii)
China Datang Finance Co., Ltd. HEAEHBERAR
("Datang Finance”) (Note a) ([RESH ) (KzFa) 220,000 1,471,500
Interest expense on loans from B EAXEEENE
subsidiaries of China Datang Group DNEAERHNFE L H (ii)
Datang Finance RIE B 11,017 17,895
Datang Financial Lease Co., Ltd. AEBMEREBRAA
(“Datang Financial Lease") (TRERMERE]) 5,349 5,891
16,366 23,786
Interest income from a subsidiary of BFEAEER
China Datang Group MBARER
SRR B WA (i)
Datang Finance RNEW T 5,309 7,263
Proceeds from disposal of items of BFEAEER
property, plant and equipment from MEBATHENE
subsidiary of China Datang Group BEMZREEE
FBMRE (i)
Datang Shanxi Power Generation Co., Ltd. AERFAXEER AR - 37,998
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B SRR e (8

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Significant related party transactions
(continued)

All transactions with related parties were conducted at
prices and on terms mutually agreed by the parties involved,
which are determined as follows:

i. Sales of goods and rendering of services to
China Datang Group and its associates and joint
ventures, purchases of goods and receiving
of services from China Datang Group and
its associates and joint ventures (excluding
property leases)

1. Pricing policies for products: The pricing
policies for products are as follows:

a. the bidding price where the bidding
process is required; or

b. where no bidding process is involved,
the market price.

2. Pricing policies for concession operations
(desulfurisation and denitrification) services:
The desulfurisation and denitrification tariffs
under the concession operation services
are determined based on the government-
prescribed price, while the prices for by-
products are determined based on the
market price. In respect of the auxiliary
services offered to the Group by China
Datang Group under the desulfurisation
and denitrification concession operations,
the price is determined in accordance with
the costs of human resources in connection
with the auxiliary services and related
management expenses as well as relevant
maintenance expenses for the equipment
of power plants and with reference to the
industry average level.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Significant related party transactions
(Continued)

i. Sales of goods and rendering of services to
China Datang Group and its associates and joint
ventures, purchases of goods and receiving
of services from China Datang Group and
its associates and joint ventures (excluding
property leases) (Continued)

3. Pricing policies for services other than
concession operations services: The pricing
policies for these kinds of services are as
follows:

a. the bidding price where the bidding
process is required; or

b. where no bidding process is involved,
the market price.

4. Pricing policy for procurement of equipment:
In respect of equipment procurement from
China Datang Group, in most circumstances,
bidding procedures shall apply for the
determination of the price. Only in exceptional
circumstances, such as urgent purchases
by the Group, bidding procedures can be
skipped by the Group where the purchase
price shall be determined by experts of the
Group based on the fair market value and
historical records of the procurement price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Significant related party transactions
(Continued)

Financial services

Datang Finance provides loan services, deposit
services and other financial services to the Group.

Pricing policy: The pricing policies for financial
services are as follows:

1. the interest rate for the Group's deposits
with Datang Finance shall not be lower
than the equivalent deposit interest rate as
provided by other financial institutions in the
PRC by reference to the benchmark interest
rates published by the PBOC;

2. the interest rate for loans granted to the
Group by Datang Finance shall not be higher
than the equivalent loan interest rate as
charged by other financial institutions in the
PRC by reference to the benchmark interest
rates published by the PBOC; and

3. the fees charged by Datang Finance for the
provision of financial services to the Group
other than deposit services and loan services
shall not be higher than the rate charged by
other financial institutions in the PRC for the
same or similar type of services.

China Datang Group Capital Holdings Co., Ltd.
("Datang Capital”) provides financial leasing and
commercial factoring services to the Group.

Pricing Policy: Datang Capital has undertaken to
provide the aforementioned financial services to
the Group based on the following pricing principles:
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Significant related party transactions
(Continued)

ii. Financial services (Continued)

1. financial leasing service — the rent paid
by the Group to Datang Capital includes
(i) procurement costs and (ii) interest. The

relevant interest is determined based on the
benchmark interest rates for borrowings as
implemented by the PBOC;

2. loan service — the interest rate for loans
granted to the Group by Datang Financial
Lease and Datang Commercial Factoring
shall not be higher than the equivalent loan
interest rate as charged by other financial
institutions in the PRC by reference to the
benchmark interest rates published by the
PBOC. During this year, all the loans granted
form Datang Financial Lease and Datang
Commercial Factoring are unsecured.

The above services are provided by Datang Financial
Lease and Datang Commercial Factoring, the
subsidiaries of Datang Capital, respectively.

iii. Disposal of property, plant and equipment to a
subsidiary of China Datang Group

The consideration was based on the appraised
market value of the building, building structures and
equipment on a specific date by a PRC independent
valuer.
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35. MBAXZH(E)

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. RREAX S (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) RRBKSREEREER
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BR& Ot R b E B P #E R
financial statements, the outstanding balances with related S RZTEZNERZFI=F
parties at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: +=ZA=+—8 BB RES
HEET
2024 2023
—E_NE —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F AREFT
Cash and cash equivalents RENESEEY
Datang Finance REW 964,233 1,717,843
Trade and bills receivables EZBERFENERERE
China Datang Group FEAEEE 5,513,969 6,500,784
The associates and joint ventures of I EAEEBEAKL AR
China Datang Group 817,841 581,972
6,331,810 7,082,756
Prepayments, other receivables FEARE  HttEWFIER
and other assets Hith&EE
Prepayments T FRIA
China Datang Group FREAEEER 13,163 15,230
Other receivables Hoh fE U SRIE
China Datang Group FRAEEE 25,473 34,494
The associates and joint ventures of ~ B KEEE A B E N A
China Datang Group - 627
25,473 35,121
38,636 50,351
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(b)

Outstanding balances with related parties

(Continued)

35. FAMA XS ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RS KRR (E)

2024 2023
—E-AF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARKEFIT
Other non-current assets HtneREEE
China Datang Group FRAEEE 39,316 14,381
The associates and joint ventures of B AEEE AL AT
China Datang Group 1,212 542
40,528 14,923
Contract assets ERABE
China Datang Group FRAEEE 11,626 61,954
The associates and joint ventures of ~ B KXEEE S B E N A
China Datang Group 4,173 7,413
15,799 69,367
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  sFESRTHERMEMERK
and other loans (other than lease (FEEHEER)
liabilities)
Datang Finance RNETH - 850,000
Trade and bills payables ESENREBEMEMSEZE
China Datang Group FRAEEE 1,621,130 1,823,515
The associates and joint ventures of FBEIAEEEASH L A A
China Datang Group - 118,660
1,621,130 1,942,175
Other payables and accruals Hit e mRIBEFMESE A
China Datang Group FREAEEE 131,957 64,673
The associates and joint ventures of HEIAFEEESB S AT
China Datang Group - 292
131,957 64,965
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(c) Transactions with other government-related

entities in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic regime currently
dominated by entities directly or indirectly controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC
government and numerous government authorities and
agencies (collectively referred to as “government-related
entities”). China Datang, the parent and ultimate holding
company of the Company, is a PRC state-owned enterprise
and these government-related entities are also considered
the related parties of the Group in this respect.

Apart from the transactions with China Datang Group
mentioned above, the Group also conducts some business
activities with other government-related entities in the
ordinary course of business. These transactions are carried
out on terms similar to those that would be entered into
with non-government-related entities.

The Group prices its services and products based on
commercial negotiations. The Group has also established
its approval process for the sale of goods, provision of
services, purchase of products and receiving of services
and its financing policy for borrowings. Such approval
process and financing policy do not depend on whether
the counterparties are government-related entities or not.

Having considered the possibility for transactions to be
impacted by related party relationships, the Group's approval
processes and financing policy, and what information would
be necessary for an understanding of the potential effect of
the relationship on the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors are of the opinion that further information
about the following transactions that are collectively
significant is required for disclosure:

- Deposits and borrowings

Except for the cash and cash equivalents deposited
in Datang Finance and Wing Lung Bank in Hong
Kong, the Group deposits most of its cash in
government-related financial institutions, and also
obtains short-term and long-term loans from these
financial institutions in the ordinary course of
business. The interest rates of the bank deposits
and loans are regulated by the PBOC.

B Rk Mt (48

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FAMA XS ()

(CONTINUED)
(d) Compensation of key management personnel (d FREETEEBARBNH
of the Group ]
2024 2023
—EWE ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARBF T
Short-term employee benefits EHEEEAR 6,208 7,734
Post-employment benefits BB 18 1R A 474 540
Total compensation paid to key TRFEZEEABNE
management personnel ks 6,682 8,274
Further details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments are EENESHeNE—SFHBE
included in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. RAE G G TRRMIFEQ -
(e) Property leases (e) PEHER

As a lessee, the Group leases buildings for desulfurisation
and denitrification facilities from Datang Financial Lease
and some power plants from the China Datang Group, with
a general lease term of 20 years. The related right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, payment of lease liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period and the related expenses
recognised during the year are as follows:

EREBA - ARERAERE
HERTFEAEEE TEEER
HEREMRBHHERBHET -
HEHRBER205F - BB E
REEEMHEEAE  NEEH
RENHEERERRFRER
FAERER I T

2024 2023
—EMF —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FTT ARBF T

Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 199,413 242,462
Lease liabilities HEBE 211,925 262,807
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B BRI (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 RBABEAXH(#E)

(CONTINUED)

(e) Property leases (Continued) (e) Ph¥IEE(E)
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AR®T T
Depreciation charge ERE 24,791 24,879
Interest expense MEER 10,364 11,324
Payments (NES 33,452 33,452

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. EEANBSHEMIR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of the Group's RIBEHR  AEESHEIESRITED
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BREIEMT :
follows:
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
ZECMETZA=T-A e S-S gl =
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
Financial fair value Financial falr value
assets at  through other assets at  through other
amortised comprehensive amortised ~ comprehensive
Financial assets cost income Total cost income Total
NAREETE WAREETE
g% BHESHA mER  BHEHHA
AAGEN  Ht&eks RAGEY)  Hftigala
tREE SREE HemEE ait SHEE  WeREE CEl
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

AREFR ARBFL  ARETR ANRETT  ARETT  ARETR

Equity investments designated ~ EEANAREBEER

at fair value through other RO AEfiRA

comprehensive income KatgaiE - 3,587 3,587 = = =
Trade and bills receivables B SRR RS R 6,703,343 62,780 6,766,123 7,903,257 100,230 8,003,487
Financial assets included STABHFE - B

in prepayments, other BUGENE A E

receivables and other assets KR RIEE 81,260 - 81,260 74,984 - 74,984
Restricted cash XEARS 10,990 - 10,990 51,247 - 51,247
Cash and cash equivalents BeNRESEN 994,747 - 994,747 1,769,357 - 1,769,357

7,790,340 66,367 7,856,707 9,788,845 100,230 9,889,075
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' NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

—— SHIBHmERMTEE)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(CONTINUED)

36. EFBSHEMTIA(E)

Financial liabilities

31 December 2024
—ECopmE
+=—A=+—H
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

31 December 2023
—E-=F
t=-HA=t—H
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBEARATTEN  IRESRKATERN

cRaE cRAas TR E

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTF T ARETFT

Trade and bills payables B 5 N RIBMEN & 3,261,072 4,325,996
Financial liabilities included in other ST AEfth & A SRIE A E 5T

payables and accruals BERMESMARE 757,750 692,289
Interest-bearing bank borrowings and st ERITERMEMER

other loans 3,922,325 5,590,687

7,941,147 10,608,972

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial

instruments are as follows:

37. @MIALARREMAIRER

EF®

LRRE

AEENERTAREEMAREED

AR ¢
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Carrying amounts Fair values
HREE AREE

2024 2023 2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F —E-NE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AE®TFT AREFT AREFT ARETFT

Financial liabilities SREE

Long-term interest-bearing bank REBET BRITIRAAMEMER
borrowings and other loans (T eEEHEEARE) (MF28)

(other than lease liabilities) (Note 28) 1,257,306 1,716,710 1,146,554 1,538,386

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*
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37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value (Continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, trade and bills receivables, financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, and the current portion of interest-
bearing bank borrowings and other loans, approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value disclosure of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to management. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the corporate finance team analysed the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determined the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation was reviewed and
approved by management.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

o The fair values of the non-current portion of long-term
interest-bearing bank borrowings and other loans (other
than lease liabilities) have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair values as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risks for interest-bearing
bank borrowings and other loans as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.

° The fair values of the bills receivable which are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using the one-year bank loan interest rate published
by the People's Bank of China.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value (Continued)

Details of information about Level 3 fair value measurements are
as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMIALAARENLIAR
EERGR)

LRFEEGE)

FBAABEAEZEHFENT

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

AABEEHBABBNRRE

Financial Valuation Significant

instruments technique unobservable input Range

SEMIA fEAE B i EXTAEERARE £HE

Unlisted equity Market approach  P/B ratio 1.0x
investments

FEMEREE WA GiEEES 1.0x

(e A1)

The estimated fair value would increase if

the P/B ratio was higher and vice versa
- Rt AR EESR M
[ 2 TREN

The management of the Group is responsible for determining
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements. The management of the Group regularly reports
to the Board in relation to the fair value measurements of the
aforesaid financial assets.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair values categorised in Level 3 are unchanged.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the carrying value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at fair value across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy with fair value of each financial
instrument categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to that fair value measurement. The levels
are defined as follows:—

o Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial
instruments.

o Level 2: fair values measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.

observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

o Level 3: fair values measured using significant unobservable
input.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37.
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value

B BRI (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

EMIALAARENLIAR
EERGR)

LRBEFRGE)

DARBEEFENEE

Fair value measurement using

RAUTAABEEHHE

Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EXUBER ERTAHR
ERHEN BAE BWABE
RE(E-R) (B=&) (E=H) &t
RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFTT AREFT
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-ME+-A=+—H
Equity investments at fair value through AR BEEBEEF)
other comprehensive income AR MRS W ERRE - - 3,587 3,587
Trade and bills receivables B HRNGENRENEE - 62,780 - 62,780
As at 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+-A=+—H
Trade and bills receivables B S RYGUENENEE - 100,230 - 100,230

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during

the year are as follows:

AERAESRALBES BOE B M

2024 2023
—E-NE SES =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T ARBFT
Equity investments at fair value through AAREBEGER
other comprehensive income — unlisted: HEg st AL thaRE s
HIfERIZE — R £ ¢
At 1 January n—A—H - =
Addition 0 5,000
Total losses recognised in other REMERE WS TER ) E5 18
comprehensive income FEK (1,413) =
At 31 December RTF=HA=+—H 3,587 -

RN, o e i
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' NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
= ASHTHHRRME(E)
\‘
R For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_M&+-A=-+—HBILFE

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37. €I ROABEMLRE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) EHEH(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) DRBEFHR(HE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed BREAREEMNRR

Fair value measurement using
RANTAREBESRHE
Quoted

prices  Significant  Significant

in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EEME  EXTBRE EXTURE

HRE BARE BAYE
(E-R) (=R (F=4) CE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ABEFT AREFT AREFT ARETT

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_MFE+-F=+—H
Long-term interest-bearing bank R BRITEFMAMER
borrowings and other loans (TeRHEaR)
(other than lease liabilities) - 1,146,554 - 1,146,554
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=$+=R=1+—H
Long-term interest-bearing bank R B RITERANEMER
borrowings and other loans (TREHREAR)
(other than lease liabilities) - 1,638,368 - 1,538,368

268 2024 Annual Report
Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*

- 4
S 4 a1 " N, Y e -



38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and other loans, and cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills
receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, senior management of the Company meets regularly to
analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure
to these risks. As the Group’s exposure to these risks is kept to
a minimum, the Group has not used any derivatives and other
instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does not hold
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Management of the Company reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term
debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage
its interest rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings and other loans, restricted cash, and cash and
cash equivalents are stated at amortised cost and not
revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest income
and expenses are credited/charged to profit or loss as
earned/incurred.

As at 31 December 2024, if there had been a general
increase/decrease in the market interest rates by 10
basis points, with all other variables held constant, the
Group's consolidated pre-tax profit would have decreased/
increased by approximately RMB1,656,000 (31 December
2023: RMB1,646,000) and there had been no impact on
other components of the consolidated equity, except for
retained profits, of the Group. The estimated 10 basis
points, increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in market
interest rates over the period until the next annual year end.

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B SRR e (8
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

M5 mREE B RmBR

AEEHTFESRITEBETBRITE
RMEMER  REMRESEFEY - %
ZERMTATIZARNAAEENRLEE
SEe AKEHAERKAHEZN
SEAMCRMEENEE  NEZHREK
SRR FE U R 1B I B 5 FE 5 SRIE A R A
R o

AEEeBRTAELENTIRRERAME
BB - SMERB - =R ER MRS LR
e —RM5  ARASHREEESTE
HERGRES TN ERLRE  EEAE
EEENZERR ARAEEKZE
[\ B M R AEOKE - IR BER(E
EATETAMEM T AELDRE -
AEEAYEFARBITRIERIZHNITE
EHTHE - ARAEEERIMILEE
BEERBOBEK - EBEWT -

(a) FUEEBR

AEMAEEBRAEMET
FIE R E R ESES S W
AR EE B o

AEE ST HERKERETEM
FEAERERNES  UEERH
FER - NEBMGTERITHE
ZRHEMEZR ZRHIBLM
& IR e F EMIRER AT
R BToCTHEGHEEE - F
B R A BT A TR 2 R BRER,
EAREIESET A HIR o

RZZE-_NNFE+=—_A=+—8 -
MWHHNR2E EF, TE+E
22 MATEHEMBEHRFL
B AIAREERS GFBR T AT FE
#R L a4 AR 1,656,000
T(ZE_=F+=-A=+—8:
AFR#1,646,0007T) * BBRAD
BRFEIN - e AEE S G
EHEAM AR DB E o ff
T HEESZ EF S NRIEEEE
HHPAZE TN —EFERTSF
KA LA B E BT o
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_ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

——~ S BmERNEE)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

270

3. MERREEARMBE

(¥&)

Foreign currency risk (b)  HMEER Bz
Foreign currency risk primarily arises from certain significant SNERR E E R ENE T AET
foreign currency deposits, trade receivables, and trade (IEx])) - BArx(BEx]) REE
payables denominated in United States Dollars (“USD"), EX((HEELDFENETE
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD"), and Indian Rupee (“INR"). KINETFER - EHEIRRIBRE
The treasury management department of the Group closely SENFIE - NEEEE R
monitors the international foreign currency market on the 2 1) S 4 B R O B T 35 A B R
change of exchange rates and takes this into consideration B WRFANEFERREAE
when depositing foreign currency deposits and borrowing HEMAZR - RZE_WHF+
loans. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had significant ZA=1+—H  AEEHHNEE
exposures to INR. LLEERHA °
The Group has transactional currency exposures which arise REERHZHEBRR - %5
from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies [R B T R 48 & B 7 LA B 52 2 T
other than the units’ functional currencies. The exposure REEM LN B EITEE ME
was insignificant for the years ended 31 December 2024 o HE_T-_NEF+_-_A=+
and 31 December 2023. —BRZFEZ=F+=ZA=+—
HILFE AEEXRSEBERR
WAERK °
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in  (decrease) in  (decrease) in
rate profit after tax equity
Ex BRBIAFIE i
£R/(TR)  #M/0RD) &M/ 08D)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREFTT AREFT
2024 o 112
If RMB weakens against USD WAREHETRE 5 = =
If RMB strengthens against USD S AREHETHE (5) = =
2023 —E-=F
If RMB weakens against USD WARBHETRE 5 331 331
If RMB strengthens against USD S ARBHETHE (5) (331) (331)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B P SRR M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

38. FINANCIALRISKMANAGEMENTOBJECTIVES 38. M ¥ EEEE B HEMB K
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(¥&)

Foreign currency risk (Continued) (b) SPEERPE(#&)
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in  (decrease) in  (decrease) in
rate profit after tax equity
% BRBLAFIE i £
£R/(TR)  #M/08D) &M/ 0AD)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AEETT ARETT
2024 —ToF
If RMB weakens against INR WARBHOEELRE 5 (2,453) (2,453)
If RMB strengthens against INR I AREHEEE L FHE (5) 2,453 2,453
2023 —E-=F
If RMB weakens against INR WAREHDERLRE 5 (9,264) (9,264)
If RMB strengthens against INR (S ARBHEEELLFHE (5) 9,264 9,264
Credit risk (c) IEPRBE

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 79% (2023:
75%) of the total trade and bills receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, and contract assets were due from China Datang
Group, the Group's largest customer. As the Group's
major customers are China Datang'’s subsidiaries or other
state-owned enterprises, the Group believes that they are
reliable and of high credit quality, and hence, there is no
significant credit risk with these customers. It is the Group's
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Senior management of the Company keeps reviewing and
assessing the creditworthiness of the Group's existing
customers on an ongoing basis.

AEENERRAREEZXZHEGE
BEEFMNABBAXE mMITEexX
HEPANETEXMEERA
S A EAEEEEME
BEREFPR - ERARKREEF
ERmem  R|EHPR A
79% (ZZE =% : 75% ) KEUR
EREERE  FTAEMZIE - H
ERRBEREMEEN S BHE
ENAREEREBRFERNESE
B(AEBERANEF) - HRAR
SEEFERFATEAEHEBEA
Al EMBEACE - REBERE
HuazRMmEeesEARE - A
hZERFPITESE N EHER -
REEBHMEAERFPHETERAZS
W W R KRR AR - A
EAMAETEKN - AAES
LRERESREREMT GRS
ERBREFPAEARSEN o
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_ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=< \ B RS M e (&)
\‘ For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-_Z-_NWF+_A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIALRISK MANAGEMENTOBJECTIVES 38. MERMETHE B EMBE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#8)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) {EFARBE($E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging 5 K BB i O B R SR R RS B
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRINTBEREENERARE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, EEMNEAMEREAEARR
which is mainly based on past due information unless WO HEE ARG S E R (B
other information is available without undue cost or effort, FEEENHBLRALLE HENE]
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. BISHMER EBET=-_A="+
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for —HNFRSE - A AR
financial assets. BEEMBEREER -
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_MFE+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A7
ERE% KIBHERBX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
K& KE2 g3 @EAk fit
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ANBETT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFR
Contract assets* AREE - - - 178035 178,035
Trade and bills receivables* B RN TERER SR 62,780 - - 7,069,381 7,132,161
Financial assets included in prepayments, s ABBIFUE « EfERIER
other receivables and other assets HthEENESREAE
- Normal** =EE™ 81,260 - - - 81,260
- Doubtful** —gER* - - - - -
Restricted cash ZRAHRS
— Not yet past due — iR 3 10,990 - - = 10,990
Cash and cash equivalents ReMELEEY
- Not yet past due — iR 3 994,747 - - - 994,747
1,149,777 - - 7247416 8,397,193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B PR R MR ()

(c)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NWFE+_A=+—HIFE
38. FINANCIALRISK MANAGEMENTOBJECTIVES 38. HHE R EEBEEMBEE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) (c) {EFmBE(HE)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) B K BBk A BL R SE R RS B (#8)
As at 31 December 2023 R—E—_=F+-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 A%H
EREX ReBHERER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BE g2 BEs AR At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
NEETT ARETT ARETT AR (E¥ T
Contract assets* BREE* - - - 347653 347,653
Trade and bills receivables* B RYG RN N & 100,230 - - 8236747 8336977
Financial assets included in prepayments, s ABISFIE + EfbEKFIER
other receivables and other assets HEENSREAE
- Normal** =EE 74,984 - - - 74,984
- Doubtful** — A = = = = =
Restricted cash ZRHFE
— Not yet past due — R 5 51,247 - - - 51,247
Cash and cash equivalents RefReSEY
- Not yet past due —{hR3H 1,759,357 - - - 1,759,367
1,985,818 - - 8584400 10570218

* %

For contract assets and trade receivables to which the
Group applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed
in Notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

* %

HRAEEHAE S 7555
RRENEREEARES
FEFRIE - EREEER
KB R D BRI E OF B 5 2=
BisE21 R FTFE22 4 5% -

BEFARNMNFIR - HAhRE
WORIR I E A B E R £ FE
EREY TEEHNKSA
BiiaERREERRRE
BERTE  JUARAHE
ERRERIER] B
AR ERmERI ] -

BEAEBE 5 UK ASE
MERRRNEBELEHRRNE
RIS AR MY 22 -
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B RS M e (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HIEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations
to meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability
to obtain external financing to meet its committed future

capital expenditure.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. MERREEARMBE
(¥&)

(d)  FEEDE W B

AEBERRE T REBEEER
AREERSRAUNNEHEE
BIEARS FE1TARRE A (£ RO BE 0 AN ER
BINBREABITEAERRE
ARXHEES -

RZEZMFER T _=F+=
A=+—HB  A&£ENSHARE
BIKA B AREIR AT FEL A5 H
MR -

31 December 2024

“E-_ME+-A=+-H
Within 1 to 2to More than
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
—&R —-ZME WERE  BENLE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETn AREFn ARETFR
Lease liabilities HERE 34,309 34,309 102,927 80,681 252,226
Trade and bills payables BHRNFENENTE 3,261,072 - - - 3,261,072
Financial liabilities included in STAR MR FIRRERT
other payables and accruals ERERNcRERE 757,750 = = = 757,750
Short-term interest-bearing bank 8zt BBITEFRME
borrowings and other loans EREGHEEREN
(excluding lease liabilities) 2,450,040 - - - 2,450,040
Long-term interest-bearing bank R EIFHSRITEFMEA
borrowings and other loans EREGHEEAEN
(excluding lease liabilities) - 715,805 458,440 83,060 1,257,305
6,503,171 750,114 561,367 163,741 7,978,393
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ot B 15 ¥R MY e (4R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE

MERREEAREMBRE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d)  CEnE B (4)
31 December 2023
—E-=#+-f=1-A
Within 1to 2 1o More than
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
—FR —ZME WERE  AENE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRETT ANRETFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Lease liabilities HEaRE 34,309 34,309 102,927 155,261 326,806
Trade and bills payables BHEMNTEANENEZE  4,3259% - - - 432599
Financial liabilities included in SR BT OB AR
other payables and accruals BREMEREE 692,289 = = = 692,289
Short-term interest-bearing bank L,Hﬁ FTRBRITEFAEMD
borrowings and other loans ERGHEEAEN
(excluding lease liabilities) 3,603,753 - - - 3,603,753
Long-term interest-bearing bank  REIFHSRITEFMEM
borrowings and other loans ERGHEEAEN
(excluding lease liabilities) - 519,707 1,153,696 43,307 716,710
8656347 554016 1266623 198,568 10,665,554
(e) Capital management (e) BEXEERE

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debts. No change was made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

AEEEAEENEERARRR
EARENRFERLENMES
RENERLLE  UHEBR
REREREANEE °

AEBRRBLLIIREEARAS
B o ARBERBEERRE SN
THRAE E Y E 4 B B IR M
BERGEE -  RERIABELRE
B ARERERERMN TERR

MRASE  ARRBEEA
B 17 57 B o8 41 4 3 2 LU 4> 1
%o BE-F-_MER-B-=
FH-A=+—BILFE &
BRER BRI
8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

= A M 4+
T~ ﬁﬂﬁ%#&%ﬁ'ﬁ’ (/\\/\>
N f\
5 For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEE
38. FINANCIALRISK MANAGEMENTOBJECTIVES 38. MERMETHE B EMBE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#%)
(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) BEEXEER(HE)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which AEBUEERBGBLREEAR
is net debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net debt AN R ERAEBS FERAE AR
includes trade and bills payables, other payables and accruals 7JD1§5‘“5¥%’E§JFM B FREEE
and interest-bearing bank borrowings and other loans, less B O RENRIBMENER « B
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash. Capital includes FEH RIEFNFERT B A LA RET B4R
the equity attributable to owners of the parent and non- TERMEMEFRRESME €
controlling interests stated in the consolidated statement Trfjﬁi%fﬂxﬁﬁ%'ﬁiéé EENOE
of financial position. B BARRERT G ARER
ARSI R R o
The Group's strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a REENEBAKHEEAELL
healthy capital level in order to support its businesses. The KIERRERKE - AZIHHZE
principal strategies adopted by the Group include, but are % o NEBERDMAEZEHREE
not limited to, reviewing future cash flow requirements and BARRABRTRRBSREFK
the ability to meet debt repayment schedules when they fDEMEﬂW FIHAR IR R R B A
fall due, maintaining a reasonable level of available banking CHERTIEARITRELES
facilities and adjusting investment plans and financing IEK%M&M%&ﬁ{IEHMﬂé
plans, if necessary. The gearing ratios as at the end of the FE(MERE) c RIREHRD
reporting periods were as follows: BEEBBLERNOT :
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFTT ARMFT
Trade and bills payables (Note 25) B 2N ZIBMENRE
(Bt&E25) 3,261,072 4,325,996
Other payables and accruals (Note 26) E{th et ZRIB A fES & B
(Bt&E26) 592,186 778,257
Interest-bearing bank borrowings and 5t 2R 1T &AM E M E
other loans (Note 28) (Bf5E28) 3,922,325 5,590,687
Less: cash and cash equivalents B ReMReEED
(Note 24) (BfzE24) (994,747) (1,759,357)
Less: restricted cash (Note 24) R R EIR S (MiEE24) (10,990) (51,247)
Net debt B F5E 6,769,846 8,884,336
Total equity B 7,509,594 7,281,624
Capital and net debt BARFMERS HH 14,279,440 16,165,960
Gearing ratio BEAMBHE 47% 55%
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B EmRAME(E) 7
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItEE

39.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. FARM#BRKAE

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company is as follows:

ARBFHERRARERAT

2024 2023
—EWEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment b E I 4,722,921 5,083,008
Intangible assets BmAE 146,428 148,094
Right-of-use assets EREEE 213,929 251,971
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBRAGTENEREE 256,760 401,760
Investments in subsidiaries R B A RRKRE 680,030 666,910
Deferred tax assets FEREFTEE 69,285 65,535
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 327,495 324,236
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 6,416,848 6,941,514
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 62,397 90,952
Contract assets AREE 73,684 71,320
Trade and bills receivables H 5 UGB A FE N 1E 5,258,856 6,186,354
Prepayments, other receivables and TEfTFRIE - Efth FEURGRIE &
other assets HEh&EE 1,960,508 1,620,892
Restricted cash SIRHIE S 7,580 5,393
Cash and cash equivalents REMBeEFEY 460,106 1,288,003
Total current assets REEEHAR 7,823,131 9,262,914
CURRENT LIABILITIES HREEE
Trade and bills payables B G RENFRIBMENZE 2,398,835 2,749,673
Other payables and accruals H b fE R EET B 463,422 583,024
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERTTER 2,340,015 3,438,023
Total current liabilities KBS EARE 5,202,272 6,770,720
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,620,859 2,492,194
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEABRRBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,037,707 9,433,708
2024 R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HET-NF+-_A=1+—HILFE
39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. *AFMEIKRE (1)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
2024 2023
—EME —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®TT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERTER 1,141,672 1,754,940
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIA A E 32,089 37,796
Other non-current liabilities Hin3EmE aE 14,289 14,934
Total non-current liabilities kREBAEARE 1,188,050 1,807,670
Net assets EEFE 7,849,657 7,626,038
EQUITY e
Share capital f& 7 2,967,542 2,967,542
Reserves (Note) e (P E) 4,882,115 4,658,496
Total equity s 7,849,657 7,626,038
Note: A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: MizE - AQRIREBZENT :
Statutory
Capital surplus Fair value Other Retained
reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
EXfiE  iERBEE AAEERE HifiE  AIEAE ait
RMB’000 HME ’000 RMB ’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEETT T NEEFT E&Fr
As at 1 January 2023 R=E-=%-5-A 1,299,413 448895 - - 2,531,154 4,279,462
Total comprehensive income GElGEE - - 494,491 494,491
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve B RRRENAMEE
and other reserve - 49211 - 32,920 (49.211) 32,920
Dividends declared to owners of the parent AR REBASERE - - - - (148,377) (148,377)
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-ZF+-A=1-H 1,299,413 498,106 - 32,920 2,828,067 4,658,496
As at 1 January 2024 R-E-MmE-A-A 1,209,413 498,106 - 32,920 2,828,057 4,658,496
Total comprehensive income Talnes (1,20) - - - 531,919 530,718
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve AR EERARENARE
and other reserve - 53,192 - 7,401 (53,192) 7,401
Dividends declared to owners of the parent AR AFERASKRE - - = = (314,500) (314,500)
As at 31 December 2024 RZE-RE+-A=1-H 1,298,212 551,298 - 40,321 2,992,284 4,882,115
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40.

41.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 15 January 2025, the Board has completed the issuance of
the first tranche super short-term commercial paper for the year
of 2025 (the “SCP") to qualified institutional investors in the PRC,
with Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd.* (GLRIBITRHAMRADE]) as the
principal underwriter and bookrunner, and Bank of Ningbo Co.,
Ltd.* (B R1TRY D B BR 2 A)) as the joint underwriter, and received
the proceeds from such issuance. The issuance size of the SCP is
RMB500 million, with a term of 94 days and face value of RMB100.
The interest rate for the issue of SCP is 1.79%.

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements, there
were no other significant events affecting the Group occurred
since 31 December 2024 and up to these consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issue.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.

40.

41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BB EERE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_ME+_A=+—HIEFE

REMEER

R=ZFE-_AF—A+HA  EEEEK
MABENEEREBREEERT S
hFEFE—HBOERES((BEa
B IAEHAREEBEARILLR
IRITRMDARAR - BEAEEAER
RITRMDARAR - WEUWER|AEFEETT
2EEES c BEHRESFNETHEE
BARKB00EET @ IR AKX @
BEAARKI00TT @ BITAHBEHRE
FHFIEAE1.79% o

BRAGHPBREAEEEIN  B=F
“HEFT A=t —HREBEENAHH
BHRREETIZERY  MEZLEMY
ERKEMERNTR °

#iES M ER
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“2024 AGM”

[2024F EREBFAL |

“Articles of Association”
[ARIEE]

“Board”
(Exg]

“China Datang”

[PEIAE]

“China Datang Group”
[FEAEEHE ]

"Company”

RN

"Controlling Shareholder”
[ 42 AP 3R

“CSRC”

[HFEEES

"Datang Capital”

[REEXR]

“Datang Finance”

[ KRBT
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DEFINITION AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS
P 5% L4 ARl AR AR

the annual general meeting of the Company for the year of 2024, to be held
at 3:30 p.m. on Friday, 27 June 2025 at No. 120 Zizhuyuan Road, Haidian
District, Beijing, the PRC

RATKMN202556 A27B (2R ) T F =R =+H AR BIIL =8 R E LB
12055 B FK2024F ERFBEFAE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended on 28 June 2024
KABER2024F6 A28 AIER] R AR E R

the board of Directors of the Company
RABESEE

China Datang Corporation Ltd. (FEIXE£E AR A7), a state-owned
enterprise established on 9 April 2003 in accordance with the PRC laws and
the Controlling Shareholder and a promoter of the Company
HEAEEERRAT - A—[E1H2003F4 9B RBEHREDEEKINBEARE -
W RN R B IR AR R S B A A

China Datang and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group)

EIRE R EME R R (AEERIN)

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.* (KEREEXEBRD AR A
&J) which was converted to a joint stock limited company on 26 June 2015,
unless otherwise stated, including its predecessor China Datang Corporation
Environment Technology Co., Ltd. (PEAEEERBERMARAF) (a limited
liability company established on 25 July 2011 pursuant to the PRC laws and
was renamed to Datang Technology Industry Co., Ltd. (KERHREZEGR A F)
in September 2013 and further to Datang Technology Industry Group Co., Ltd.
(RERHREXSEHERAF) in December 2013)
ARERBEXEBRMABRART © K2015F6 A26 B I ARHER AR »
RIEXEZEATIE @ TRIBEERSFREREEBRERMARA R (R201147
A25ARIBHBEIEEN I EREEAR - R2013F9A R B AAERRESEBR
RFE]  WR2013F 12 R E—TERARERBREXEBERATF)

has the meaning ascribed under the Listing Rules, and in this annual report,
refers to the controlling shareholder of the Company, China Datang

A ETRAME FHRE  RAFRIEARANZERBRDEAE

China Securities Regulatory Commission (F BlFESFEEEEZ 8), a regulator
responsible for supervising and regulating the Chinese securities market
HEFESEEERELZEY  AREERRETEESMSNEERE

China Datang Group Capital Holding Co., Ltd. (TEIAEEEEAEREE A
7)), a company established on 30 November 2011 in accordance with the PRC
laws, and a subsidiary of China Datang, the Controlling Shareholder
REAEEEERNERARAR - R2011611 A30RRERBUEAERIH AR
AR PR AR IR A B R B FT A

China Datang Finance Co., Ltd. (FBIREL BB KGR AR, a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, and a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Datang

FEAEEENBARAR  RHBEFMEZHERAE - FREKRKENIEZEM
B RA]



"Datang Huayin"

[REER]

"Datang Renewable”

[ REFTEEIR]

“Director(s)”

[E%£]
“Domestic Share(s)”

[RER]

“EMC”

“EPC”

[EPC I3[ Ti2484&H |

"oou "

“Group”, “our Group”, “we
or "us”

RSB A G

“H Share(s)”

[HA%

"Joint Company Secretary”
or “Joint Company
Secretaries”

[ A ElE ]

DEFINITION AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS (CONTINUED)

BxERmaE(E)

Datang Huayin Electric Power Co., Ltd. (KEZEIREHRMH AR AT, a joint
stock limited company established on 22 March 1993 in accordance with the
PRC laws and a subsidiary of China Datang, which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600744)

REZERENRMDBR LA - R1993F3A22 AREBEF BEEK LR D ERA
A BREKRKEMEBAR - WR EEEHR ST LT (RMHRSR - 600744)

China Datang Corporation Renewable Power Co., Ltd.* (Bl AE £ B4R
AR AF]), a joint stock limited company established on 23 September 2004
in accordance with the PRC laws and a subsidiary of China Datang, which is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1798)
FERAKEEEFERERMODERAT - B2004F9 A 23 B IRIEF BIAE L KD
RATR  BRRBEKXEWBAR - WHREERFTER LM (RGOS : 1798)

the director(s) of the Company
KARESR

ordinary shares in the Company's share capital, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in RMB
ARATRAHERABARE1.00TH AR - MARBRERIZN

a business model that the energy conservation companies provide energy-
conservation services to customers according to the energy conservation
service contracts entered into with customers, and recover the investment
and gain profit from the energy efficiency achieved upon the completion of
energy conservation facilities refurbishment

EiRE RGN RIRIR IR PR LR RIS & R - REPIRHETREIRTS - WHLETAE
R HEUE RS T RE M P U B B FEUS AE M — @R R EEER

contracting arrangement whereby the contractor is commissioned by the
customer to carry out works, such as design, procurement, construction

and trial operations, either through the contractor's own employees or by
subcontracting part or all of the works, and be responsible for the quality,
safety, timely delivery and cost of the project

Fat c KEREE RERHCERER @ AEABAXES 2 ETH#ETRET - &K
B mIEkAIEIF(ERSRAREEAT 2 EESX S BHHHMEIE)
WHIEE 2EE %%  THERKABER

the Company and all or any of our subsidiaries (as the context so requires)
RAE R HFFA s E P ER—EE QR (R EmE)

overseas listed foreign shares in our ordinary share capital with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars and
listed and traded on the Stock Exchange
RAREBRRAHGIREEARE.007TH)EN ETINER - WAETRERE
BRI EMRER

joint company secretary/secretaries of the Company

RABOBERRME
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DEFINITION AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS (CONTINUED)

BeuzamE(E)

"Latest Practicable Date”

[&& AT R A

“Listing”
[ £

“Listing Rules”
[ EmAR 8]

“Model Code”

[2sra))

"PBOC" or "“People’s Bank of

China”
[FEARRIT]

“PRC"

[FFE

“Prospectus”

[ TR ETE

“Reporting Period”
[$ReH |

"RMB”
[AR®]

“SASAC”

[EEZ]

“Senior Management”

[BREERE]

(%)
2
€

_,
Fo

b

=

“SFO"

[ &7 M B & 145 |

“Shareholder(s)"”
A& =]
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22 April 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report for ascertaining certain information contained in this annual
report

2025F4 A228 - BVAARFEFRMNENFIET ERATEHE TEENKER{TTHE

listing of our H Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
H AT HARPABSE A P AR =7

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B X FTRE 5 E MR Al

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
EARAIMEECIFTE M EMBITAZESETESF R SRR

the People’s Bank of China
R A RRTT

the People’s Republic of China, unless it has specifically specified, it excludes
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Macau Special Administrative
Region and Taiwan

hEE ARKFE @ BRIFFRIRA - AXPTREESFITEHE  RPFIFRITT
I‘:T_”;H] =] /#Z

the prospectus of the Company dated 3 November 2016 with respect to the
listing of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
RAFIHEIR20165F11 A3EMBRER - AB A @A A RN AT ER T

the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31BILFE

Renminbi, the current lawful currency of the PRC

ARE - RBUREEYR

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council of the PRC (FEIEISITHBEEEEEIEZ B ), responsible for the
management of state assets

TREEBEEAEEREEREES BEEEHNGEE

senior management of the Company
RRABI=RERE

the Securities and Futures Commission

EFRHESEHERZEE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEREOIEST EE S KB EG - B AREF] - fFRs AR M Bk

holder(s) of the Share(s)
AEESZ=DN



DEFINITION AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS (CONTINUED)
=)

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) with nominal value of RMB1.00 each in the share capital of
the Company, composed of the Domestic Shares and H Shares

[ Bz fn i1 AARBRAFSFHREEARE.00THEBR - AAERKEHIRFTARK

"Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ B 22 AT B ABBERZFARATH

"Supervisor(s)" or supervisor(s) or supervisory committee of the Company
"Supervisory Committee”

[EEE k[ EEE ] B ARATREEREEE

“treasury share(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

[ B B ACmARAETFERRE

“"%" per cent

[% | i1 Bkl

If there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names of entities or A BIA I A B8 ol b 2 A SO F3 fia 35 BE 2 S
enterprises established in the PRC and their English translations, the EZNE @ AR ETEAZE o
Chinese names shall prevail.
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(CORPORATE INFORMATION

ANCI-¥e

LEGAL NAME OF THE COMPANY
AERAEXEEARNERARA
ENGLISH NAME OF THE COMPANY

Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd.*

DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Mr. Zhu Liming (Chairman of the Board)
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jungi (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Shen Zhen (resignation effective from 2 August 2024)
Mr. Wu Daging (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Chen Kan (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Xu Chun (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Pang Xiaojin (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Xia Huaixiang (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Chu Hongbo (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Song Yunpeng (resigned on 13 January 2025)

Ms. Wang Mi (appointed on 13 January 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ye Xiang (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Gao Jiaxiang (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Mao Zhuanjian

Mr. Suen Chun Hung, Benjamin (appointed on 2 August 2024)
Ms. Hu Yunging (appointed on 2 August 2024)

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Huang Yuan (Chairperson) (resignation effective from 2 August 2024)
Mr. Liu Liming (Chairperson) (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Zhang Xuefeng

Ms. Luo Li

LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE COMPANY

Mr. Zhu Liming
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zhu Liming
Mr. Li Lijian

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Lijian (appointed on 4 October 2024)
Mr. Leung Chi Kit (ACG; HKACG)
Mr. Liang Xiuguang (resigned on 4 October 2024)

COMMITTEES UNDER THE BOARD
Audit Committee

Mr. Gao Jiaxiang (Chairperson) (retired on 2 August 2024)

Ms. Hu Yunging (Chairperson) (appointed on 2 August 2024)
Mr. Ye Xiang (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Chen Kan (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Chu Hongbo (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Suen Chun Hung, Benjamin (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Zhu Liming (Chairperson)

Mr. Mao Zhuanjian

Mr. Gao Jiaxiang (retired on 2 August 2024)
Ms. Hu Yunging (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee

Mr. Ye Xiang (Chairperson) (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Suen Chun Hung, Benjamin (Chairperson) (appointed on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Wu Daging (retired on 2 August 2024)
Mr. Chu Hongbo (appointed on 2 August 2024)
Mr. Mao Zhuanjian

Strategy and Investment Committee

Mr. Zhu Liming (Chairperson)

Mr. Wang Jungi (retired on 2 August 2024)

Mr. Shen Zhen (resignation effective from 2 August 2024)

Mr. Xia Huaixiang (appointed on 2 August 2024)
Mr. Mao Zhuanjian

REGISTERED OFFICE

No. 120 Zizhuyuan Road, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
~REM ()

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

No. 120 Zizhuyuan Road, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

31/F, Tower Two, Times Square,
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

AUDITORS

Moore CPA Limited

1001-1010, North Tower, World Finance Centre,
Harbour City, 19 Canton Road,

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Da Hua CPAs (Special General Partnership)
Floor 12, Building 7,

Yard 16, West Fourth Ring Road,

Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC

LEGAL ADVISORS
As to Hong Kong law

DeHeng Law Offices (Hong Kong) LLP
28/F, Henley Building

5 Queen's Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

Room 3507, 35/F

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen's Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

As to the PRC law

Beijing DeHeng Law Offices
12/F, Tower B, Focus Place

19 Finance Street

Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

PRC PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Development Bank Corporation

China Development Bank 11088,

Fortune Resource International Center,

No. 16 Taipinggiao Street, Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC

China Construction Bank Corporation
Beijing Xuanwu Sub-branch

No. 314 Guang'anmennei Street,
Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Beijing Haidian Sub-branch

No. 100 Zhongguancun East Road,

Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC

Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Beijing Xuanwu Sub-branch

No. 1A Xuanwumenwai Avenue,
Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC

Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd.
Shangdi Sub-branch

No. 1 Shangdi Xinxi Road,
Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC

Bank of Ningbo Co., Ltd.

Beijing Zhongguancun Sub-Branch

1st Floor, Dream Laboratory, 1 Haidian Avenue,
Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC

Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Beijing Luoma City Sub-branch
F1, Block A, Fenghua Haojing,

No. 6-4 Guang'anmennei Street, Xicheng District, Beijing, the PRC

China Minsheng Bank
Wanliu Sub-branch

Block 2, Courtyard 6 Wanliuzhong Road, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC

Post Savings Bank of China
Dashanzi Sub-branch
No. 13 Jiuxiangiao Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC

China Merchants Bank
Beijing East Third Ring Sub-branch

No. 1 East Third Ring North Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC

Bank of Jiangsu
Beijing Branch

Block 1, Guangxi Homeland, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC
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NE|ER(E)

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

STOCK ABBREVIATION AND STOCK CODE

DATANG ENVIRO (1272)

INVESTOR INQUIRIES

Investor Hotline: +86 10 5838 9858
Fax: +86 10 5838 9860

Website: www.dteg.com.cn

E-mail: ir@dteg.com.cn

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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WEEHL + +86 10 5838 9858
{5E : +86 10 5838 9860
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